
 
 
 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Tuesday, 15 March 2022 

Time: 6.30pm, 
Location: Council Chamber 

Contact: Ramin Shams - 01438 242308 
committees@stevenage.gov.uk 

 
 
Members:       Councillors:  S Speller (Chair), M McKay (Vice-Chair), D Bainbridge, M Arceno, 

A Brown, T Callaghan, M Creasey, M Downing, J Hanafin, 
G Lawrence CC, Mrs J Lloyd, A Mitchell CC, G Snell and T Wren 

 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
AGENDA 

 

PART 1 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

2.   MINUTES - 16 DECEMBER 2021 (CONCLUDED ON 21 DECEMBER 2021) 
AND 10 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting held on Thursday 16 
December 2021 and Thursday 10 February 2022.  

 
Pages 3 – 44 
 

3.   20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP - 107A-109A HIGH STREET, STEVENAGE 
 
Retrospective planning permission to retain Flats 6 and 7 as two bedroom units. 

 
Pages 45 – 54 
 

4.   21/01002/FPM - UNIT 11 THE FORUM CENTRE 
 
Demolition of existing outlet store (Use Class E) and construction of a part 9 storey, and 
part 13 storey building comprising 224 no. build to rent dwellings consisting of 162 no. 1 
bedroom, 50 no. 2 bedroom and 12 no. 3 bedroom units;  161 sq.m of Use Class E and 
Use Class F floorspace; ground floor parking area, cycle storage facilities, associated 
plant and equipment, landscaping and ancillary works, comprising both residential and 
commercial / ancillary residential floorspace along with associated landscaping and 
public realm enhancements refuse storage, and cycle and car parking. 

 
Pages 55 – 98 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

5.   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

 
Pages 99 – 118 
 

6.   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

 
Pages 119 – 124 
 

7.   URGENT PART I BUSINESS 
 
To consider any Part I Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 

 
8.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider the following motions that: 
 

1. Under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it 
involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as described in paragraphs 1-7 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act as amended by Local Government (Access to 
information) (Variation) Order 2006. 
 

2.That Members consider the reasons for the following reports (if any)being in Part II and 
determine whether or not maintaining the exemption from disclosure of the information 
contained therein outweighs the public interest in disclosure. 

 
  
9.   URGENT PART II BUSINESS 

 
To consider any Part II Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 

 
 

 
NOTE: Links to Part 1 Background Documents are shown on the last page of the individual report, 
where this is not the case they may be viewed by using the following link to agendas for Executive 
meetings and then opening the agenda for Tuesday, 15 March 2022 –  
http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/have-your-say/council-meetings/161153/ 

 
 
 
 
Agenda Published 7 March 2022  

 

http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/have-your-say/council-meetings/161153/


1 

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

 
Date: Thursday, 16 December 2021 (completed on Tuesday, 21 December 2021) 

Time: 6.30pm 
Place: Council Chamber 

 
Present: Councillors: Simon Speller (Chair), Maureen McKay (Vice-Chair), Adrian 

Brown, Teresa Callaghan, Matt Creasey, Michael Downing, Graham 
Lawrence CC, Mrs Joan Lloyd, Adam Mitchell CC, Graham Snell and 
Tom Wren (16 December meeting only). 
 

Start / End 
Time: 

Start Time: 6.30pm (on 16 December 2021, finishing at 10.12pm) 
End Time: 8.50pm (on 21 December 2021, having re-started at 

6.30pm) 
 
 
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Myla Arceno, Doug 

Bainbridge and Jody Hanafin. 
 
Councillor Adam Mitchell declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in respect of 
application 21/00356/FPM as he held shares in Persimmon Homes Limited, one of 
the applicants who proposed to develop the site.  He chose to remain in the meeting, 
declaring that he would keep an open-mind during the presentations and debate on 
the application. 
 
Councillor Tom Wren was present for the meeting on 16 December 2021, but 
submitted his apologies for absence for the re-convened meeting on 21 December 
2021.  Councillor Adrian Brown arrived late at the re-convened meeting on 21 
December 2021. 
 

2   21/00356/FPM - LAND TO THE WEST OF STEVENAGE  
 

 The Committee considered a hybrid application regarding the following: 
 
Full planning permission for the erection of 390 dwellings (including 117 affordable 
dwellings and 4 self-build plots), a cricket pitch and/or football pitches with temporary 
community shop (Use Class E/F2), public open space and amenity space (including 
children's play), associated landscaping and ecological enhancements, internal 
highways, parking, footpaths, cycleways, drainage, utilities, service infrastructure, 
acoustic bunding and fencing, improvements to existing access routes across A1(M) 
via Six Hills Way, Bessemer Drive, Redcar Drive and Meadway (including a new 
underpass at Meadway and associated accommodation/engineering works) and 
highway improvements along Chadwell Road. 
 
Outline planning permission for up to 1,110 dwelling units (including 30% affordable 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 

housing and self-build plots), principal employment area (up to 10,000 sq.m Use 
Class E(g) space), a residential care home (up to 72 beds) and up to 400sq.m Use 
Class E space, a mixed use local centre (Use Class C3 and up to 900 sq.m of Use 
Class E/F2 Space), a neighbourhood square (including mobility hub and up to 150 
sq.m of Use E/F2 Space), a primary school (up to 3FE), a mobility hub with flexible 
community workspace adjacent to the Meadway underpass, a pavilion and mobility 
hub adjacent to the cricket and/or football pitches, public open space and amenity 
space (including children's play), sport facilities (including informal multi-use games 
area), associated landscaping and ecological enhancement works, acoustic bunding 
and fencing, internal highways, parking, footpaths, cycleways, drainage, utilities, 
service infrastructure and future connections into safeguarded land in North 
Hertfordshire, and a new car park and pavilion at Meadway Playing Fields (with 
some matters reserved). This application is accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement. 
 
The Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) introduced the item.  He stated that 
development on the West of Stevenage site had been mooted for decades.  The 
Committee would be focussing on the application for development within the SBC 
boundary. 
 
The Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) advised that there were two major 
factors to take into consideration, firstly the importance of the decision in terms of 
the details of design of a sustainable and connected new neighbourhood for the 
town (paying heed to the New Town Principles of urban design); and secondly the 
Council’s 5 year land supply and its importance in being able to deliver the 
Stevenage Local Plan (the application was for 1,500 units, a fifth of the Local Plan’s 
allocation for housing provision). 
 
Introductory Presentation 
 
The Development Manager gave a slide presentation (including site photographs 
and plans) in respect of the outline application; Local Plan and historical policies; 
sustainable new neighbourhood; linkages to the existing town; consultation 
responses; Meadway/Bessemer Road changes; and links to NHDC plans for 
potential development across the Borough boundary. 
 
The Development Manager outlined the Masterplan for the site, and confirmed that 
the application site was outside the Green Belt.  In terms of the representations 
regarding bridleways, he stated that a policy LT23 of the former Local Plan regarding 
the protection of horse/pony routes had been removed from the latest Local Plan 
during its adoption.  He explained that the reason for the removal of this policy was 
due to the fact that Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) had the responsibility for 
maintenance of the Public Rights of Way Network (including footpaths and 
bridleways) across the county.  The Countryside Rights of Way Officer at HCC had 
been involved in the elements of the application that related to the bridleways that 
ran through the site. 
 
The Development Manager referred to the joint site vision of West Stevenage and 
drew attention to the various parameter plans for the development, including Land 
Use; Access and Movement; Building Heights; Green Infrastructure; and Phasing 

Page 4



3 

Plan.  He then referred to what was included in the outline application for the North, 
Central and South character areas of the site (landscaping, routes, 
green/woodland/community areas, residential typology, Meadway arrival area, 
employment area, and Meadway and Bessemer Drive underpass improvement 
proposals). 
 
The Chair invited Jennifer Gray, an objector to the application representing the 
equestrian community, to address the Committee.  Jennifer made the following 
comments: 
 

 in excess of 220 riders and carriage drivers in the local area used the 
footpath/bridleway network, ranging from children to the over 60’s, not to mention 
walkers, runners and cyclists; 

 horses needed to be exercised in all four gaits (walk, trot, canter and gallop); 

 removal of Bridleway 035 – the application stated “re-provided” to the south, but 
this would take riders through the estate rather than a field, which she considered 
was unacceptable as it pushed riders onto roads, limiting horses to walk/trot 
rather than canter/gallop; 

 UCR1 – the section through the development was listed for a change is surface 
material, again limiting the horses’ gait.  In addition, it was listed that a section of 
this route would be made pedestrians/cyclists only, on a path regularly used by 
horse riders.  She felt that this route should be classified as a restricted byway 
with a British Horse Society approved surface to allow it to be used safely by 
horse riders along its entire length; 

 Bridleway 098 – similar issues to those in respect of UCR1; 

 Meadway (access from the east to the west of the A1(M)) – the existing 
underpass would be made pedestrians/cyclists only, forcing horse and carriage 
riders to use the new roadway, which would be dangerous.  The planned 
cycle/pedestrian path should also be made a restricted byway with a British Horse 
Society approved surface to allow it to be used safely by horse riders and carriage 
drivers and added to the Definitive Map; 

 Covid-19 had increased the use of the application site area not only by horse 
riders, but also runners, walkers and cyclists; 

 Horse riders see a wide range of wildlife in the area, which is more scared by 
walkers and runners than it was by horse riders; and 

 Clarification that Bridleway 024, UCR 1 and Bridleway 038 ran the length of the 
west side of the development. 

 
If the application was granted planning permission, Jennifer considered that the 
following action should be carried out: 
 

 all work on rights of way should be completed before building work commenced, 
with consultation with the British Horse Society to ensure the correct surfaces 
were used and that both sides of the bridleways were correctly fenced with post 
and rail fencing and Equi-fencing attached to it.  This would be to keep horse 
riders and dogs safe from entering the site along clearly defined routes.  No 
barbed wire or metal stake fencing should be used; 

 the surfaces should not be damaged and no debris disposed on them by the 
contractors.  Any damage caused should be immediately repaired by the 

Page 5



4 

developers; 

 the developers should consult the Access Department of Hertfordshire County 
Council and British Horse Society to agree on the correct fencing and surfaces for 
the bridleways, byways and unclassified roads; 

 the correct crossings were put in place where the paths crossed roads to new 
roads (ie. Pegasus specification crossings to allow horse riders, carriage drivers, 
walkers and cyclists to cross safely); 

 Horse warning signs need to be placed at points where construction traffic 
crossed any of the bridleways, byways or unclassified roads; 

 Crossing point surfaces should be maintained to allow continued access and re-
instated as soon as construction had been completed and fencing replaced; 

 Creation by the developers of a formal documented system to ensure that all 
contractors, sub-contractors and delivery vehicles were made aware that horse 
riders used the bridleways, byways and unclassified roads, as well as local roads 
to gain access to them, and were instructed to take great care when entering or 
leaving the site and on local roads; and 

 Creation by the developers of a documented system to ensure that operators of 
heavy machinery and vehicles were instructed to take great care when operating 
them and to turn them off when passed by horse riders and carriage drivers. 

 
The Chair thanked Jennifer for her presentation, and invited Mr James Delafield 
(from Carter Jonas), the applicants’ Planning Agent), to address the Committee. 
 
Mr Delafield advised that the application was highly significant, as it was the largest 
strategic development site in the adopted Stevenage Local Plan.  The officer report 
contained a rigorous and through assessment of the application against Local Plan 
policies, clearly demonstrating how it met the requirements of the site allocation 
policy HO2.  The conclusions reached were all soundly based on technical evidence 
and further agreements reached on appropriate mitigation measures. 
 
Mr Delafield summarised the numerous and substantial planning benefits arising 
from the proposals as follows: 
 

 the development was a fundamental element of the future 5 year housing land 
supply for the town, with the anticipated delivery of Phase 1 by 2026 crucial to 
meeting the 5 year requirement; 

 a wide range of properties would be provided, including self-build plots, 
aspirational homes, and a policy compliant level of 30% affordable homes; 

 a significant number of local jobs would be created during the construction period 
and once operational through the provision of an employment area, and a through 
a mix of uses proposed in the Neighbourhood Centre; 

 a comprehensive package of measures had been incorporated to achieve an 
ambitious shift towards sustainable modes of transport; 

 the development would provide access to a range of facilities to support residents’ 
day-to-day needs; 

 a considerable amount of open space would be provided across the development 
(almost 3 times the policy requirement) and in a variety of forms, so as to provide 
something for all generations; and 

 the development would be a great place to live, with high quality and well-

Page 6



5 

designed buildings, public realm and landscaping. 
 
Mr Delafield considered that the planning benefits taken together were strong 
material considerations for supporting a grant of planning permission. 
 
Mr Delafield recognised that development on the scale proposed would cause some 
concern amongst the existing community.  He hoped that those who had read the 
officer report and those viewing the meeting would be comforted by the work that 
had been undertaken by the applicants’ team, in liaison with Planning Officers, to 
deliver a scheme which mitigated its impacts.  He appreciated from the comments 
that the public Rights of Way network in the area was well used, particularly by 
horse riders.  Although there were no policies in the Adopted Local Plan which 
required the upgrading and expansion of horse and pony routes, the development 
proposals did include a comprehensive and fully funded Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan, as outlined in Paragraph 7.7.23 of the officer report.  This had been prepared 
in liaison with the HCC Rights of Way (RoW) Team.  It was important to note that 
public Rights of Way across the development site, and proposed connections 
between, had been designed as multi-user routes that were aide and inviting to 
walkers, cyclists and equestrian users, in accordance with specifications provided by 
the HCC RoW Team.  The existing network would also be fully protected during the 
construction period by way of a Construction Traffic Management Plan to be secured 
via condition. 
 
Mr Delafield hoped that Members had found his presentation to be a useful 
introduction to the proposals contained in the application. 
 
The Chair thanked Mr Delafield for his presentation. 
 
In response to Members’ questions, Officers advised as follows: 
 

 the public realm/open space areas of the site would be owned and maintained by 
a Private Management Company, secured as part of the Section 106 Agreement; 

 most of the public objections related to an earlier scheme.  The latest scheme 
was much improved and the design of the various buildings had been supported 
by a professional team of urban designers, who were fully conversant with the 
New Town principles of design. 

 
Applicants’ Presentation 
 
Mr Jonathan Pillow (Taylor Wimpey) advised that, as applicants, they were mindful 
of Stevenage’s New Town history.  The application aimed to complement the 
existing built form of the town.  The development would comprise green spaces, with 
a priority on cycling, walking and pedestrianised centres with bus connectivity.  They 
had worked with HCC to provide 3 mobility hubs to offer electric cycle hire and 
charging and a connected bus service, integrating into the path network, thereby 
reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable modes of transport. 
 
Mr Pillow explained that multi-use green ways would be provided around the site for 
pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders, and offering 2km and 5km park runs to 
connect into the surrounding countryside. Three larger open spaces would be 

Page 7



6 

provided which including sporting activities, such as football and cricket, as well as 
fetes, fairs, picnics and other leisure activities.  These would be complemented by a 
further network of green spaces, including trim trails and play equipment in close 
proximity to most households. 
 
Mr Pillow stated that the Neighbourhood Centre would provide retail, primary school, 
communal and care facilities that would come together around a pedestrianised 
square, accessible from the path network, mobility hubs and bus stops, whilst 
connecting into the green central space and the wider countryside.  He added that 
the landscape-led approach embodied the key place-making principles set out in the 
National Design Guide and Design Code.  
 
In terms of climate change, Mr Pillow advised that the applicants’ submitted energy 
statement committed them to exceeding the Building Regulations for the homes, 
which demonstrated carbon reductions of up to 70% by using renewable 
alternatives.  Taylor Wimpey was also committed to a carbon reduction of 43%, and 
would be striving to reach net zero.  They had also published an Environmental 
Strategy which meant none of the homes having gas boilers from 2025 onwards; 
reducing emissions from the homes by 75% by 2030; using only 100% green-
sourced electricity; and ensuring that 90% of construction waste was recycled. The 
Strategy also committed to the provision of electric vehicle charging points in all 
homes and communal areas, as well as enhanced landscape provision and bio-
diversity. 
 
In relation to delivery, Mr Pillow commented that the phasing of the site had been 
designed to ensure that both access points came forward in Phase 1, leading to an 
early bus loop, whilst affordable and self-build homes were evenly distributed 
throughout the site.  Affordable homes would be constructed to the same standards 
as the private dwellings, in order that they were fully integrated into the street scene. 
 
Mr Pillow concluded by stating that the vision for the site had been agreed and 
approved by SBC, including a Framework Masterplan.  The layout had been heavily 
scrutinised by Planning Officers and the Design Team.  The applicants had worked 
alongside these officers, HCC officers and other statutory consultees to arrive at a 
policy-compliant scheme which had been supported by Homes England.  The 
Section 106 Agreement was in draft form, which he hoped would be completed in 
the early part of 2022.  He therefore asked the Committee to support the officers’ 
recommendation to grant planning permission for the scheme. 
 
Mr Simon Breen (Persimmon) advised that Persimmon and Taylor Wimpey were two 
of the three largest housebuilders in the UK.  Persimmon were driven towards the 
provision of good quality and energy efficient homes to appeal to all levels of the 
housing market. 
 
In terms of the current application, Mr Breen stated that the scheme had been based 
on strong design proposals, good quality mature and semi-mature landscaping, 
pedestrian friendly hard and soft landscape areas, as well providing an environment 
both internally and externally that was appealing to buyers and the wider community.  
Persimmon was constantly looking at ways to improve energy efficiency and, in 
terms of the Government’s net zero carbon target coming into force in 2030, was 

Page 8



7 

committed to delivering 70% carbon reduction in the application.  He referred to 3 
pilot projects built by Persimmon which were carbon neutral. 
 
Mr Breen explained that vast majority of the scheme would be delivered post-2025, 
and hence most of the new homes would meet the Government’s Future Homes 
Standards. 
 
Mr Breen commented that Persimmon had an involvement with the West of 
Stevenage site since 1994.  Persimmon and Taylor Wimpey were committed to the 
investment of millions of pounds in Stevenage over a 10 year period to deliver this 
project.  The jobs created by the scheme, together with the financial contributions in 
the Section 106 Agreement, would be highly beneficial to the town and the Council.      
 
Mr Breen advised that the application was the culmination of a lengthy pre-
application process, including a series of landscape design workshops with Planning 
Officers and consultants.  This had achieved a high level of design and landscape 
provision that would set the project apart from other schemes of this size. 
 
Mr Breen commended Council officers for their support and enthusiasm for the 
development.  The development proposals were policy-compliant, would deliver 30% 
affordable housing, a new school, employment space, local centre, care home, retail 
space and mobility hubs.  He hoped that the Committee would support a grant of 
planning permission. 
 
Mr James Harman (Omega Architects) gave a presentation in respect of an 
overview of the design process for the development.  The presentation covered 
compliance of the application with the SBC Design Vision and Principles for the site; 
site topography and Public Rights of Way Plan; site connectivity (green corridors and 
key spaces); Landscape Strategy and route hierarchy; Framework Masterplan; North 
Area – settings and principles; North Area – Artist impressions; Central Area – 
settings and principles; Neighbourhood Centre; South Area – settings and principles; 
South Area – Artist impressions; Phase 1 of the project; South, Central and North 
Areas – Design Workshops and post-submission evolution; Character studies; and 
various character and appearance slides (Avenue, countryside edge, residential 
streets, High Street, green corridor, Community Green). 
 
Mr Matt Stevens (Milestone Transport Planning Ltd.) gave a presentation regarding 
the mobility hubs serving the development, to be provided near the Meadway; at the 
Local Centre; and at the Community Pavilion.  These mobility hubs facilitated 
additional and smarter travel choices, electric vehicles, bikes and buses, whilst 
integrating with other uses, and aligned with Stevenage as a sustainable travel town, 
as well as the HCC Local Transport Plan. 
 
Environmental Impacts / Consultation responses 
 
The Development Manager reported as follows: 
 

 Natural England – no objections; 

 AONB – not relevant; 

 Biodiversity and archaeology – no concerns, Section 106 financial contribution 

Page 9



8 

and relevant conditions to be applied; 

 Flooding – relevant conditions attached, no response as yet from the Local Lead 
Flooding Authority (HCC); 

 Site infrastructure – NHS/GP provision may be needed, requiring a Section 106 
financial contribution; 

 Sport England – no objections; 

 Affordable Housing – policy compliant; 

 Education – a primary school to be delivered as part of the scheme.  HCC had 
confirmed that there was no requirement for a secondary school; 

 Highways – the conditions to be imposed were flexible, allowing a 
comprehensive Public Rights of Way package to be delivered to ensure 
continued access for multi-users.  The Construction Management Plan included 
a suite of measures aimed at protecting Public Rights of Way. 

 
Detailed Plans – Phase 1 
The Development Manager gave a slide presentation regarding the detailed Plans 
for Phase 1 of the development.  He presented slides in respect of site layout; 
Housing mix and tenure; massing; road hierarchy; various street typologies; Phase 1 
Character Areas; Building typology; parking strategies; materials; detailing; street 
furniture; boundary treatment; planting; surface materials; key buildings; materials 
strategy/plan; Bessemer Drive – arrival area; Avenue – appearance; High Street – 
appearance; Community Green – appearance; Cricket Pitch options (including ball 
striking radii); Green Corridor – appearance; Linear edge – appearance; Countryside 
edge – appearance; Residential Streets – appearance; Southern, Central and 
Northern parcels – street elevations; Self build plots/aspirational homes; Refuse 
Plans, Parking Plans, Tenure Plans and Boundary Plans – South, Central and North; 
House types – plans and elevations; Temporary shop; and Proposed landscape 
bund. 
 
Indicative Landscape Plans – Phase 1 
 
The Development Manager gave a slide presentation regarding indicative 
Landscape Plans for Phase 1 of the development.  He presented slides in respect of 
the Landscape Layouts (South, Central and North areas; High Street area; Avenue 
Area; Community Green area; Parking Court area; Rural Edge areas; Residential 
area; Retention pond area; Southern edge area; Sustainable Transport Corridor 
area; Meadway Link Road areas 1 and 2; and Meadway/Redcar Drive area).  He 
then presented a number of slides showing the hard landscape typology; play and 
exercise equipment typology; images of the Avenue, Countryside edge and swales; 
planting examples for the Rain gardens; images of the footpath and cycle corridors, 
the Community Green, and housing hard landscaping. 
 
Highways and Connections 
 
The Development Manager gave a slide presentation regarding Highways and 
Connections.  He presented slides in respect of the Bessemer Drive access/Quiet 
Way; Proposed Footway/cycleway – Bessemer Drive; Signalised junction – 
Bessemer Drive/Gunnels Wood Road; and Meadway/Redcar Drive highway works.   
 
In response to a Member’s question regarding the level of public representations 

Page 10



9 

concerning the impact of increased traffic (including construction traffic) on the 
A1(M) and at Junction 8 in particular, the Development Manager commented that 
the Traffic Modelling Assessment provided by the developers had shown that there 
would be a small amount of extra queuing at Junction 8.  Highways England had 
raised no concerns, subject to mitigation measures relating to highway 
improvements to the Junction 8 roundabout, which would be expedited in 
conjunction with HCC Highways.  As part of the suite of works proposed by the 
developer, a scheme of Active Travel Works would be carried out, including the 
provision of pedestrian and cycle routes to connect with the existing network; the 
bus loop within the site; and improvements to the Clovelly Road junction.  The site 
had been designed to be as self-contained as possible, aimed at reducing the 
number of car journeys.  A comprehensive Rights of Way Improvement Plan for the 
site had also been produced. 
 
In view of the lateness of the hour and the unlikelihood that business would be 
completed, at 10.12pm, the Chair adjourned the meeting, and Members agreed that 
the Committee would re-convene at 6.30pm on Tuesday, 21 December 2021, in 
order to complete its determination of application 21/00356/FPM. 
 
RE-CONVENED MEETING – 21 DECEMBER 2021 
 
The Chair opened the re-convened meeting by inviting the Development Manager to 
give a brief resumé of the application. 
 
The Development Manager referred to Addendum 2 which had been circulated to 
Members, which included a number of late representations and answers to a 
number of pre-submitted questions received from a Committee Member. 
 
The Development Manager then gave a presentation providing an overview of the 
initial Committee meeting held on 16 December 2021. 
 
The Chair invited the Member who had supplied the pre-submitted questions to 
respond to the answers given by the Development Manager.  The comments made 
by the Member, together with officer replies, were as follows: 
 

 Bus service concerns – the HCC Highways representative commented that the 
Passenger Transport Unit (PTU) would be tendering for a bus service with one 
bus servicing the initial Phase 1 of 390 homes, with a frequency of 20 minutes, 
and in subsequent phases two buses circulating through the site at any one time.  
The spine road within the development would be of sufficient width to 
accommodate any size of bus and Section 106 monies would be used fo fund the 
service for a number of years.  The PTU had advised that they saw no reason 
why bus companies would not wish to tender for the contract, in view of the initial 
Section 106 support funding, but also in the hope that in the fullness of time it 
would become a self-supporting and profitable venture; 

 Primary School (would a 3 form entry size be sufficient?) – the HCC Education 
representative stated that a very sophisticated modelling tool would be used to 
assess the level of need for primary school places, taking into account the type, 
size and tenure of dwellings.  The modelling for the application site showed that 
the peak limit for the school would be a 3 form entry.  In the interim period before 

Page 11



10 

the school became operational, there was sufficient surplus capacity in nearby 
primary schools; and 

 Local Health Services (how could it be ensured that a new GP surgery was built) 
– the Development Manager advised that this would be difficult to enforce as it 
was within the control of the NHS.  The Clinical Commissioning Group had 
indicated that they may take up the offer of a GP Surgery, and that it was certainly 
the preference of the developers that one was provided on the site.  The area set 
aside for the surgery could be enlarged if required, and the developer was willing 
to work with the NHS to deliver the project.  However, in a worst case scenario 
where the NHS did not wish for a surgery to be provided then a financial 
contribution would be triggered in the Section 106 Agreement towards the 
expansion of existing nearby GP surgeries. 

 
The Chair invited questions from other Members, and officers responded as follows: 
 

 Section 106 Agreement (reduction in level of financial contribution for NHS 
services) – the original figure was indicative as part of pre-application discussions.  
The latest figure was based on the housing mix set out in the submitted 
application.  Any changes to the housing mix when Phase 2 came forward would 
be dealt with as part of the subsequent Reserved Matters application; 

 Proposed Care Home (how did this fit into the Neighbourhood cluster in the 
development) – Policy HO2 in the Local Plan required that there should be 
provision for sheltered housing, but the make-up of such a facility would be 
determined by a commercial provider via the submission of a Reserved Matters 
application; 

 Cricket Pitch (who would be responsible for its maintenance) – Policy HO2 of the 
Local Plan stated that sports facilities would be required on the site.  The 
developers had carried out an evidence-based assessment which had 
demonstrated the need for an artificial cricket wicket, with future proofing for the 
addition of up to 8 further wickets.  The land had been offered for the Council to 
maintain and manage, which would be achieved through a financial contribution to 
be agreed through the Section 106 Agreement.  The area had been designed as 
a multi-functional space (including football pitches) and had been demonstrated 
as such to Sport England; 

 Amenities (limited night time economy facilities in the application) – there was no 
Local Plan Policy requirement for such provision, although there was potential for 
an element of night time economy to be included in the proposed Neighbourhood 
Centre, which would form part of Phase 2 of the development; 

 Policy regarding 30% tree canopy coverage on the site – the Local Plan review 
(due in 2023) would look at strengthening the policy regarding tree canopy 
coverage; 

 Integration in terms of design of the heritage-type dwellings with the “high rise” flat 
blocks -  the consultee comments on “high rise” was based on the former 
Masterplan for the site, which showed much taller flat blocks.  The submitted 
application included a series of suburban-style 3 and 4 storey flat blocks as part of 
Phase 1, with the majority of heritage-type dwellings forming part of subsequent 
phases.  Officers would work with the developers on this issue during future 
phases; 

 Flooding/drainage concerns (Dyes Lane and adjacent to site boundary) – 
drainage ponds and drainage channels would be provided in the vicinity of Dyes 

Page 12



11 

Lane and across the overall site; 

 Adjacent Gypsy/Traveller site – landscaping buffers would be constructed on the 
border between the employment element of the application site and the 
Gypsy/Traveller site.  There would be a further landscape buffer and open space 
area between the Primary School and Gypsy/Traveller site.  Much of this detail 
would form part of the future Reserved Matters application.  The users of the 
Gypsy/Traveller site had been consulted on the plans by the Police Community 
and HCC Liaison Officers, and no concerns had been fed back to Planning 
Officers.  As part of the Construction Management Plan, there would be continued 
highway access to the Gypsy/Traveller site; 

 Fire Hydrants condition – this was set out in proposed Condition 61 in the report; 
and 

 Catchment area for potential occupiers of residential units – it was expected that 
the majority (80-85%) of occupiers would come from within a 10 mile radius of the 
site, especially the occupiers of the affordable housing which was driven by local 
need based on SBC’s Housing Register. 

 
Phase 1 – Full Permission element of application 
 
The Development Manager gave a fuller slide presentation of the detailed plans for 
Phase 1 of the development, as previously presented to the Committee on 16 
December 2021. 
 
In reply to a number of Members’ questions, the Development Manager commented 
as follows: 
 

 Disabled units – there were no bungalows to be constructed as part of the 
application, but some dwellings would be designed for disabled use, including a 
number of units which would be 50% adaptable for use by disabled persons; 

 Access roads – both of these (through Meadway and Bessemer Drive) would be 
constructed as part of Phase 1 of the scheme; 

 Parking standards – the development provided for approximately one parking 
space per bedroom, through a mixture of communal parking areas, garages and 
driveways.  There was also on-street visitor parking in the communal 
green/cricket pitch area and some unallocated spaces would be provided across 
the site; 

 Speed bumps – most of the crossing points in the development were at level, 
including the major junctions; 

 Play/open spaces – there were mechanisms in the Section 106 Agreement to 
secure the provision and management of these areas as play/open spaces; and 

 Bus turning circle – once the whole scheme was completed, buses would run in a 
loop through the site from the Meadway access to the Bessemer Drive access.  In 
Phase 1, the buses would enter the site through Bessemer Drive, and there would 
be a temporary turning area to allow buses to egress the site via Bessemer Drive. 

 
A number of Members were of the opinion that the application presented a well 
thought out, good quality scheme, which would also provide improved access to the 
countryside on the western side of the A1(M).  Whilst Members appreciated the loss 
of countryside, they also acknowledged that the site was no longer afforded Green 
Belt protection. 

Page 13



12 

 
In summing up the application, the Development Manager confirmed that the 
recommendation in the report should be amended to clarify that the application 
sought full permission for Phase 1 and outline permission for the remainder of the 
development. 
 
Upon the recommendations being put to the vote, it was 
 
It was RESOLVED that, subject to the applicant having first entered into a Section 
106 agreement as set out in Paragraph 9.1 of the report, and to the delegated 
powers being given to the Assistant Director (Regulation) in consultation with the 
Chair of the Planning & Development Committee set out in Paragraph 9.2 of the 
report (and regarding the Lead Local Flood Authority in the second addendum 
report), application 21/00356/FPM be granted outline and full planning permission, 
as per the draft conditions listed in the report, together with the additional draft 
conditions listed in the first addendum report, and inclusive of the following additional 
Section 106 items and further additional draft conditions: 
 
Additional Section 106 items (with delegated powers being given to the Assistant 
Director (Regulation) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning & Development 
Committee to secure these measures) 
 

 Mitigation measures to manage fly tipping in Dyes Lane, as requested by the 
Council’s Community Safety Manager; and 

 

 A financial contribution of approximately £396,536 for extra capacity for the 
health and emergency service, as requested by the East of England Ambulance 
Service. 

 
Further additional draft conditions 
 
92. At least 50% of the residential units shall be Category 2: Accessible and 

Adaptable dwellings in accordance with Policy HO11 of the Stevenage 
Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 2019). 

 
93. Prior to the commencement of development (excluding operations consisting of 

site clearance, demolition, earthworks, archaeological investigations, 
investigations for assessing ground conditions, remedial work in respect of any 
contamination or other adverse ground conditions, diversion and laying of 
services, erection of any temporary means of enclosure, and the temporary 
display of site notices or advertisements) details of mitigation measures to 
reduce the potential recreational pressures on the Knebworth Woods SSSI 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Natural England. The approved mitigation measures shall be 
put in place prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted. 

 
3   URGENT PART I BUSINESS  

 
 None. 

 

Page 14



13 

 
4   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 
 Not required. 

 
5   URGENT PART II BUSINESS  

 
 None. 

 
 
 
CHAIR 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



1 

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

 
Date: Thursday, 10 February 2022 

Time: 6.30pm 
Place: Council Chamber 

 
Present: Councillors: Simon Speller (Chair), Maureen McKay (Vice Chair), Myla 

Arceno, Adrian Brown, Teresa Callaghan, Matt Creasey, Michael 
Downing, Jody Hanafin, Mrs Joan Lloyd, Adam Mitchell CC, Graham 
Snell and Tom Wren 
 

Start / End 
Time: 

Start Time: 06:30 pm  
End Time: 08.19 pm 

 
 
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Doug Bainbridge and Graham 

Lawrence.  
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

2   MINUTES  
 

 It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Development Committee 
meeting held on Thursday 9 December 2021 and Tuesday 11 January 2022 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 

3   21/00847/FP - CAR PARK, BRAGBURY END SPORTS GROUND, ASTON LANE, 
STEVENAGE  
 

 Application No: 21/00847/FP 

Location Car Park, Bragbury End Sports Ground, Aston Lane, 
Stevenage 

Proposal Erection of five residential dwellings (Class C3), together 
with associated development including access, parking 
and landscaping 

Applicant: Iceni Projects 

Recommendation: Grant planning permission 

 
The Development Manager presented the application seeking permission for 
erection of five residential dwellings Class C3 together with associated development 
including access, parking and landscaping. During the presentation, the 
Development Manager displayed maps, plans and photographs to demonstrate the 
location and character of the site.  
 

Page 17



2 

The development proposal comprised of five bedrooms detached with the modern 
high-quality residential design. Each dwelling would have access to three parking 
spaces. The surrounding area of the applications site was rural in character, located 
on the southern edge of Stevenage. The application site was designated within the 
Stevenage Local Plan (2019) as an allocated housing site for up to 8 dwellings 
under Policy HO1/2 and falling within an Area of Archaeological Significance. The 
planning application was called in by the Local Ward Member for Shephall. 
 
The Development Manager explained that the proposed application was a modern 
high quality residential design, and the application was designed to share a material 
palette of brick, render, titles and weatherboarding. The proposal included 15 car 
parking spaces for residents with each dwelling having access to three parking 
spaces.  
 
He advised that the main issues for consideration in the determination of this 
application were the objections from the Environment Agency and the development 
impact on the neighbouring amenities, character and appearance of the area.  
 
The Council did not receive any representation regarding the application.  
 
The Highway Authority and the Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust did not have any 
objection to the application.  
 
The Key issues in the determination of the application were outlined in the Officer 
report.  
 
The Development Manager explained that the Environment Agency initially objected 
to the application as it involved works within 8 metres of the Stevenage Brook main 
river. Additional information was provided to overcome the Environment Agency 
objection and updated comments were received confirming that amended plans 
were acceptable from a flood risk perspective, and the Environment Agency had no 
objection to the proposed development.  
 
Officer recommendation was therefore that the Committee grant permission to the 
application.  
 
Members debated the application, taking into account the Officer presentation, and 
the Officer report. Members raised concerns about the impact it would have on the 
amenities of the neighbouring properties while the application would be in the 
construction/demolition stage. Members also raised concerns for the safety of trees 
on the site. Officers assured Members that the trees including the main Oak tree 
close to the application site would be retained.  
 
The Development Manager advised that condition 3 of the permission if granted 
would be amended to safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties.  
 
It was RESOLVED that planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions as 
per the recommendations set out below and an amendment to the condition 3 
relating to the hours of constructions as below:  

Page 18



3 

 
3. No demolition or construction works relating to this permission shall be carried out 
on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor before 08.00 hours or after 18.00 hours on any 
weekdays, nor on any Saturday before 08.00 hours or after 13.00 hours. These 
times apply to work which is audible at the site boundary.  
 
REASON: - To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 

That outline planning permission be GRANTED as well as the imposition of suitable 
safeguarding conditions, with authority given to the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Regulation in consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, to amend or add to 
the suggested draft conditions set out in this report, prior to the decision notice being 
issued, where such amendments or additions would be legally sound and most 
effectively deliver the development that the Planning Committee has resolved to 

approve. The suggested conditions are as follows:- 

 
 1  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 

 2279-10-RevB; 2279-11-RevC; 2279-12-RevA; 2279-13-RevA; 2279-14-
RevA; 2279_16; 2279-21-RevA; RLA.LBE.003; 1583-KC-XX-YTREE-
TCP01RevB; 1583-KC-XX-YTREE-TPP01RevB; 2279-15-RevH; 
RLA.LBE.004 REV A 

 
 REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

  REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
3 No demolition or construction works relating to this permission shall be carried 

out on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor before 07.30 hours or after 18.00 
hours on any weekdays, nor on any Saturday before 08.00 hours or after 
13.00 hours. These times apply to work which is audible at the site boundary. 

 
 REASON:- To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 

properties. 
 
4 No development shall take place until a schedule and samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
dwellings hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance. 

 

Page 19



4 

5 All planting, seeding and turfing comprised in soft landscaping as detailed in 
drawing number RLA.LBE.004 REV A  shall be carried out in the first planting 
and seeding seasons following the first use of the site or the completion of the 
development whichever is the sooner. 

 
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

 
6 Any trees or plants comprised within the approved plans or subsequently 

approved landscaping scheme, which within a period of five years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
7 No tree shown retained on the approved plans, or subsequently approved 

landscaping scheme, shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 
retained tree be topped or lopped within five years of the completion of 
development without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the protection of those trees which should be retained 

in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
8 No development shall take place until a landscape and ecological 

management plan (LEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall ensure the 
delivery of the agreed number of habitat and hedgerow units as a minimum 
(0.88 habitat units, 0.40 hedgerow units) to achieve a net gain in biodiversity 
and include the following: 

 
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
b) Aims and objectives of management. 
c) Appropriate management actions for achieving target condition for habitats 
as described in the approved metric. 
d) Preparation of a work schedule (including a 30 year work plan capable of 
being rolled forward in perpetuity), clearly marked on plans. 
e) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the 
plan. 
f) Ongoing monitoring plan and remedial measures to ensure habitat 
condition targets are met. 
g) Details of species selected to achieve target habitat conditions as identified 
in approved metric, definitively stated and marked on plans. 
h) Details of make, model and location of 5 integrated bat boxes, 5 integrated 
swift boxes, 2 integrated bee bricks, hedgehog highways between all garden 
barriers. 

 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 
which the longterm implementation of the plan will be secured by the 
developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The 

Page 20



5 

plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how 
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan 
will be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON:- To provide a net gain in biodiversity. 
 

9 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, provision of 
bird and bat boxes, bee bricks and hedgehog highways between garden 
boundary fencing as specified in the landscape and ecological management 
plan (LEMP) referred to in condition 8 shall be erected accordingly and 
thereafter permanently retained and maintained.  

 
 REASON:- To provide suitable roosting and nesting opportunities for bats, 

birds and bees and movement for hedgehogs as an ecological enhancement 
of the site.  

 
10 All areas of hedges, scrub or similar vegetation where birds may nest which 

are to be removed as part of the development, are to be cleared outside the 
bird-nesting season (March – August inclusive) or if clearance during the bird 
nesting season cannot be reasonably be avoided, a suitably qualified 
ecologist will check the areas to be removed immediately prior to clearance 
and advise whether nesting birds are present. If active nests are recorded, no 
vegetation clearance or other works that may disturb active nests shall 
proceed until all young have fledged the nest. 

  
REASON:- Nesting birds are protected from disturbance under the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
11 All hard surfacing and boundary treatments as specified in landscape drawing 

RLA.LBE.004 REV A shall be carried out prior to the first use of the site or the 
completion of the development, whichever is the sooner and shall be 
permanently maintained during the lifetime of the development.  

 
 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and as 

an ecological enhancement of the site . 
 
12 No development shall take place (excluding site clearance) until the tree 

protection measures as detailed in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
prepared by Keen Consultants (document reference 1583-KC-XX-YTREE-
TreeSurvey-and-ImpactAssessment-RevB, dated July 2021) and drawing 
numbers 1583-KC-XX-YTREE-TPP01RevB and 1583-KC-XX-YTREE-
TCP01RevB have been implemented accordingly. The tree protection 
measures shall remain in place until the development has been completed.  
In addition, the methodology of construction for works which are to be 
undertaken within the root protection areas of those trees which are to be 
retained shall be carried out in accordance with the documents and plans 
specified in this condition.  

Page 21



6 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the protection of those trees which should be retained 

in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
13 Prior to occupation of the dwelling located within the root protection area of 

tree 3 (English Oak) as identified on tree protection plan 1583-KC-XX-
YTREE-TPP01RevB, the tree shall be pruned to provide clearance from the 
dwelling along with selective pruning of the tree crown to reduce the potential 
for future limb loss.  

 
 REASON:- To ensure the protection of those trees which should be retained 

in the interests of visual amenity. 
 

14 No development shall take place until a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried 
out in accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Management 
Plan of: 

 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 
b. Access arrangements to the site; 
c. Traffic management requirements 
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking, loading / unloading and turning areas); 
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 
waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities; 
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway; 
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be 
submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, 
pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements. 
 
REASON:- In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users 
of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 
and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan. 

 
15 Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, no on-site 

works above slab level shall commence until a detailed scheme for the offsite 
highway improvement works, to include lighting of the access and signage in 
the form of pedestrians in the road / triangular warning signs between 
Broadhall Way and the access to the site have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking that meets the 

needs of occupiers of the proposed development and in the interests of 

Page 22



7 

encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with 
Policies 1, 5 and 8 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
16 No development shall take place until a plan for cycle parking should be 

submitted in accordance with (Cycle Infrastructure Design’ DfT Local 
Transport Note 1/20 (July 2020) and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Prior to first occupation the approved scheme shall be 
fully implemented and thereafter retained for this purpose. 

 
REASON:- To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking that meets the 
needs of occupiers of the proposed development and in the interests of 
encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with 
Policies 1, 5 and 8 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
17 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the provision of 

adequate water supplies and fire hydrants, necessary for firefighting purposes 
at the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall not be occupied until the scheme 
has been implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

 
REASON:- To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site 
for the local fire service to discharge its statutory firefighting duties 

 
18 No development shall take place until a Phase One investigation desk top 

study should be undertaken. Should anything be identified from this study 
further investigations will be required and a report produced and submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This investigation 
and assessment must be undertaken by a competent person, and shall 
assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  
Moreover, it must include:  
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  

• human health,  
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 

livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes,  
• adjoining land,  
• groundwaters and surface waters,  

 (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 

REASON:- To prevent harm to human health and pollution of the water 
environment in accordance with Government policy set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified, as required under 
condition 18, the approved remediation scheme must be carried out in 
accordance with its terms prior to the commencement of development other 
than that required to carry out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given 
two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme 

Page 23



8 

works. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness 
of the remediation carried out must be produced and is subject to the 
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 REASON:- To prevent harm to human health and pollution of the water 

environment in accordance with Government policy set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20 The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the general waste 

and recycle store associated with the development hereby permitted shall be 
implemented in accordance with the details as specified in the application 
submission. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the general waste and recycle store is of a sufficient 

size to accommodate the number of bins which are required for this 
development.  In addition, to ensure the proposed bin store has an 
acceptable appearance.  

 
21 Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted, the development 

shall include provision for each dwelling to be served by an active electric 
vehicle charging point. 

 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and to 
promote sustainable development in accordance with Policies 5, 19 and 20 of 
Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
22 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted the car parking 

spaces as detailed in drawing number 2279-15-RevH shall be surfaced and 
marked out in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained and shall only be used for the parking of motor-vehicles 
only. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure there is sufficient off-street parking to serve the 

development hereby permitted.  
 

23 No development shall take place above slab level until details of measures to 
address adaptation to climate change have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These measures shall then be 
implemented and permanently maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change 
through provision of energy and water efficiency measures. 

 
24 No development shall take place above slab level until details of the proposed 

external lighting strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be completed 
in accordance with the approved details. 

  

Page 24



9 

REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and to 
protect the residential amenity of existing residents.  

 
Pro-active Statement 

 
Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted 
pro-actively through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-
application stage and during the determination process which lead to 
improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore acted pro-actively in 
line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
 
 
INFORMATIVES 

 
1  Hertfordshire County Council Highways 
 

 HCC recommends inclusion of the following highway informatives to ensure 
that any works within the public highway are carried out in accordance with 
the provisions of the Highway Act 1980: Storage of materials: The applicant is 
advised that the storage of materials associated with the construction of this 
development should be provided within the site on land which is not public 
highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 
highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the 
Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further information 
is available via the County Council website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.  
 
Obstruction of highway: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways 
Act 1980 for any 
person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is 
likely to result in the public highway or public right of way network becoming 
routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction 
works commence. Further information is available via the County Council 
website at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.  
 
Construction Management Plan (CMP): The purpose of the CMP is to help 
developers minimise construction impacts and relates to all construction 
activity both on and off site that impacts on the wider environment. It is 
intended to be a live document whereby different stages will be completed 
and submitted for application as the development progresses. A completed 
and signed CMP must address the way in which any impacts associated with 
the proposed works, and any cumulative impacts of other nearby construction 

Page 25



10 

sites will be mitigated and managed. The level of detail required in a CMP will 
depend on the scale and nature of development. The CMP would need to 
include elements of the Construction Logistics and Community Safety 
(CLOCS) standards as set out in our Construction Management template, a 
copy of which is available on the County Council’s website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx 
 
Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under section 148 of the 
Highways Act 
1980 to deposit compost, dung or other material for dressing land, or any 
rubbish on a made up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the 
interruption of any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the 
party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times 
to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the 
development and use thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit dust or 
deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 
available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
Avoidance of surface water discharge onto the highway: The applicant is 
advised that the 
Highway Authority has powers under section 163 of the Highways Act 1980, 
to take appropriate steps where deemed necessary (serving notice to the 
occupier of premises adjoining a highway) to prevent water from the roof or 
other part of the premises falling upon persons using the highway, or to 
prevent so far as is reasonably practicable, surface water from the premises 
flowing on to, or over the footway of the highway. 

2 Community Infrastructure Levy 

Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started 
implementing CIL on 01 April 2020.  

This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to 
contact the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development 
is CIL liable, even if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be 
advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will 
mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will 
be imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required for 
residential extensions if relief has been granted.  

Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be 
found on the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by 

Page 26

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


11 

contacting the Council's CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 

3 Building Regulations 

To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at 
building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 879990. 

To make a building regulations application please apply through our website 
portal at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made 
online or by phoning the above number after the application has been 
uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 
01438 879990. 

Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 
Building control Ltd., 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant 
drawings and fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most 
instances these are usually: 

         Excavation for foundations 
Damp proof course 

        Concrete oversite 
         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
        Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
         Completion 

Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 
10.00am to ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 

4 Police Crime Prevention Design Service 

 Prior to construction, it is recommended the applicant contact the 
Hertfordshire Constabulary CPDS with a view to seeking to achieve 
accreditation to the Police preferred minimum security standard that is 
Secured by Design. The reason for this is to ensure that the development is 
compliant with both National and Local Planning Policies, in addition, this will 
also demonstrate the discharge of obligations under Approved Document ‘Q’ 
– Security of Building Regulations”. 

 
5 Environmental permit  
 

The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 require 
a permit to be obtained for any activities which will take place:  

Page 27



12 

 on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal)  

 on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culverted main river (16 
metres if tidal)  

 on or within 16 metres of a sea defence  

 involving quarrying or excavation within 16 metres of any main river, flood 
defence (including a remote defence) or culvert  

 in a floodplain more than 8 metres from the river bank, culvert or flood 
defence structure (16 metres if it’s a tidal main river) and you don’t already 
have planning permission  

 
For further guidance please visit https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-
activities-environmental-permits or contact our National Customer Contact 
Centre on 03708 506 506. The applicant should not assume that a permit will 
automatically be forthcoming once planning permission has been granted, 
and we advise them to consult with us at the earliest opportunity. 

 
 

4   21/01256/FPH - 68 BASILS ROAD, STEVENAGE  
 

   

Application No: 21/01256/FPH 

Location 68 Basils Road, Stevenage 

Proposal Retrospective planning permission for the demolition of 
the existing conservatory and erection of part two storey, 
part single storey rear extension 

Applicant: Mr Robert Hayward 

Recommendation: Refuse planning permission and serve an enforcement 
notice 

 
The Committee received a retrospective planning application for the demolition of 
the existing conservatory and erection of part two storey, part single storey rear 
extension. The application site was an end of terrace dwelling on the southern side 
of Basils Road, opposite the junction with Stanmore Road. During the presentation, 
the Senior Planning Officer displayed maps, plans and photographs to demonstrate 
the location and character of the site.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer explained that the application sought retrospective 
planning permission to retain a part two storey, part single storey rear extension 
which began construction in July 2021. An enforcement investigation was opened in 
October 2021 after the Council became aware works were underway without the 
benefit of planning permission.  
 
The applicant advised that he attempted to make contact with the Planning 
Department prior to commencing works to ascertain if planning permission were 
required, however, the applicant did not used the correct email address, and 
therefore, the applicant failed to establish contact with the Council, and no further 
attempts were made to contact the Council. The extension to the rear of the 
application site had impacted the amenities of the neighbouring properties, and the 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-


13 

separation distance was too short.  
 
The key issues in the determination of the application were outlined in the Officer 
report.  
 
The Council did not receive any representation in relation to the application.  
 
The key issues for the Committee to consider were the impact on the character and 
the visual amenity of the area and the impact on the amenity and privacy of the 
neighbours, furthermore, Section 38(6) of the Planning and compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 required that all planning applications must be determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
Officer recommendation was therefore that the application be refused planning 
permission and serve an enforcement notice.  
 
The registered speaker Robert Haywood, the applicant, spoke in support of the 
application.  
 
Members debated the application, taking into account the Officer presentation, 
Officer report and the statement from the registered speaker. Members noted that 
the Council did not receive any objection or representation in relation to the planning 
application. Members raised concern about the separation distance between the 
application site and the neighbours. Officers confirmed the separation gap was short 
and sub-standard.  
 
It was RESOLVED that application 21/01256/FPH be refused and an enforcement 
notice be issued and served subject to conditions as per the recommendations set 
out below: 
 
That planning permission is REFUSED for the following reasons:-   

1 The proposed extension, by virtue of its proximity to the rear elevation of No. 
23 Victoria Close fails to meet the required minimum back to back separation 
distance as laid out in Chapter 6 of the Council's adopted Design Guide 
(2009) and would therefore likely result in an unacceptable outlook and loss 
of privacy for the occupiers of this neighbouring property, having a harmful 
impact on the habitable room windows and private rear garden which detracts 
from the privacy and residential amenity of this neighbouring property. The 
development is, therefore, contrary to Policies GD1 and SP8 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019), the Council's Design 
Guide SPD (2009), National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the 
Planning Practice Guidance (2014). 

 
 2 The proposed extension, by virtue of its proximity to the rear elevation of Nos. 

70 and 70A Basils Road fails to meet the required minimum back to side 
separation distance as laid out in Chapter 6 of the Council's adopted Design 
Guide (2009) and would therefore likely result in an unacceptable outlook and 
loss of privacy for the occupiers of these neighbouring properties, having a 
harmful impact on the habitable room windows and private rear gardens 

Page 29



14 

which detracts from the privacy and residential amenity of these neighbouring 
properties. The development is, therefore, contrary to Policies GD1 and SP8 
of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019), the Council's 
Design Guide SPD (2009), National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and 
the Planning Practice Guidance (2014). 

FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

1. Having recommended refusal of the retrospective planning application, a decision 
needs to be made as to whether or not the Council should undertake enforcement 
action against the breach of planning control which has occurred in this instance. 

 
2. As set out previously in this report, it is considered that the existing development, by 

way of the substandard separation distances results in harm to the occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties at Nos. 70 and 70A Basils Road and No.23 Victoria Close.  
The two storey element of the development results in an unacceptable level of 
overlooking to No.23 Victoria Close resulting in a loss of privacy and by proximity to 
this dwellings’ rear elevation, results in an over dominant form of development which 
detrimentally harms the outlook from this property’s rear garden and rear habitable 
rooms.  The proximity of the two storey extension to the rear elevations of Nos. 70 
and 70A Basils Road results in an unacceptable outlook from these neighbouring 
properties and in respect of No.70A, results in an exacerbation of the lack of natural 
daylight and sunlight to the windows on their rear elevation.    

 
3. Given the aforementioned comments, should the Committee agree with the 

recommendations set out in section 9 of this report to refuse planning permission, 
authorisation is sought to take enforcement action to secure the removal of only the 
first floor element of the development as the single storey element of the 
development is considered acceptable.  It is considered that a period of six months 
from the date of the decision is deemed reasonable in line with the Government’s 
Planning Practice Guidance (2014).  

FURTHER RECOMMENDATION 

1. That an Enforcement Notice be issued and served by the Assistant Director of 
Planning and Regulation, subject to the Borough Solicitor being satisfied, requiring 
the removal of the first floor element of the existing rear extension. The precise terms 
of the Enforcement Notice, including all time periods, to be delegated to the 
Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation.  

 
2. That, subject to the Borough Solicitor being satisfied with the evidence, the Assistant 

Director of Planning and Regulation be authorised to take all steps necessary, 
including prosecution or any other litigation/works in default to secure compliance 
with the Enforcement Notice. 

 
3. That in the event of any appeal against the Enforcement Notice, the Assistant 

Director of Planning and Regulation be authorised to take any action required to 
defend the Enforcement Notice and any appeal against the refusal of planning 
permission. 

 
 

Page 30



15 

REMEDY REQUIRED  
 

1. Within six months of the date of refusal of planning permission, to remove the first 
floor element of the existing two storey rear extension.  

 
5   20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP - 107A-109A HIGH STREET, STEVENAGE  

 
 Application No: 20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP 

Location 107A-109A High Street, Stevenage.  

Proposal Retrospective planning permission to retain Flats 6 and 7 
as two bedroom units  

Applicant: Mr S Orlinski 

Recommendation: Refuse planning permission and serve an enforcement 
notice. 

 
The Committee received a retrospective planning permission to retain flat 6 and 7 as 
two bedroom units. The application site was situated to the rear of a courtyard of flat 
conversions behind the original buildings fronting the High Street. The application 
site was located in the Conservation Area surrounded by listed buildings. Planning 
permission was originally approved in 2017 for conversion and alternations to the 
roof to provide 2no. one bedroom flats.  
 
The Principal Planning Officer explained that the applicant had carried some works 
with the installation of the timber beams and some stud works. The main concern 
was the headroom, which deemed too small.  
 
The key issues for the Committee to consider were the visual impact of the amended 
layout, impact on neighbouring amenity, impact on the amenities of future occupiers 
and parking provision, furthermore, Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 required that all planning applications must be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material consideration indicate 
otherwise.  
 
The Principal Planning Officer advised Members that she had managed to contact 
the owner through the agent, and that the owner had agreed to provide further 
information regarding the plans, therefore, it was reasonable to allow the owner to 
make representation to provide further information regarding the plans for the 
application site.  
 
Members debated the application briefly, and agreed to allow the owner to make 
representation, therefore, the application was deferred to the next Committee 
meeting.  
 
The application 20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP was deferred to the next Committee 
meeting scheduled for Tuesday 15 March 2022 in the Council Chamber at 6.30 pm. 
The application was deferred to allow officers assess new planning materials in light 
of new evidence received. 

Page 31



16 

 
6   21/01231/FPH - 62 SOUTHWARK CLOSE, STEVENAGE  

 
 Application No: 21/01231/FPH 

Location 62 Southwark Close, Stevenage 

 

Proposal Increase in front store width and height and associated 
entrance and fenestration alterations 

Applicant: Stevenage Borough Council 
 

Recommendation: Grant planning permission 
 

 
The Committee received the planning application seeking permission for the 
increase in front store width and height and associated entrance and fenestration 
alternations.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer advised Members that the application came before the 
Committee for consideration as the applicant was the Stevenage Borough Council, 
otherwise it would be a delegated officer decision.  
 
The application site was an end of terrace dwelling on the eastern side of Southwark 
close. The application sought planning permission to widen the existing front 
projection to accommodate a disabled level access shower and erect a small 
extension to this projection to create a new entrance porch; as a result, the large 
window on the front elevation serving the living room would be made smaller. The 
existing projection would be widened from 2.2m to 2.4m wide, and the height would 
increase from 2.5m to 2.7m high. The new entrance porch would measure 1.1m 
wide, 1.2m deep and 2.7 m high with a flat roof.  
 
The Council did not receive any representation regarding the application.  
 
The key issues in the determination of the application were outlined in the Officer 
report.  
 
Members debated the application, taking in to account the Officer report and Officer 
presentation. Members noted that the application would not harm the character and 
visual amenity of the area, and nor would it harm the amenities of neighbouring 
properties.  
 
It was RESOLVED that planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions as 
per the recommendations set out below: 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions -   

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
01; 02; 03; 04; 05; 06; 07; 08; 09; 

Page 32



17 

 
REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

 
 REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 3 The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

front extension hereby permitted shall match the materials used in the 
construction of the original dwelling to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance. 
 
 4 No access shall be provided to the roof of the extension by way of windows, 

doors or staircases and the roof of the extension hereby permitted shall not 
be used as a balcony or sitting out area. 

 REASON:- To protect the amenities and privacy of the occupiers of adjoining 
properties. 

 
 
The Council has acted Pro-Actively for the following reason:-  
 

1 Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. Discussion with the 
applicant to seek an acceptable solution was not necessary in this instance. 
The Council has therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015. 

 
INFORMATIVES  
 

1 Community Infrastructure Levy 
Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started 
implementing CIL on 01 April 2020.  
 
This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to 
contact the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development 
is CIL liable, even if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be 
advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will 
mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will 
be imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required 
for residential extensions if relief has been granted.  

Page 33



18 

 
Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can 
be found on the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by 
contacting the Council's CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 
 

2 Building Regulations 
 

To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at 
building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 879990. 
 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website 
portal at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made 
online or by phoning the above number after the application has been 
uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 
01438 879990. 
 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd, 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant 
drawings and fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most 
instances these are usually: 
 
Excavation for foundations 
Damp proof course 
Concrete oversite 
Insulation 
Drains (when laid or tested) 
Floor and Roof construction 
Work relating to fire safety 
Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
Completion 
 
Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 
10.00am to ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 

 3 Party Wall etc. Act 1996 
Any work that affects a party wall, including foundations dug within 3.0m of a 
neighbouring building, may be controllable under the Act and may require 
approval from the adjoining owner(s).  Party Wall Act matters are always civil 
matters and it is neither Stevenage Borough Council's nor Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd's remit to control or enforce Party Wall act matters.  
Please refer to the Government's explanatory booklet The Party Wall etc. Act 
1996, a copy of which is available online at:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-
revised-explanatory-booklet 

 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-


19 

7   21/01241/FP - WELLFIELD COURT, NORWICH CLOSE, STEVENAGE  
 

 Application No: 21/01241/FP 

Location Wellfield Court, Norwich Close, Stevenage 

 

Proposal Proposed Smoking Shelter 

Applicant: Stevenage Borough Council 
 

Recommendation: Grant planning permission 
 

 
The Committee received the planning application seeking permission for a smoking 
shelter. The application site was a two storey building comprising three main 
buildings connecting off a central link corridor with a fourth connected building on the 
eastern side which was single storey that contained the main entrance. The building 
was situated on the northern side of Norwich Close and was surrounded by two 
storey residential dwellings to the north, east and west. During the presentation, the 
Senior Planning Officer displayed maps, plans and photographs to demonstrate the 
location and character of the site. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer advised Members that the application came before the 
Committee for consideration as the applicant was the Stevenage Borough Council, 
otherwise, it would be a delegated officer decision.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer explained that the application sought planning 
permission to erect a singular smoker shelter on the western side of the southern 
building. The shelter would be 1.05 m deep, 3.05m long and 2.25m high and 
constructed of polycarbonate glazing walls with a reinforced glass fibre roof around a 
steel framework.  
 
The Council did not receive any representation regarding the planning application.  
 
The key issues in the determination of the application were outlined in the Office 
report.  
 
Members debated the application, taking into account the Officer report and the 
Officer presentation. Members noted that the development would not harm the 
character and visual amenity of the area, nor would it harm the amenities of 
neighbouring properties. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer advised Members that the nearest non-council housing 
were 32m away from the proposed development, and therefore, it would not have an 
impact on those properties, and confirmed that the nearby trees would be retained.  
 
It was RESOLVED that planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions as 
per the recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Page 35



20 

It is considered that the proposed development would not harm the character and 
visual amenity of the area, nor would it harm the amenities of neighbouring 
properties. The application is, therefore, recommended for approval. 
 

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions -   

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
LH-001; Shelter Dimensions; Open Fronted Smoking Shelters Specification 

Sheet; 
 
REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

 
 REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 3 The construction of the smoking shelter hereby permitted shall be as per the 

approved specification documents to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance. 

 
 
The Council has acted Pro-Actively for the following reason:-  
 

1 Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. Discussion with the 
applicant to seek an acceptable solution was not necessary in this instance. 
The Council has therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015. 

 
INFORMATIVES  
 

1 Community Infrastructure Levy 
Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started 
implementing CIL on 01 April 2020.  
 
This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to 
contact the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development 
is CIL liable, even if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be 
advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 

Page 36



21 

Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will 
mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will 
be imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required 
for residential extensions if relief has been granted.  
 
Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can 
be found on the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by 
contacting the Council's CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 
 
 

2 Building Regulations 
To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at 
building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 879990. 
 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website 
portal at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made 
online or by phoning the above number after the application has been 
uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 
01438 879990. 
 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd, 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant 
drawings and fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most 
instances these are usually: 
 
Excavation for foundations 
Damp proof course 
Concrete oversite 
Insulation 
Drains (when laid or tested) 
Floor and Roof construction 
Work relating to fire safety 
Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
Completion 
 
Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 
10.00am to ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 

 3 Party Wall etc. Act 1996 
Any work that affects a party wall, including foundations dug within 3.0m of a 
neighbouring building, may be controllable under the Act and may require 
approval from the adjoining owner(s).  Party Wall Act matters are always civil 
matters and it is neither Stevenage Borough Council's nor Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd's remit to control or enforce Party Wall act matters.  
Please refer to the Government's explanatory booklet The Party Wall etc. Act 

Page 37



22 

1996, a copy of which is available online at:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-
revised-explanatory-booklet   

 
8   21/01070/FPM - 145 SCARBOROUGH AVENUE, STEVENAGE  

 
 Application No: 21/01070/FPM 

Location 145 Scarborough Avenue, Stevenage 

Proposal Variation of condition 1 (Approved Plans) attached to 
planning permission 19/00136/FPM to include Brise 
Soleil, alterations to and the positioning of 
windows/doors, and an increase in the height of the 
Mansard roof feature by 300mm. 

Applicant: Stevenage Borough Council 
 

Recommendation: Grant Planning Permission 
 

 
The Committee received a planning application seeking permission for the variation 
of condition 1 (approved plans) attached to planning permission 19/00136/FPM to 
include Brise Soleil, alterations to and the positioning of windows/doors, and an 
increase in the height of the mansard roof feature by 300mm. During the 
presentation, the Principal Planning Officer displayed maps, plans and photographs 
to demonstrate the location and character of the site. The Principal Planning Officer 
advised Members that the application was originally approved in 2019, was an 
affordable scheme to improve standards of living in Stevenage.  
 
The application came before the Committee for consideration as the applicant was 
the Stevenage Borough Council, In addition, the application was also classed as a 
major residential development and the proposed changes were considered material.  
 
The Council did not receive any representation regarding the application.  
 
The Principal Planning Officer advised Members that the variation in conditions from 
a major application were acceptable, and it would not detrimentally impact the 
appearance of the building or the wider area. It was therefore, recommended for 
approval.  
 
The key issues in the determination of the application were outlined in the Officer 
report.  
 
Members debated the application, taking into account the Officer report and the 
Officer presentation. Members noted that the proposed changes were minor, and it 
would not impact the visual appearance of the building in the wider area. The 
changes had no impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties as no new 
openings were formed. It would also improve the living conditions for future 
occupiers.  
 
It was RESOLVED that planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions as 

Page 38



23 

per the recommendations set out below: 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions and the transfer 

of the signed S106 legal agreement which has secured and/or provides:- 

 Primary and Secondary Education; 

 Sustainable transport improvement; 

 The improvement of Children’s play space and outdoor sports provision 

 Affordable Housing 

 

With delegated powers given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation to 

agree any changes to the proposed imposed conditions. 

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 13835-W-001-B; 13835-W-002-E; 13835-W-003-E; 13835-
W-004-E; 13835-W-006-D; 13835-W-007-C; 7967-100-01; 7967-100-02; 7967-100-
03; RT18013_100_PL6 
 

 REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in accordance with 

the materials and finishes as set out for the approved building in the 
application. 
 
REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance and is 
of a high standard finish. 

 
3. No development shall take place until details of the approved bin store have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests 
of amenity and that it has an acceptable appearance.  

 
4. No development shall take place above slab level until there has been 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of soft 
and hard landscaping and details of the treatment of all hard surfaces. The 
scheme shall include details of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land 
and details showing all trees to be removed, or retained, together with details 
of all new planting to take place including species, size and method of 
planting, and boundary treatments. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

 
5. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the first occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the 
development whichever is the sooner. 

 
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 

6. All hard surfacing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 

Page 39



24 

carried out prior to the first occupation of the building or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner. 

 
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

 
7. Any trees or plants comprised within the scheme of landscaping, which within 

a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development.  

8. The development hereby approved shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) agreed under 
planning application reference 20/00550/COND. 

 
 REASON:- In order to reduce the level of waste generated during the 

demolition and construction phases  of development and to recycle all waste 
materials where possible. 

 
9. No construction work relating to this permission shall be carried out on any Sunday, 

Public or Bank Holiday nor at any other time, except between the hours of 0730 and 
1800 on Mondays to Fridays and between the hours of 0830 and 1300 on Saturdays, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These times 
apply to work which is audible at the site boundary.  

 
REASON: - To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 
 

10. No development shall take place until a scheme for protecting the proposed 
dwellings from noise from road traffic has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. None of the dwellings shall be 
occupied until such a scheme has been implemented in accordance with the 
approved details, and shown to be effective, and it shall be retained in 
accordance with those details thereafter. 

 

 REASON: To protect the amenity and ensure a suitable internal and external 
acoustic environment for future occupiers of the development.  
 

11. Before the accesses are first brought into use vehicle to vehicle visibility 
splays of 2.4 metres by 43 metres in a both directions shall be provided and 
permanently maintained, within which there shall be no obstruction to visibility 
between 600 mm and 2.0 metres above the footway level. These 
measurements shall be taken from the intersection of the centre line of the 
permitted access with the edge of the carriageway of the highway 
respectively into the application site and from the intersection point along the 
edge of the carriageway.  

 

 REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 
interests of highway safety.  

 
12. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted 0.65 metre x 0.65 

Page 40



25 

metre pedestrian visibility splays shall be provided and permanently 
maintained each side of the access. They shall be measured from the point 
where the edges of the access way cross the highway boundary, 0.65 metres 
into the site and 0.65 metres along the highway boundary therefore forming a 
triangular visibility splay. Within which, there shall be no obstruction to 
visibility between 0.6 metres and 2.0 metres above the carriageway.  

 
 REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 

interests of highway pedestrian safety 
 
13. The gradient of the main access shall not be steeper than 1 in 10 from the 

back edge of the footway.  
 
 REASON:- To ensure a vehicle is approximately level before being driven off 

and on to the highway. 
 
14. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the car 

parking spaces as detailed on drawing number 13835-W-001-B shall be 
surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved plan and shall be 
made of porous material, or provision shall be made to direct surface water 
run-off from the hardstanding to a permeable or porous area or surface within 
the curtilage of the site. They shall be retained in that form and kept available 
for the sole use of parking for the development hereby permitted. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure that adequate parking and servicing facilities are 

available within the site, that there is no detriment to the safety of adjoining 
highways, in the interest of visual amenity and to ensure the development is 
sustainable. 

 
15. The development hereby approved shall be carried out and completed in 

accordance with the Construction Management Plan as approved under 
planning application reference 20/00550/COND. 

  
REASON:- In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users 
of the public highway and rights of way. 

 
16. The development hereby approved shall be carried out and completed in 

accordance with the Electric Vehicle Charging Points details as approved 
under planning application reference 20/00550/COND, and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained. 

 
REASON:- In order to provide facilities to charge electric vehicles and to help 
reduce the impact of vehicle emissions on the local environment. 

 
17. Prior to occupation details of measures to address adaptation to climate 

change and energy efficiency shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. These measures shall then be implemented and 
permanently maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change 

Page 41



26 

through provision of energy and water efficiency measures. 
 
Informatives 
 
Works to be undertaken on the adjoining highway shall be constructed to the 
satisfaction of the Highway Authority and in accordance with Hertfordshire County 
Council publication Roads in Hertfordshire Highway Design Guide. Before 
proceeding with the proposed development, the applicant shall use the HCC website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx or call on 0300 1234 047 to obtain the requirements for a section 
278 agreement for the associated road works as part of the development. This 
should be carried out prior to any development work is carried out. 
 
REASON:- To ensure that work undertaken on the highway is constructed to the 
current Highway Authority's specification, to an appropriate standard and by a 
contractor who is authorised to work in the Public Highway.  
 
Prior to commencement of the development the applicant is advised to contact the 
0300 1234 047 to arrange a site visit to agree a condition survey of the approach of 
the highway leading to the development likely to be used for delivery vehicles to the 
development. Under the provisions of Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980 the 
developer may be liable for any damage caused to the public highway as a result of 
traffic associated with the development. Herts County Council may require an Officer 
presence during movements of larger loads, or videoing of the movements may be 
considered. 
 
The proposed development should achieve Secured by Design (SBD) accreditation 
in order for it to comply with current Building Regulations. The Police Crime 
Prevention Design Advisor can be contracted by telephone on 01707 355227  
 
Pro-active Statement 
 
Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-
actively through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage 
and during the determination process which lead to improvements to the scheme. 
The Council has therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015. 
 
 

9   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 

 It was RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
 

10   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS  
 

 It was RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

Page 42

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


27 

 
11   URGENT PART I BUSINESS  

 
 None. 

 
 

12   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 Not required. 
 
 

13   URGENT PART II BUSINESS  
 

 None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 15 March 2022   

Author: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257  

Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836 

 

 

Application No: 20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP 

Location: 107A-109A High Street, Stevenage.  

 

Proposal: Retrospective planning permission to retain Flats 6 and 7 as two bedroom 
units  
 

Drawing Nos.: PL01, PL02, PL03, PL04, PL05, PL06, PL07, PL08, PL09, PL10, PL11, 
Site Location Plan 

Applicant: Mr S Orlinski 

Date Valid: 12 January 2021 

Recommendation: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION AND SERVE AN ENFORCEMENT 
NOTICE. 

  

 
 
Plan for information purposes only 

Page 45

Agenda Item 3



- 2 - 

1.   SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1 The application property is situated to the rear of a courtyard of flat conversions behind the 
original buildings fronting the High Street. The property is largely visible from Church Lane to 
the rear and east of the High Street. The property is set within the Old Town Conservation 
Area, and although not a listed building, it is surrounded by listed buildings on the High Street 
frontage and some on Church Road. The street scene is a variety of differing roof heights. 
Planning permission was approved in 2017 for conversion and alterations to the roof to 
provide 2no. one bedroom flats.  

 
1.2 The ground floor of no's 107-109 High Street fronting the road is currently in A5 use, with 

residential accommodation above and within the three storey buildings projecting eastwards 
forming the small courtyard type area. The 2017 application included the introduction of 
improved headroom to the lower and northern end roof to Church Lane by raising the ridge to 
be coincidental with the ridge to Shepherds Path. The conversion and works have taken 
place and the internal layout subsequently being changed to provide two bedrooms within 
the flat. 

  

2.   RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 The site has historic records for various applications relating to different flats within the 
address, and also the ground floor uses. For clarity the below applications relate to the flats 
in question.  

 
2.2 13/00488/FP Alterations to existing roofscape to form 2no. 1 bedroom flats. 23.12.2013 

application permitted. 
 
2.3 17/00305/FP Alterations to existing roof to form 2no. 1 bedroom flats. 04.07.2017 application 

permitted. 
 

3.   COMMITTEE DEFERAL ADDENDUM  
 
3.1 The applications were presented at the 10th February 2022 Planning and Development 

Committee with a recommendation to refuse and where necessary take enforcement action. 
Members voted to defer the decision to allow the applicant the opportunity to provide 
additional plans requested by the Officer (Please see February committee report in the 
Appendix) 

 
3.2 It was established as part of the processing of the two applications, one for Flat A and one 

for Flat B, that insufficient information had been provided to establish that the second 
bedrooms being proposed would meet the relevant space standards as identified in the 
National Technical Space Standards and as adopted in the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 
2011-2031 (2019). 

 
3.3 The agent made contact with the Officer just prior to the February meeting, and following the 

deferral a floor plan has been provided showing the eaves line for all floor space under 1.5m. 
The 1.5m height is specified in the space standards, with any space measuring under 1.5m 
in height not being accounted in the room sizes and total unit size.  

 
3.4 On assessment of the plan provided and site photos taken during the application process, 

there is still some concern the new plan does not fully show eaves restrictions in Flat B within 
the living/kitchen space. This has been raised with the agent and any update will be provided 
at the committee meeting. 

 
3.5 The main concern in respect of the head room is whether the proposed bedrooms and units 

can meet the minimum internal space standards required. Based on the information 
submitted and by measuring the scaled plans the following measurements have been taken: 

Page 46



- 3 - 

 Actual area in sqm. Minimum required area in sqm. 

Flat A total 55 61 

Bedroom 1 11.9 11.5 

Bedroom 2 7.5 7.5 

Flat B total 60.4 61 

Bedroom 1 12.1 11.5 

Bedroom 2 7.4 7.5 

 
3.6 The measurements taken show that both properties are below the total required minimum 

floor area for a 2 bedroom 3 person flat, with Flat A significantly below the threshold. The 
likelihood that Flat B would also have a reduced total area is high given the query over the 
head room in the living/kitchen area.  

 
3.7 In terms of bedroom sizes, these are acceptable, apart from the second bedroom of Flat B 

which is 0.1 square metres smaller than required. On balance therefore, it is considered that 
the introduction of a second bedroom in each flat would adversely impact the living 
conditions of any perspective occupiers, resulting in insufficient living space contrary to the 
Technical Standards and Local Plan. 

 

8.   CONCLUSIONS 

8.1 The further conversion of flat 6 and 7 to provide 2no. two bedroom flats instead of 2no. one 
bedroom flats as approved under ref: 17/00305/FP is considered to be unacceptable and 
would result in a poor living environment for future occupiers. The total size of the flats would 
fall short of the required 61 square metres for a 2 bedroom 3 person flat as identified in the 
National Technical Standards and as required by Policy GD1 of the Stevenage Borough 
Local plan 2011-2031 (2019). 

 
8.2 Should the Committee be minded to refuse the application then it will be necessary to 

consider further action as outlined in sections 10, 11 and 12 of this report below. 
 

9.       RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
9.1  That planning permission be REFUSED based on the following reasons, and that following 

refusal the Local Planning Authority be authorised to serve an Enforcement Notice to seek the 

development be completed in accordance with the approved plans of application ref: 

17/00305/FP.  

 
1 The proposed development fails to provide an acceptable standard of living for future 

occupiers by virtue of the total internal floor area failing to meet the minimum space 
standards required under the Technical Standards. The proposal does not accord with Policy 
GD1 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (2019), Nationally Described Space 
Standards (2015)(as amended), National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and National 
Planning Practice Guidance (2014). 

 

10.   FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

10.1 Having recommended refusal of the retrospective planning applications, a decision needs to 
be made as to whether or not the Council should undertake enforcement action against the 
breach of planning control which has occurred in this instance. 

 
10.2   As set out previously in this report, it is considered that the existing development, by way of 

the lack of supporting evidence showing adequate living space standards for the second 
bedrooms, because of the internal supporting timber beams structure and mansard roof 

Page 47



- 4 - 

eaves, that the provision of a second bedroom in each flat would result in a poor and 
substandard living arrangement for future occupiers.  

 
10.3   Given the aforementioned comments, should the Committee agree with the 

recommendations set out in section 9 of this report to refuse planning permission, 
authorisation is sought to take enforcement action to secure the removal of any internal 
works carried out to provide each second bedroom.  It is considered that a period of four 
months from the date of the Enforcement Notice being issued is deemed reasonable in line 
with the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance (2014).  

 

11. FURTHER RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1   That an Enforcement Notice be issued and served by the Assistant Director of Planning and 

Regulation, subject to the Borough Solicitor being satisfied, requiring the removal of all 
internal alterations that have taken place in flats 6 and 7 at 107A - 109A – High Street, 
Stevenage to provide two bedrooms be removed. The precise terms of the Enforcement 
Notice, including all time periods, to be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Regulation.  

 
11.2   That, subject to the Borough Solicitor being satisfied with the evidence, the Assistant Director 

of Planning and Regulation be authorised to take all steps necessary, including prosecution 
or any other litigation/works in default to secure compliance with the Enforcement Notice. 

 
11.3   That in the event of any appeal against the Enforcement Notice, the Assistant Director of 

Planning and Regulation be authorised to take any action required to defend the 
Enforcement Notice and any appeal against the refusal of planning permission. 

 

12. REMEDY REQUIRED  
 
12.1   Within four months of the date of the Enforcement Notice being served all internal alterations 

that have taken place to provide a second bedroom in each flat shall be removed.  

 
13. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 

relating to this item. 
 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Stevenage Design Guide 

adopted October 2009. 
 
3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 adopted 2019. 
 
4. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred 

to in this report.  
 
5. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 

and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014.  

 

Page 48



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 10 February 2022   

Author: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257  

Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836 

 

 

Application No: 20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP 

Location: 107A-109A High Street, Stevenage.  

 

Proposal: Retrospective planning permission to retain Flats 6 and 7 as two bedroom 
units  
 

Drawing Nos.: PL01, PL02, PL03, PL04, PL05, PL06, PL07, PL08, PL09, PL10, 
PL11, Site Location Plan 

Applicant: Mr S Orlinski 

Date Valid: 12 January 2021 

Recommendation: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION AND SERVE AN ENFORCEMENT 
NOTICE. 

  

 
 
Plan for information purposes only 

Page 49



- 2 - 

1.   SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1 The application property is situated to the rear of a courtyard of flat conversions behind the 
original buildings fronting the High Street. The property is largely visible from Church Lane to 
the rear and east of the High Street. The property is set within the Old Town Conservation 
Area, and although not a listed building, it is surrounded by listed buildings on the High Street 
frontage and some on Church Road. The street scene is a variety of differing roof heights. 
Planning permission was approved in 2017 for conversion and alterations to the roof to 
provide 2no. one bedroom flats.  

 
1.2 The ground floor of no's 107-109 High Street fronting the road is currently in A5 use, with 

residential accommodation above and within the three storey buildings projecting eastwards 
forming the small courtyard type area. The 2017 application included the introduction of 
improved headroom to the lower and northern end roof to Church Lane by raising the ridge to 
be coincidental with the ridge to Shepherds Path. The conversion and works have taken 
place and the internal layout subsequently being changed to provide two bedrooms within 
the flat. 

  

2.   RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 The site has historic records for various applications relating to different flats within the 
address, and also the ground floor uses. For clarity the below applications relate to the flats 
in question.  

 
2.2 13/00488/FP Alterations to existing roofscape to form 2no. 1 bedroom flats. 23.12.2013 

application permitted. 
 
2.3 17/00305/FP Alterations to existing roof to form 2no. 1 bedroom flats. 04.07.2017 application 

permitted. 
 

3.   THE CURRENT APPLICATION  
 
3.1 The current applications seek retrospective permission for the retention of the second 

bedroom in flat 6 (Unit A) and flat 7 (Unit B). The works have been partially carried out with 
the installation of timber beams and some stud work.  

  

3.2 The application comes before the Planning and Development Committee  because should 
the Committee be minded to agree with the officer’s recommendation to refuse planning 
permission then in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Planning Committee will 
need to consider whether it is expedient to take further action in relation to the breach in 
planning control as outlined in Sections 10 through to 12 of this report. 

 

4.       PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  

4.1 The application has been publicised by neighbour letter, site notice and a newspaper advert.  
 No observations received.  

   

5. CONSULTATIONS  
 
5.1 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
 
5.1.1 The Local Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of permission.  

5.2 Environmental Health 

Page 50



- 3 - 

5.2.1 No specific comments relating to the planning applications. However, we are in the process 
of ascertaining whether or not the building complies with building regulations. If it does not 
comply with the building regulations, it may be classed as a section 257 HMO. 

 
 
 

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  
 
6.1 Background to the development plan 
 
6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the decision 

on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory development plan 
comprises: 

 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
6.2 Central Government Advice 

 
6.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021. This 

largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 and 2019 versions of the NPPF 
albeit with some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in the Local 
Plan are in conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should be considered 
up to date for the purpose of determining planning applications. The NPPF provides that 
proposals which accord with an up to date development plan should be approved without 
delay (para.11) and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date 
development plan, permission should not usually be granted (para.12). This indicates the 
weight which should be given to an up to date development plan, reflecting the requirements 
of section 38(6) of the 2004 Act. The NPPF and the PPG, with which Members are fully 
familiar, are both material considerations to be taken into account in determining this 
application. 

 
6.3 Planning Practice Guidance 
 
 The PPG contains guidance supplementing the NPPF and with which Members are fully 

familiar.  The PPG is a material consideration to be taken into account together with the 
National Design Guide (2019) which has the same status as the PPG. 

  
6.4 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted 2019) 

 
 Policy GD1: High Quality Design; 
 Policy NH10: Conservation Areas; 
 Policy IT5: Parking and Access; 

6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents  

 Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD (2020) 
Old Town Conservation Area Management Plan (2012)  

  
6.6 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule in 

2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects based on the 
type, location and floorspace of a development.  

Page 51



- 4 - 

  

7. APPRAISAL  
 
7.1.1 The principle of residential development in the roof area of the respective building has 

already been established and internal alterations substantially completed following approval 
of application ref: 17/00305/FP. Therefore, the main issues for consideration in the two 
applications presented are the visual impact of the amended layout, impact on neighbouring 
amenity, impact on the amenities of future occupiers and parking provision.  

 

7.1.2   Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

7.2  Visual Impact of the Amended Layout  

7.2.1  The proposed alterations do not include or require any external alterations to the property, 

and therefore the proposals would preserve the external appearance of the property and the 

wider conservation area. 

7.3 Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
 
7.3.1 Given the siting of the flats in the roof space of the building with mainly roof lights for light 

and ventilation the amended layout would not have a detrimental impact on the amenity of 
any neighbouring properties in terms of loss of privacy/overlooking. 

 
7.4 Impact on the Amenities of Future Occupiers 
 
7.4.1 The layout changes see the provision of a second bedroom within part of the approved 

bedroom and bathroom areas. Changes to the hallway have also been made to make more 
space for the re-positioning of the bathroom within the flat. Both bedrooms would have a 
window and /or roof light.  

 
7.4.2 A site visit was carried out viewing the internal layout of the flats. This was completed due to 

concerns over the resultant usable living space within the second bedroom, due to the 
sloped eaves of the roof within the mansard design. On plan, the bedroom would appear to 
exceed the national standards at 9.8 square metres, with the original master bedroom 
measuring 14 square metres. However, as witnessed on site, the room is largely restricted 
by the positioning of the support timbers, as the flat is within the roof space.  

 
7.4.3 Consequently, the usable living space, with headroom of at least 1.5m is questioned. Some 

of the floor plans show a possible representation of the eaves, although it is difficult to 
distinguish if this is the case. Further plans have been requested from the agent, over 
several emails and is the reason for the application taking so long to reach a decision. No 
further details have been provided and as it is not clear on the submitted plans that the 
proposed alterations, which have been started on site but have not been completed, would 
result in two bedrooms of a size that meets the minimum space standard requirements of 7.5 
and 11.5 square metres.   

 
7.4.4 Therefore, the proposal fails to demonstrate it meets this requirement, as adopted by the 

Local Plan and this cannot be overcome at this time. It is therefore considered that 
insufficient information is available to approve the application.  

 
7.5 Parking Provision 
 
7.5.1 In respect of parking provision, there is no on-site parking provision and this was deemed 

acceptable in the 2017 application. The 2020 parking standards SPD allows for a further 

Page 52



- 5 - 

reduction in parking than the previous 2012 standards for the High Street because of its 
sustainable location. Given the level of available car parks in close proximity of the site, 
along with excellent bus, cycle and footpath links, the lack of a car parking space is 
considered acceptable in this case. 

  
 

8.   CONCLUSIONS 

8.1 The further conversion of flat 6 and 7 to provide 2no. two bedroom flats instead of 2no. one 
bedroom flats as approved under ref: 17/00305/FP is considered to be unacceptable as it 
has not been evidenced that the internal alterations would not prejudice the living standards 
of future occupiers by ensuring adequate head height and room size standards as required 
by the National Technical Standards and the Local Plan. This is based on the established 
positioning of internal beams and the eaves slope of the mansard roof impacting on the 
proposed positioning of the second bedrooms.  

 
8.2 Should the Committee be minded to refuse the application then it will be necessary to 

consider further action as outlined in sections 10, 11 and 12 of this report below. 
 

9.       RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
9.1  That planning permission be REFUSED based on the following reasons, and that following 

refusal the Local Planning Authority be authorised to serve an Enforcement Notice to seek the 

development be completed in accordance with the approved plans of application ref: 

17/00305/FP.  

 
1 The proposed development fails to demonstrate that the provision of two bedrooms would 

meet the minimum space standards for bedroom sizes as required under the Technical 
Standards and if approved the development would fail to provide an acceptable standard of 
living for its future occupiers. The proposal does not accord with Policy GD1 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (2019), Nationally Described Space Standards 
(2015)(as amended), National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and National Planning 
Practice Guidance (2014). 

 

10. FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

10.1 Having recommended refusal of the retrospective planning applications, a decision needs to 
be made as to whether or not the Council should undertake enforcement action against the 
breach of planning control which has occurred in this instance. 

 
10.2   As set out previously in this report, it is considered that the existing development, by way of 

the lack of supporting evidence showing adequate living space standards for the second 
bedrooms, because of the internal supporting timber beams structure and mansard roof 
eaves, that the provision of a second bedroom in each flat would result in a poor and 
substandard living arrangement for future occupiers.  

 
10.3   Given the aforementioned comments, should the Committee agree with the 

recommendations set out in section 9 of this report to refuse planning permission, 
authorisation is sought to take enforcement action to secure the removal of any internal 
works carried out to provide each second bedroom.  It is considered that a period of four 
months from the date of the Enforcement Notice being issued is deemed reasonable in line 
with the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance (2014).  

 

Page 53



- 6 - 

11. FURTHER RECOMMENDATION 
 

11.1   That an Enforcement Notice be issued and served by the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Regulation, subject to the Borough Solicitor being satisfied, requiring the removal of all internal 
alterations that have taken place in flats 6 and 7 at 107A - 109A – High Street, Stevenage to 
provide two bedrooms be removed. The precise terms of the Enforcement Notice, including all 
time periods, to be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation.  

 
11.2   That, subject to the Borough Solicitor being satisfied with the evidence, the Assistant Director 

of Planning and Regulation be authorised to take all steps necessary, including prosecution or 
any other litigation/works in default to secure compliance with the Enforcement Notice. 

 
11.3   That in the event of any appeal against the Enforcement Notice, the Assistant Director of 

Planning and Regulation be authorised to take any action required to defend the Enforcement 
Notice and any appeal against the refusal of planning permission. 

 

12. REMEDY REQUIRED  
 

12.1   Within four months of the date of the Enforcement Notice being served all internal alterations 
that have taken place to provide a second bedroom in each flat shall be removed.  

 
13. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  

 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 

relating to this item. 
 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Stevenage Design Guide 

adopted October 2009. 
 
3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 adopted 2019. 
 
4. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred to 

in this report.  
 
5. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 

and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014.  

 

Page 54



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 15 March 2022   

Author: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257  

Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836 

 

 

Application No: 21/01002/FPM 

Location: Office Outlet, 11 The Forum Stevenage.  

 

Proposal: Demolition of existing outlet store (Use Class E) and construction of a part 9 
storey, and part 13 storey building comprising 224 no. build to rent dwellings 
consisting of 162 no. 1 bedroom, 50 no. 2 bedroom and 12 no. 3 bedroom 
units;  161 sq.m of Use Class E and Use Class F floorspace; ground floor 
parking area, cycle storage facilities, associated plant and equipment, 
landscaping and ancillary works, comprising both residential and commercial 
/ ancillary residential floorspace along with associated landscaping and 
public realm enhancements refuse storage, and cycle and car parking. 
 

Drawing Nos.: PH-20121-100D; PH-20121-200; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-L-2100 REV E; 
BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-L-2101 REV E; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-L-2102 
REV E; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-L-2103 REV D; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-
L-2104 REV D; BA9281-0001 REV B; BA9281-0002 REV B; BA9281-0003 
REV A; BA9281-0004 REV A; BA9281-0005 REV B; BA9281-0010 REV B; 
BA9281-2100 REV C; BA9281-2101 REV B; BA9281-2012 REV B; 
BA9281-2103 REV B; BA9281-2104 REV B; BA9281-2105 REV B; BA9281-
2106 REV B; BA9281-2107 REV B; BA9281-2108 REV B; BA9281-2109 
REV B; BA9281-2110 REV B; BA9281-2111 REV B; BA9281-2112 REV B; 
BA9281-2113 REV B; BA9281-2200 REV B; BA9281-2201 REV B; BA9281-
2202 REV B; BA9281-2203 REV B; BA9281-2204 REV B; BA9281-2205 
REV B; BA9281-2300 REV B; BA9281-2301 REV B; 

Applicant: Stevenage Property Ltd 

Date Valid: 8 September 2021 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION. 

  

Page 55

Agenda Item 4



- 2 - 

 
Plan for information purposes only 

1.   SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1 The site is located within the Town Centre and forms part of the northerly edge of the town, 
bounded to the north by Fairlands Way. To the west is the Tesco petrol filling station and 
associated forecourt entrance, with the store itself located to the south west and south of the 
site. To the south east is the former BHS site which has approval for redevelopment with an 
11 storey residential development, and to the east is the service yard serving The Forum 
shopping area of the town. 

 
1.2 The area is characterised by a variety of building heights and predominantly retail uses. A 

footbridge is located to the north west which links the Tesco site to Ditchmore Lane to the 
north of Fairlands Way and beyond this the Old Town and King George V Recreational Field 
to the north east. To the north east of the site is the underpass leading to the retail elements 
to the north of Fairlands Way, with King George V Recreation Ground beyond this. The site 
ownership and red line boundary includes both sides of the underpass which run under 
Fairlands Way. 

 

2.   RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 Application 01/00444/AD granted advertisement consent for a free standing double sided 
internally illuminated sign in 2001. 

 
2.2 An application for a change of use of the existing building to a Wholesale Market (Sui 

Generis) which was approved 8 October 2020. 
 
2.3 The current application was preceded by an EIA Screening Opinion reference 

21/00660/SCR, which concurred that an EIA was not required prior to submission of the full 
planning application.  

 

Page 56



- 3 - 

3.   THE CURRENT APPLICATION  
 
3.1 The application seeks planning permission for the demolition of existing outlet store (Use 

Class E) and construction of a part 9 storey, part 13 storey building comprising 224 no. Build 
to Rent dwellings consisting of 162 no. 1 bedroom, 50 no. 2 bedroom and 12 no. 3 bedroom 
units;  161 sq.m of Use Class E (Commercial, Business and Service) and Use Class F (Local 
Community and Learning) floorspace; ground floor parking area, cycle storage facilities, 
associated plant and equipment, landscaping and ancillary works, comprising both 
residential and commercial / ancillary residential floorspace along with associated 
landscaping and public realm enhancements refuse storage, and cycle and car parking. 

 
3.2 The site would be accessed utilising the existing entrance and egress off Fairlands Way to 

the north west of the site. The existing vehicular access from the north of Fairlands Way and 
under the dual carriageway by way of the underpass will provide pedestrian and cycle 
access. The proposed building would consist of an eastern and a western tower of 13 
storey’s each, with a linking 9 storey high building facing on to Fairlands Way. To the rear of 
the building and at first floor level would be a private garden platform for resident’s, as well 
as roof gardens and a biodiverse roof garden on the 9 storey blocks. Some car parking is to 
be provided at ground floor level within the building and externally.  

 
3.3 The application is being considered at Planning and Development Committee as it is a major 

application. 
 

4.       PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  

4.1 The application has been publicised by neighbour letter, the placement of four site notices 
and an advert in the local paper. There has been 4 objections received at the time of writing 
this report.  

 
4.2 Objections –  

 Overdevelopment of the site; 

 Out of character with this area of Stevenage; 

 Size and density of the proposed buildings would have a negative visual impact on 
the landscape and skyline; 

 Insufficient provision of car parking for demand that will lead to significant parking 
problems; 

 Proximity to buses and the railway station does not mean people will not want or need 
a car; 

 How will the 38 spaces be allocated?; 

 Viability Statement says they will not be able to deliver any affordable housing; 

 No pedestrian link north of the site from the underpass which links to the Aldi access 
road; 

 The footways within the public highway are at a higher level than the underpass. It 
does not appear possible to connect a footway to the underpass in accordance with 
Building Regs Part M. If there is no feasible route, then access to bus provision is 
also compromised; 

 There is no pedestrian access to the site without going through third party land; 

 Traffic impact on the Fairlands Way/Lytton Way roundabout which is already over 
capacity in the peak periods, and the proposals would exacerbate this situation; 

 The proposals remove vehicular access from the eastbound carriageway and under 
the underpass, meaning all traffic uses a single access point; 

 An independent Road Safety Audit should be undertaken; 

 No objection to the demolition of the old Staples building which is of no architectural 
merit, but to replace it with a 15 storey high building will serve to contribute to turning 
Stevenage centre into a high rise estate; 

 Developers are only interested in maximising their profits; 

Page 57



- 4 - 

 Homes for young people to enable them to work in the area need to be affordable; 

 With such a plethora of flats Stevenage will be turned into a commuter town; 

 Parking is disproportionate. 
 

4.3 These are not verbatim of the representations received and full copies can be viewed online. 
Any further representations received will be reported at the committee meeting.   

 

5. CONSULTATIONS  
 
5.1 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
 
5.1.1 Notice is given under article 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure)(England) Order 2015 that the Hertfordshire County Council as 
Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to the imposition 
of conditions.  

 
5.1.2 Financial contributions of £12,000 have been requested to cover the monitoring fee 

associated with the Residential Travel Plan and the Commercial Travel Plan respectively.  

5.2 Lead Local Flood Authority 

5.2.1 The Lead Local Flood Authority maintain their objection to the scheme for the following 
reasons – 

 Pumping of surface water not aligned with HCC Local Standards; 

 High discharge rate without robust justification for the need; 

 Lack of detailed surface water network calculations accompanied by numbered 
drainage layout drawing for audit and technical assessment.  

 
5.2.2 Section 8.3 of the FRA is not acceptable justification as to why a further reduced discharge 

rate cannot be achieved. Thames Water do not dictate allowable discharge but only provide 
guidance. The LLFA determine acceptable discharge rates and Local Standards clearly set 
out the requirement. The arguments provided for Brownfield rates are not robust, when 
considered against Local requirements, to enable the LLFA to accept the reasoning’s 
provided. The discharge rate should be further reduced for a site of this size to conform to 
HCC Local Standards. The LLFA feel there is room for design to enable a further reduction in 
the discharge rate.  

 
5.2.3 The LLFA request the provision of detailed drainage calculations for all events up to and 

including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event, identifying the critical duration. 
Easement agreement required for outfall, and no evidence has been provided that this has 
been considered or will be granted. Evidence from Thames Water for approval to connect 
into Thames Water Surface Water Network is needed. 

 
5.2.4 Depth and cover levels of attenuation required to be indicated on plan. All invert levels to be 

indicated on plan. It is not currently possible to undertake a technical assessment of the 
proposed strategy with the level of detail provided. Detailed cross-sectional drawings of all 
surface water drainage features are to be provided. Attenuation requirements appear to be 
based on Kent LLFA requirements as opposed to HCC Local Standards.  

 
5.2.5 The FRA states the gravity outfall from Storm Cell B but then pumped outfall from the parking 

area, Storm Cell A. There is no information on the plan or justification in the FRA as to why a 
gravity solution cannot be achieved, due to lack of detail on Drawing PH-20121-100C – 
Indicative Surface Water Drainage Layout. Post development mitigated surface water flow 
paths in the event of exceedance or failure of the system should be annotated on plan. 
Sacrificial areas for temporary surface water ponding should be identified noting extent and 
depth. 

Page 58



- 5 - 

5.2.6 As such, the information provided to date does not provide a suitable basis for an 
assessment to be made of the flood risks arising from the proposed development. We 
therefore object to the grant of planning permission and recommend refusal. 

 
5.3 Thames Water 
 
5.3.1 With regard to surface water drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the developer 

follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we would have no objection. 
With regard to foul water sewerage network infrastructure capacity, we would not have any 
objection to the planning application, based on the information provided.  

 
5.4 Affinity Water 
 
5.4.1 We currently object to the application and require the submission of an intrusive ground 

investigation in order for us to reconsider our position. This is due to the sites historical use 
and the potential for ground contamination to be present. This will need to assess ground 
conditions of the site in relation to the chalk aquifer and our nearby public water abstraction 
as receptors of potential pollution. Our concerns include the mobilisation of existing ground 
pollution through foundation construction (i.e. Piling), and surface water infiltration methods. 
An intrusive investigation should inform the best methods to reduce these risks.  

 
5.4.2 Objections can be overcome through the imposition of conditions relating to contamination, 

contamination during construction, and infiltration.  
 
5.4.3 Water efficiency – being within a water stressed area, we expect that the development 

includes water efficient fixtures and fittings. Measures such as rainwater harvesting and grey 
water recycling help the environment by reducing pressure for abstractions in chalk stream 
catchments. They also minimise potable water use be reducing the amount of potable water 
used for washing, cleaning and watering gardens. This in turn reduces carbon emissions 
associated with treating this water to a standard suitable for drinking, and will help In ours 
efforts to get emissions down in the borough.  

 
5.5 Environmental Health 
 
5.5.1 A significant number of concerns arise and whilst responses are made to most they are 

simply defending procedures that are recognised as incorrect, erroneous and in certain 
respects misleading. In this review I have highlighted the main issues which require a fresh 
and full analysis including: 
a) Inappropriate application of an erroneous hybrid method of assessment, contrary to 

guidance and the science relating to impact from noise with specific character; 
b) The assessment of low frequency noise as a separate form of impact in terms or 

resulting internal levels assessed against NANR45 and with windows and doors 
open; 

c) Wholly insufficient consideration of the NPPF 2021 Paragraph 187 and the avoidance 
of constraint on commercial enterprises in the wider context of how that applies to 
permitted rights and uses and non-planning constraints; 

d) There is incorrect and insufficient assessment of commercial noise through the 
application of BS4142:2014, including the lower background sound levels that will 
result post development; 

e) Reliability of the noise modelling presented which is questioned and rejected as not 
sufficiently accurate. 

 
5.5.2 There remains a requirement for a far more detailed analysis applying the guidance as 

intended to enable a better assessment of the noise risks and mitigation needed to address 
it. These are not capable of being left to a reserved matters stage as any condition cannot 
undermine the enterprise approved and it is considered major conflicts remain that likely 
require aspects of design to be revisited.  

Page 59



- 6 - 

 
5.6 Hertfordshire County Council Growth and Infrastructure 
 
5.6.1 Primary Education – towards the new 2FE primary school in Stevenage Town Centre 

£500,593 (build and land costs) index linked to BCIS 1Q2020. It is reasonable that the land 
costs for the primary school are proportioned to those developments which are being 
mitigated by it, 0.11FE originates from this development, this is 5.5% of the new 2FE primary 
school. As 5.5% of the primary education need is arising from this development it is 
reasonable to increase the primary education contribution to include 5.5% of the land costs.  

 
5.6.2 It should be noted that in a number of recent instances HCC have received land from 

developers, towards school provision, at nil value as without the facilities provided by the 
school expansion the development would not have been viable. The SG1 application has 
valued the land for educational use at approximately £35,000 per acre (so approximately 
£86,450 per hectare, £25,000 x 2.47). 

 
5.6.3 The school site in question is 0.6159 hectares, therefore, the value of the land is £53,245 

(£86,450 x 0.6159). Therefore, with 0.11FE of the 2FE school arising from this development, 
5.5% of the land costs are apportioned to this development which is £2,928. 

 
5.6.4 This development is situated within Stevenage’s CIL Zone 1 and as such must pay the 

appropriate CIL charge. Notwithstanding this, we reserve the right to seek Community 
Infrastructure Levy contributions towards the provision of infrastructure as outlined in your 
Infrastructure Funding Statement through the appropriate channels.  

 
5.6.5 Monitoring Fees – HCC will charge monitoring fees. These will be based on the number of 

triggers within each legal agreement with each distinct trigger point attracting a charge of 
£340 (adjusted for inflation against RPI 1Q2021), with fees also required for work monitoring 
the land transfer of school sites in legal agreements. For further information on monitoring 
fees please see section 5.5 of the Guide to Developer Infrastructure Contributions.  

 
5.7 Hertfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue 
 
5.7.1 Any approval will require a condition for the provision and installation of fire hydrant(s) at no 

cost to the County, or Fire and Rescue Service. This is to ensure that there are sufficient 
water supplies, with the pressure and flow rate required for a 15 storey building available for 
use in the event of an emergency.  

 
5.8 Hertfordshire County Council Minerals and Waste 
 
5.8.1 In determining the planning application the Borough Council is urged to have due regard to 

the policies of the Hertfordshire County Council Waste Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document 2012 which forms part of the 
Development Plan. Many of the policy requirements can be met through the imposition of 
planning conditions. 

 
5.9 National Grid Plant 
 
5.9.1 We have no objection to this proposal from a planning perspective; however an informative 

should be imposed on any decision notice to prevent damage to our assets or interference 
with our rights.  

 
5.10 Sport England 
 
5.10.1 The proposed development does not fall within either our statutory remit, or non-statutory 

remit, therefore Sport England does not wish to provide a detailed response in this case. 
 

Page 60

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-and-planning/planning/developer-infrastructure-contributions-guide/guide-to-developer-infrastructure-contributions.pdf


- 7 - 

5.11 Health and Safety Executive 
 
5.11.1 A Fire Strategy Statement has been submitted as part of the application but the HSE has 

requested a Fire Statement, different to a Fire Strategy Statement, to accord with new 
regulations for high rise buildings. A Fire Statement has been provided and received by the 
HSE. Any update from HSE will be provided at the meeting.   

 
5.12 Natural England 
 
5.12.1 Natural England has no comments to make on this application.  
 
5.13 UK Power Network 
 
5.13.1 The proposed development is in close proximity to one of our substation and we have the 

following observations to make: if the proposed works are located within 6m of the 
substation, then they are notifiable under the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. The applicant should 
provide details of the proposed works and liaise with the Company to ensure that appropriate 
protective measures and mitigation solutions are agreed in accordance with the Act. 

 
5.13.2 Our engineering guidelines state that the distance between a dwelling or two or more 

storey’s with living or bedroom windows overlooking a distribution substation should be a 
minimum of ten metres if the transformer is outdoor, seven metres if the transformer has a 
GRP surround or one metre if the transformer is enclosed in a brick building. It is a 
recognized fact that transformers emit a low level hum which can cause annoyance to 
nearby properties. This noise is mainly airborne in origin and is more noticeable during the 
summer months when people tend to spend more time in their gardens and sleep with open 
windows.  

 
5.13.3 A problem can also occur when footings of buildings are too close to substation enclosures. 

Vibration from the transformer can be transmitted through the ground and into the walls of 
adjacent buildings. In practice there is little that can be done to alleviate these problems after 
the event. We therefore offer advice as follows –  

 1. The distance between buildings and substations should be greater than seven metres or 
as far as is practically possible. 

 2. Care should be taken to ensure that footings of new buildings are kept separated from 
substation structures. 

 3. Buildings should be designed so that rooms of high occupancy, i.e. bedrooms and living 
rooms, do not overlook or have windows opening out over the substation.  

 
5.14 Hertfordshire and Middlesex Wildlife Trust 
 
5.14.1 Integrated swift boxes should form part of the biodiversity enhancements for this site. This 

development should deliver a minimum of 40 habibat or manthorpe type swift boxes within 
the brickwork of the building to ensure a continued nesting resource for these declining birds, 
who are entirely dependent on human habitation for reproduction. 

 
5.15 Crime Prevention Officer 
 
5.15.1 No comments received at the time of drafting this report. 
 
5.16 NHS East of England Ambulance Service 

 
5.16.1 In its capacity as a healthcare and emergency service EEAST has identified that the 

development will give rise to a need for additional healthcare provision to mitigate impacts 
arising from this development and other proposed developments in the local area.  

 

Page 61



- 8 - 

 Table 1 Capital Cost calculation of additional health services arising from the development 
proposal 

Additional Population Growth  
(226 dwellings)1  

Rate2 Ambulance 
Cost3 

Total 

520 0.14 £675 £52,630 

 
  
5.17 Stevenage Borough Council Planning Policy 

 
5.17.1 The proposed development would fit within the context of the town centre regeneration plans, 

has proposed a combination of strategies to reduce its operational emissions, will provide a 
minimal amount of car parking appropriate to its sustainable location within the town centre, 
and plans to provide the communal indoor and outdoor space typical of a BTR development. 
The proposed development would support town centre regeneration aims address gaps in 
housing provision (lack of smaller homes and BTR homes) within Stevenage and create a 
population of residents likely to patronise town centre businesses. The recent amendments 
made to the application following consultation with SBC officers, such as the reduction in 
height, provision of units at Discount Market Rent and solar shading, will ensure sufficient 
environmental and social sustainability required for approval. 

 
5.18 Stevenage Borough Council Highways 
 
5.18.1 No comments received at time of drafting this report. 
 
5.19 Stevenage Borough Council Town Centre Management 
 
5.19.1 No comments received at time of drafting this report. 
 
5.20 Stevenage Borough Council CCTV Team 
 
5.20.1 No comments received at time of drafting this report. 
 
 
 
5.21 Stevenage Borough Council Strategic Housing 
 
5.21.1 No comments received at time of drafting this report. 
 
5.22 Stevenage Borough Council Regeneration 
 
5.22.1 It is difficult to understand how the development integrates with the wider town centre, with poor 

pedestrian access to the town centre/station. 
 
5.23 NHS East and North Herts CCG 
 
5.23.1 The patients arising from this development will directly impact the Stevenage Town Centre GP 

practices known as the King George Group & the Stanmore Medical group. Neither group will have 
the capacity to absorb the additional requirement for general medical services (GMS) should the 
226 dwelling application be successful, and the dwellings built. Whilst this application is considered 
in isolation the CCG has to consider and plan for all growth arising from developments in the area. 
This development alone will give rise to a shortfall in GMS capacity. East and North Herts Clinical 
Commissioning Group propose to focus the S106 monies in relation to this application on the 
expansion, reconfigurations and refurbishment to current clinical standards of practice premises 
under the King George Group and the Stanmore Medical Group. 

 

Page 62



- 9 - 

5.23.2 It is important that the Primary Care estate is ready in advance of the increase in patients arising 
from developments such as this. The CCG requests trigger points of the 50th, 100th, 150th & 200th 
dwellings. S106 funding is ultimately the only source of funding that can support realisation of this 
premises project. The CCG also requests the right to retrospective funding be reflected in the 
S106 agreement. 

 
5.23.3 As well as the importance of a 106 contribution for GMS, it is also vital to consider the impact of 

developments and additional residents on community, mental and acute healthcare. In relation to 
this particular scheme there is no request for developer contributions for acute healthcare. 

 
5.24 Urban Design Consultant 
 
5.24.1 In my opinion, the proposed scheme is overdevelopment of the site but could be greatly 

improved by a modest reduction in the number of units and, with it, some remodelling to the 
external envelope of the building.  The form has been arranged such that the impact of the 
massing is reduced but the taller elements (the book ends) still dominate. The scheme 
provides a generous south facing amenity space at podium level which is welcome and the 
applicants have demonstrated how the ground floor could be activated in areas to make the 
main pedestrian routes more attractive for users.  

 
5.24.2 The architectural treatment is well considered in relation to the clues from the original 

designs for Stevenage town centre and how that has been applied to the building. There 
are concerns about the number of north and south facing single aspect flats which will not 
provide accommodation following best practice given climate change. The transformation 
of the underpass is a welcome addition to the pedestrian and cycle network of the town.  

  

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  
 
6.1         Background to the Development Plan 

6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the decision 
on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory development plan 
comprises: 

 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
6.2 Central Government Advice 

 
6.2.1     A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021. This 

largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the NPPF albeit with 
some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in the Local Plan are in 
conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should be considered up to date 
for the purpose of determining planning applications. The NPPF provides that proposals 
which accord with an up to date development plan should be approved without delay 
(para.11) and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date development 
plan, permission should not usually be granted (para.12). This indicates the weight which 
should be given to an up to date development plan, reflecting the requirements of section 
38(6) of the 2004 Act.   

 
6.2.2     Since November 2018, housing delivery has been measured against the Housing Delivery 

Test (HDT) as set out by the Government planning policy and guidance. The results of the 
HDT dictate whether a local planning authority should be subject to consequences to help 

Page 63



- 10 - 

increase their housing delivery. Where an authority’s HDT score is less than 85% of its 
housing requirement, the Council must incorporate a 20% buffer into its housing supply 
calculations in line with paragraph 73 of the NPPF. Where an authority’s score is below 75%, 
the Council will be subject to the HDT’s most severe penalty and must apply the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development. The latest HDT results, published by the Ministry of 
Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (now the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities) in January 2022, identifies that Stevenage delivered 79% 
of its housing requirement in 2021. This is above the 75% target, but still less than 85%. 
Consequently, Stevenage Borough Council must include the 20% buffer in its 5 year housing 
land supply calculations, which it already does.  

 
6.2.3     The Council also has to prepare an Action Plan to show how it is responding to the challenge 

of ensuring more homes are delivered in the Borough. It will have to be prepared in 
accordance with Planning Practice Guidance and analyse the reasons for under-delivery of 
new homes against the Government’s requirements. It also has to set out clear actions on 
how to improve housing delivery. Consequently, Stevenage Borough Council is considering 
its position in relation to preparing an action plan to enhance housing supply on deliverable 
sites.  

 
6.2.4     In terms of 5 year land supply, the Council recently published the Five Year Land Supply 

Update (August 2021) which reveals that Stevenage had a 5.85 year supply of housing. A 
copy of the statement is found on:  
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/five-year-housing-land-
supply-position-statement-august-2021.pdf 

 
6.2.5     However, since the Land West of Lytton Way (APP/K1935/W/20/3255692) appeal decision 

has been quashed by a High Court Consent Order, the Council will need to prepare an 
updated 5 year land supply report. The latest data shows that Stevenage can demonstrate a 
5.37 year supply of housing which includes a 20% buffer.  Updated data from strategic 
housing sites is still to be incorporated in the latest 5 year housing supply calculations, before 
an updated Five Year Land Supply Position Statement is published.  Officers are working to 
update the Five Year Land Supply Position Statement (last published August 2021 – see 
paragraph 6.2.4) and intend to publish this updated statement as soon as is practicable. 

 
6.2.6    The Council will also be commencing preliminary work into a potential review of its Local 

Plan, last adopted in May 2019.  This is to ensure the polices within the Local Plan are up to 
date in accordance with the NPPF as well as ensuing the Council is delivering a sufficient 
supply of housing and employment.  

  
6.3 Planning Practice Guidance 

 
The PPG contains guidance supplementing the NPPF and with which Members are fully 
familiar.  The PPG is a material consideration to be taken into account together with the 
National Design Guide (2019) which has the same status as the PPG. 

 
6.4 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 

 
 SP1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

SP2  Sustainable Development in Stevenage  
SP4  A Vital Town Centre 
SP5  Infrastructure 
SP6  Sustainable Transport 
SP7  High Quality Homes 
SP8  Good Design 
SP11  Climate Change, Flooding and Pollution 
TC1  Town Centre 
TC6  Northgate Major Opportunity Area 

Page 64

https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/five-year-housing-land-supply-position-statement-august-2021.pdf
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/five-year-housing-land-supply-position-statement-august-2021.pdf


- 11 - 

TC7  Marshgate Major Opportunity Area 
TC8  Town Centre Shopping Area 
IT3  Infrastructure 
IT4  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 
IT5  Parking and Access 
IT6  Sustainable Transport 
IT7  New and Improved Links for Pedestrians and Cyclists 
HO5  Windfall Sites 
HO7  Affordable Housing Targets 
HO8  Affordable Housing Tenure, Mix and Design 
HO9  House Types and Sizes 
HO11  Accessible and Adaptable Housing 
HC8  Sporting facilities in new developments 
GD1  High Quality Design 
FP1  Climate Change 
FP2  Flood Risk in Flood Zone 1 
FP5   Contaminated Land 
FP7  Pollution 
FP8  Pollution Sensitive Uses 
NH3  Green Corridors 
NH5  Trees and Woodland 
NH7  Open Space Standards 
 

6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents  
 Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD (2020) 
 Developer Contributions SPD (March 2021) 
 Impact of Development on Biodiversity SPD (March 2021) 

 
6.6 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule in 

2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects based on the 
type, location and floorspace of a development. The proposal would fall within ‘all other 
development’ of the respective charging schedule table along with ‘Residential’. This would 
mean the scheme is liable for CIL.   

  

7. APPRAISAL  
 
7.1.1  The main issues for consideration in the determination of this application are its acceptability 

in land use policy terms, CIL and S106, design, layout and impact on the character and 
appearance of the area, impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties, amenities of future 
occupiers, noise, impact on the highway network, access, parking, drainage and flooding, 
trees, landscaping, biodiversity, air quality and contamination.  

 
7.1.2   Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

7.2  Land Use Policy Considerations  

7.2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 states at paragraph 7 that the 
purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. The NPPF also stipulates that decisions should play an active role in guiding 
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances 
into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area. In addition, the 

Page 65



- 12 - 

Framework also sets out that sustainable development needs to be pursued in a positive way 
and at the heart of the framework is a "presumption in favour of sustainable development". 

 
7.2.2 Paragraph 62 of the NPPF 2021 requires that the planning system should deliver, a mix of 

housing particularly in terms of tenure and price to support a wide variety of households in all 
areas. Paragraph 68 of the NPPF states that planning policies should identify a supply of 
specific deliverable sites for years one to five of the plan period, and specific deliverable sites 
or broad locations for growth, for years 6 to 10 and where possible, for years 11 to 15.  

 
7.2.3 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF stipulates that planning policies and decisions should promote 

the effective use of land in meeting the need for homes such as through the use of 
brownfield sites (previously developed land) and the development of underutilised land. The 
site is previously developed and would meet this objective.  

 
7.2.4 Paragraph 74 of the NPPF stipulates that strategic policies should include a trajectory 

illustrating the expected rate of housing delivery over the plan period, and all plans should 
consider whether it is appropriate to set out the anticipated rate of development for specific 
sites. Local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their 
housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing need 
where the strategic policies are more than five years old. The supply of specific deliverable 
sites should in addition include a buffer (moved forward from later in the plan period) of: 

 
a) 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or  
b) 10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable sites through an annual position statement or recently adopted plan, to account 
for any fluctuations in the market during that year; or 
c) 20% where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the previous three 
years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply. 

 
7.2.5 The Borough Council, since the publication of the latest HDT results as discussed in 

Paragraph 6.2.2 above has an identified delivery of 79% of housing, which is now above the 
75%, although still less than the 85% limit. Consequently, Stevenage Borough Council must 
include the 20% buffer in its 5 year housing land supply calculations, which it already does. 
Therefore, it can be deduced that the Council can currently demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing and that there currently no longer the “presumption in favour” penalty due to the 
increase in housing supply (housing developments being delivered) within the Borough.  

 

7.2.6   The site sits on the northern edge of the Town Centre as identified by Policy TC1 Town 
Centre. The site also sits within the Northgate Major Opportunity Area under Policy TC6 and 
in close proximity of the Marshgate Major Opportunity Area under Policy TC7. The 
requirements for each MOA are as listed below –  

  Policy TC6 
  a.  High-density Use Class C3 residential units; 
  b.  New Use Class B1(a) office premises; 

   c.  New Use Class A1, A3 and A4 shop, bar, restaurant and café uses; 
   d.  Replacement Use Class A1 major foodstore; 
   e.  New multi-storey or basement car parking; 
 f.  Replacement cycle and pedestrian footbridge between Ditchmore Land and Swingate; 

and 
   g.  Signature public spaces. 
 
   Policy TC7 
   a. High-density Use Class C3 residential units; 
   b.  New Use Class D1 and D2 leisure, cultural and civic uses; 
   c. New Use Class A1, A3 and A4 shop, bar, restaurant and café uses: and 
   d.  New multi-storey or basement car parking. 

Page 66



- 13 - 

 
7.2.7  The site is in a highly sustainable location being located within the Stevenage Central zone, 

with the train station and bus interchange in close proximity. The accessibility of the site is 
somewhat hampered by the fact it is land locked with private sites, including Tesco and The 
Forum. However, access can still be achieved to the north via the underpass and bridge 
connecting to Ditchmore Lane. The underpass would lead to The Forum site to the east via 
the second underpass under Fairlands Way, which in turn would lead to the town centre. 
Furthermore, access can be gained via the Tesco site and when this MOA comes forward for 
development a connection can be proposed at this point to increase access by foot and cycle 
for users of this development.  

 

7.2.8  The underpass due north of the site is in the ownership of the site and forms part of the red 
line plan for this application. It is proposed to carry out upgrade works to the lighting and also 
include some artwork within the underpass to make it more attractive and useable. This 
coincides with one of the priorities for Policy TC7 Marshgate where the northern underpass 
linking to Town Centre Gardens is earmarked for public realm improvements. Works to the 
site underpass are therefore welcomed. 

 
7.2.9  The former office outlet building is not designated retail frontage because of its more isolated 

position to the north of the Forum and pedestrianised area of the Town Centre. As such, a 
Retail Impact Assessment is not considered necessary in this case. Some level of commercial 
floorspace is retained and accords with Policy TC8 providing an active frontage along with the 
Build to Rent floor space providing communal areas for residents.   

 
7.2.10   Paragraph 85 of the NPPF also states that LPA’s should recognise that residential 

development can play an important role in ensuring the vitality of centres and that residential 
development should be encouraged on the appropriate sites. Therefore this residential led 
scheme is acceptable in principle. In respect of the residential element, both MOAs allows for 
high density residential development and therefore the proposal 9 and 13 storey blocks are 
acceptable in principle.     

  
7.2.11  Policy HO9 requires that residential schemes provide an appropriate range of market and 

affordable house types and sizes taking into account structural imbalances in the existing 
housing stock, the housing needs of the Borough, the location and accessibility of the 
application site and recent completions, existing permissions and sites in the five-year land 
supply. The Local Plan makes it clear that there is a specific need to increase the number of 
smaller homes and apartments that are available, although it is noted that with the recent 
BHS application and Town Centre SG1 outline permission these will provide predominantly 
one and two bedroom units also.  

 
7.2.12  The proposed development would provide 162 no. one bedroom, 50 no. two bedroom and 12 

no. three bedroom units. Whilst a larger number of one bedroom units are proposed, the mix 
is considered to be policy compliant in respect of HO9. Furthermore, the proposed units 
would be policy compliant in terms of Policy HO11 Accessible and adaptable housing.  

 
7.2.13  The proposal would provide the whole site as Build to Rent (BTR). The NPPF Glossary 

identifies build-to-rent as “purpose built housing that is typically 100% rented out. It can form 
part of a wider multi-tenure development comprising either flats or houses, but should be on 
the same site and/or contiguous with the main development. Schemes will usually offer longer 
tenancy agreements of three years or more, and will typically be professionally managed 
stock in single ownership and management control.” 

 
7.2.14  The Local Plan (2019) does not refer to any need for, nor requirements of, build-to-rent 

schemes across the Borough as identified in the OAN assessment which forms the evidence 
base to the Local Plan. Notwithstanding this, the provision of build-to-rent units in the town 
centre is not unacceptable as a result of this. The proposed redevelopment of the site for 

Page 67



- 14 - 

residential led development is considered acceptable in principle from a land use policy 
context.  

 

7.3  CIL and S106  

 S106 
 
7.3.1 Chapter 5 of the NPPF clearly outlines the need for affordable housing (AH) and suggests a 

minimum of 10% AH on any major development site. At local level, Policy HO7 of the 
adopted Local Plan stipulates a target level of 25% on previously developed sites. Policy 
HO7 continues that “planning permission will only be granted where these targets are not at 
least achieved unless: 

 
a) Developers robustly demonstrate that the target cannot be achieved due to site-specific 
constraints resulting in higher than normal costs, which affect its viability; or 

 
b) Meeting the requirements would demonstrably and significantly compromise other policy 
objectives”. 

 
7.3.2 Turning to affordable housing tenure, mix and design Policy HO8 of the same document 

states that where affordable housing is secured through Policy HO7, planning permission 
would be granted where those dwellings: 

 
A. Are provided by the developer on site with at least 70% of the units being for rent and the 
remainder consisting of other tenures which is to be agreed with the Council’s Housing 
Team; 
B. Meets the requirements of Policy HO9 (house types and sizes); 
C. Are physically indistinguishable from other types and homes and are distributed across 
the site to avoid over concentration in particular; and 
D. Will remain at an affordable price for future eligible households. 

 
7.3.3 The proposal, as submitted, would provide 224 units, 162no. one bed, 50no. two bed and 

12no. three bed flats. This would equate to a total of 56 (25%) units being required to be 
affordable for a market housing scheme. Furthermore, in accordance with Policy HO8, 70% 
of the 25% affordable units should be for affordable rent, which rounded up, would be 40 
units. 

 
7.3.4 However, the scheme currently seeks to deliver 100% Build-to-Rent units, as such, the 

adopted Local Plan (2019) does not refer to any need for, nor requirements of, build-to-rent 
schemes across the Borough as identified in the OAN assessment which forms the evidence 
base to the Local Plan. Consequently, the Council does not have a specific policy on 
affordable housing for such developments in the adopted Local Plan. Given this, reference is 
made to the NPPF (2021) and associated Planning Practice Guidance which set out that 
affordable housing for build to rent schemes should be provided by default in the form of 
affordable private rent, a class of affordable housing specifically designed for build-to-rent 
developments. 

7.3.5 The Planning Practice Guidance advises that 20% is generally a suitable benchmark for the 
level of affordable private rent homes to be provided (and maintained in perpetuity) in any 
build to rent scheme. The policy also requires a minimum rent discount of 20% for affordable 
private rent homes relative to local market rents. Thus, for the purposes of viability and 
consideration of the proposal before the Council, the affordable housing requirement of the 
development is 20%. Furthermore, the guidance on viability permits developers, in exception, 
the opportunity to make a case seeking to differ from this benchmark. 

7.3.6 The application was accompanied by a Viability Study (prepared by Turner Morum, August 
2021) which has been reviewed by Apsinall Verdi, as an independent Assessor appointed by 

Page 68



- 15 - 

the Council. The assessment prepared by the applicant identified that there was a 
development deficit of £16,236,849 based on a benchmark land value of £3.17m. The 
Council’s viability consultant undertook a comprehensive assessment looking firstly at a 
policy compliant market housing scheme scenario of 25% affordable housing. The scenario 
consisted of 45no. on site affordable private rent units (at 80% of market rent). This was 
shown to be unviable, generating a deficit of circa. £5,280,000. This is predominantly 
explained by the lower-passing revenues generated by the affordable units. (See Table 7-1 
below. Source: Aspinall Verdi viability review). 

 

 
 

7.3.7 In the second scenario, an assessment of the development as an entirely private 
development was undertaken to determine whether the proposal was viable without any 
affordable housing. This scenario generates a reduced deficit of circa £4,320,000m, below 
the benchmark land value, again remaining commercially unviable (See Table 7-2 below. 
Source: Aspinall Verdi viability appraisal). The Council’s assessors have consequently 
advised that a viability review mechanism be implemented within the S106 agreement to 
allow the Council to benefit from any favourable uplifts in viability. 

 

 
 

7.3.8 The sensitivity analysis carried out by Aspinall Verdi demonstrates how the viability of the 
scheme can change subject to adjustments to appraisal inputs – notably the sales values 
and construction costs. With increases in sales values of 7.5% and decreases in construction 
costs by the same amount, the scheme becomes viable with a surplus of circa. £1.66m. 

 
7.3.9 In addition to affordable housing, Hertfordshire County Council have made requests for 

monies outside of the CIL regulations relating to Primary Education and Travel Plan 
monitoring. Whilst education is typically funded through CIL, as part of the wider Town 
Centre regeneration in Stevenage a new primary school is being provided and all town 
centre developments are being targeted to provide some funding towards this essential 
provision, as outlined in the Council’s Developer Contributions SPD (2020). Therefore, this 
development should provide a contribution of £500,593 towards the primary school provision 
based on build and land costs. 

 
7.3.10 Furthermore, the local highways authority has requested £12,000 to pay for the monitoring of 

two Travel Plans required as part of the redevelopment of the site. Lastly, in terms of 
financial contributions the NHS East Ambulance Services and NHS East and North Herts 
Clinical Commissioning Group have requested monies towards GP provision (£268,482), 
mental health care (£86,960) and existing healthcare and ambulance service provision 
(£52,630). 

 

Page 69



- 16 - 

7.3.11 The viability appraisal carried out on behalf of the Council fully considered the requirements 
of CIL at approx. £724,325 and S106 financial obligations to the cost of £617,391 (those 
received and provided as part of the appraisal instruction). For note, this figure does not 
include the requests made by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group which was provided 
too late as part of the viability appraisal. The full list of requirements is shown below. 

 
 

Hertfordshire County Council 

Primary Education – Towards the new primary 
school proposed in Stevenage Town Centre 

Financial contribution of 
£500,593.00 
 

Travel Plan and Monitoring Fee Per Travel Plan £12,000.00 
 

S106 Monitoring Fee £340.00 per trigger point 

Stevenage Borough Council 

S106 Monitoring Fee £750.00 

NHS England and East & North Herts CCG 

GMS GP Provision 
Mental Health Provision 
Existing Services and Ambulance Provision 
 

£268,482.00 
£86,960.00  
£52,630.00 

Total £921,755.00 
 

NOTE:- All financial obligations would be index linked.  

 
 

7.3.12 Further to the outcomes of the viability appraisal the applicant has proposed a provision of 
10% affordable housing on site, along with a commitment to pay the contributions as 
assessed in the viability assessment, a total of £617,391 S106 contributions and the CIL 
payment required (see later section in report 7.3.16). The financial contributions would be 
used to pay the requested items in the following order based on officer recommendation –  
1. Primary education;  
2. Travel plan monitoring; and then  
3. NHS funding with a priority to GP provision.  

 
7.3.13 Focusing on “Build to Rent”, the definition in the Framework glossary states that build to rent 

developers will normally offer longer tenancy agreements of 3 years or more to all new 
tenants who want one. These are generally known as ‘family friendly tenancies’ as they 
provide longer term security and stability for those who wish to settle down within a 
community.  

 
7.3.14 In order to secure a Build to Rent scheme which is in accordance with this definition, it is 

recommended a clause is added to the S.106 agreement to ensure scheme operators offer 
tenancies of 3 or more years to all tenants in the development. However, tenants will be able 
to opt for shorter tenancies such as 6 months, 1 year or 2 years if they wish, as the obligation 
to offer 3 year tenancies will lie with the scheme operator. There would also be a restrictive 
covenant imposed to the build to rent scheme as well which would be secured in the legal 
agreement 

 
7.3.15 In relation to development viability and the under provision in affordable housing, the 

applicant agreed to the use of a viability review mechanism, as recommended by the 
Council’s viability assessor, which will be included in the S.106 agreement. The exercise will 
include re-consideration of the following inputs based on actual data and prevailing market 
conditions at the time:-  

 Residential sales values;  

 PRS rents and yields;  

Page 70



- 17 - 

  Commercial rents and yields;  

  Construction costs;  

  Professional fees;  

  Marketing and disposal costs; and  

  Development timescales.  

 
7.3.16  The viability review will need to be reviewed by the Council’s appointed viability advisor with 

each input being scrutinised. Should it be concluded that viability has improved sufficiently to 
support affordable housing, the exact nature of affordable housing contribution will then be 
discussed with the Council. However, the Council would be looking to agree policy compliant 
levels wherever possible, including 20% provision for the scheme as a build-to-rent 
development. However, if for any reason the scheme was put forward as a market housing 
scheme the review mechanism would seek 25% provision in line with Policy HO7 where 
possible.  These additional contributions could include either financial obligations or the 
provision of additional units on-site, and this would be discussed with the Council’s Housing 
Development Team for their agreement.  

 
7.3.17 As per the viability consultants suggestion, the review will take into account actual build cots 

and value data from previous phases of the scheme, ensuring any improvements to viability 
throughout the life of the masterplan can be used for affordable housing. In parallel to 
viability, the applicant is fully committee to continue to work closely with the Council to attract 
funding and grants that will enable the maximum amount of affordable housing to be 
delivered. 

 
7.3.18 Further to the above, both Hertfordshire County Council and Stevenage Borough Council 

now seek monitoring fees for S106 agreements, as set out by HCC Growth and 
Infrastructure teams comments and the Council’s Developer Contributions SPD (2020) 
respectively. These would be covered within the agreed S106 contributions as verified in the 
viability appraisal.  

 
7.3.19 In March of this year the Council adopted their Developer Contributions SPD to set out the 

Council’s approach to the use of S106 agreements to secure developer contributions from 
new developments. One of the requirements of the SPD seeks developers of major sites to 
enter into a S106 to provide a Local Employment Strategy, attempting to employ local 
residents and provide apprenticeship opportunities. Where this is not possible, the SPD 
requires that the developer provide a financial contribution in lieu of not achieving either or 
both targets set out in the SPD.  The applicant has agreed to enter into a S.106 agreement 
to secure a Local Employment Strategy for this development. 

 
7.3.20 A further head of terms required in the S106 will be for a Management Company to be 

appointed for the development. The management company would then be responsible for 
the general running of the building, including the upkeep and maintenance of all internal and 
external amenity spaces, the underpass, parking areas, landscaping, car and cycle parking 
areas, electric vehicle charging points, zero/low carbon technologies and bin store areas and 
waste collection. Details of a general management plan and lighting strategy would be 
approved by imposition of conditions. These agreed details would then be part of the 
management company’s responsibilities as outlined above.  

 
  CIL 
 
7.3.21 The Council adopted the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2020 and the CIL 

Charging Schedule specifies a payment for new floorspace in line with the following rates 
(plus appropriate indexation): 

 
 

Development Type CIL Rate (£ per square metre) 

Page 71



- 18 - 

 Zone 1: Stevenage Central, 
Stevenage West Urban 
Extension and North of 
Stevenage Extension 

Zone 2: Everywhere else 

Residential  

Market housing £40/m2 £100/m2 

Sheltered housing £100/m2 

Extra care housing £40/m2 

Retail development £60/m2 

All other development £0/m2 

 
As a major development the scheme would be liable for CIL based on the above rates for 
both residential and retail in this case.  

 
7.3.22 Based on the Council’s viability appraisal as carried out by Aspinall Verdi, the CIL 

requirements for this development will be approximately £724,325.00. A CIL liability notice 
would be issued once planning permission is granted (subject to the Planning and 
Development Committee approving this application).  

 
7.3.23 The reason why the aforementioned is an approximate/estimate is because the CIL liability is 

generally calculated once planning permission is granted and whether or not any exemptions 
are to be applied (e.g. there is no CIL liability for affordable homes so CIL liability is reduced). 

 
7.3.24 With regards to how the CIL monies are spent, the ultimate decision lies with Stevenage 

Borough Council and the allocation of funding amount of £75,000 or over will rest with the 
Planning and Development Committee. Service providers who would not receive 
contributions through the Section 106 agreement for this development, including but not 
limited to those at Hertfordshire County Council and Stevenage Borough Council, will be able 
to bid for funding in due course.  

   
7.4 Design, Layout and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
 
 Policy background 
 
7.4.1 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality, beautiful and 

sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve”. It goes on to state that “good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities”. 

 
7.4.2  Paragraph 130 of the NPPF sets out a number of requirements for new development, 

including that development: 
 

 will function well and add to the overall quality of an area; 

 is visually attractive as a result of good architecture; layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping; 

 is sympathetic to local character and history; 

 establishes or maintains a strong sense of place; 

 optimises the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 
mix of development; 

 creates places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-
being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
 

7.4.3 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF places great importance on the role of trees in helping to shape 
quality, well designed places “Trees make an important contribution to the character and 
quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate change”. 

Page 72



- 19 - 

 
7.4.4 Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that applicants “should work closely with those affected 

by their proposals to evolve designs that take into account of the views of the community. 
Applications that can demonstrate early, proactive and effective engagement with the 
community should be looked on more favourably than those that cannot”. 

 
7.4.5 Policy SP8 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) requires new development to achieve the 

highest standards of design and sustainability which can deliver substantial improvements to 
the image and quality of the town’s built fabric. Policy GD1 of the Local Plan generally 
requires all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which includes form of 
built development, elevational treatment and materials along with how the development 
would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between buildings, landscape design 
and relevant aspects of sustainable design.  

 
7.4.6 The National Design Guide (2019) which was published by National Government is a 

material consideration in the determination of planning applications. It sets out that Buildings 
are an important component of places and proposals for built development are a focus of the 
development management system. However, good design involves careful attention to other 
important components of places. These include:  

 

 the context for places and buildings; 

 hard and soft landscape; 

 technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and 

 social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities. 
 

7.4.7 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 
materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at all 
levels, including:  

 

 the layout;  

 the form and scale of buildings; 

 their appearance; 

 landscape;  

 materials; and 

 their detailing.  
 

7.4.8 The Guide further iterates that all developments are made up of these components put 
together in a particular way.  As such, the choices made in the design process contribute 
towards achieving the ten characteristics and shape the character of a place. For reference, 
these ten characteristics are as follows:- 

 

 Context – enhances the surroundings; 

 Identity – attractive and distinctive; 

 Built form – a coherent pattern of built form; 

 Movement – accessible and easy to move around; 

 Nature – enhanced and optimised; 

 Public spaces – safe, social and inclusive; 

 Uses – mixed and integrated; 

 Homes and buildings – functional, healthy and sustainable; 

 Resources – efficient and resilient; 

 Lifespan – made to last.  
 
Proposal 

 
7.4.9 The development proposes the demolition of the existing single storey warehouse used most 

recently for office supplies sales. The square warehouse style building occupies a large 

Page 73



- 20 - 

percentage of the site with parking sited on the eastern and western edges. Access is 
directly off the western bound carriageway of Fairland’s Way and via an underpass accessed 
from the Aldi access road to the north of Fairlands Way. The site has little landscaping or 
biodiversity assets.  

 
7.4.10 The proposed building has been through pre-application discussions with officers and has 

been amended during this application following negotiations with reference to the buildings 
height. The revised proposal would see the erection of two 13 storey high towers (Reduced 
down from 15 storeys) on the eastern and western sides of the building, with a 9 storey high 
link between predominantly located toward the northern side of the site and building. To the 
south and rear above first floor is a large podium garden and outdoor amenity space for use 
by the developments residents. At ground floor a total of 161 sq.m of commercial floorspace 
is proposed in the north western corner of the building providing a dual aspect active 
frontage. The northern elevation at ground floor would be glazed and active, providing 
communal space as part of the Build to Rent provision. Further communal provision is also 
shown on the first floor and provides access to the garden podium, as well as a large 
stairwell accessed from the lower level pedestrian access to the north of the building, and the 
underpass leading from Fairlands Way. 

 
7.4.11 The remaining ground floor areas are shown as bin store provision, cycle storage, plant and 

car parking. Further car parking is provided in the existing western car park area, although 
this is re-arranged and a higher level of landscaping is proposed.   

 
7.4.12 The redevelopment of this underused site is welcomed and is ideally placed to contribute to a 

more engaging and better defined northern edge for the town centre going forward, with the 
opportunity to address the road and create a more attractive public realm. Currently the area 
between the building occupying the site and Fairlands Way feels 'left over' where pedestrians 
and cyclists are a secondary consideration to the car.  The existing context is generally low 
to medium rise with only intermittent taller buildings which are still not of the scale being 
proposed. However, and given the location, there is an opportunity for a more significant 
scale of building on this site to better define the edge of the town centre and more 
appropriately address the main road. This is reflected in the criteria of Policies TC6 and TC7 
(see paragraph 7.2.6) which seek high density residential development.  

 
7.4.13 The layout of the development, wrapping around a south facing amenity deck is positive, 

although the scale and massing as originally proposed with a 15 storey high tower on the 
western side of the building was considered excessive and overdevelopment. The reduction 
of this tower to 13 storey’s to match the eastern tower is considered an improvement and 
helps to balance the overall scale and massing of the building.  

 
7.4.14 The form and massing has developed since the initial pre-application discussions to create a 

scheme which more effectively addresses the road, and defines a south facing open space 
at podium level.  The linking block between the two tower book ends is 9 storeys in height 
which presents a robust and muscular northern edge to the development.  In itself, this north 
facing edge is clearly visible from the Stevenage Cricket and Hockey Club grounds and when 
approaching the town centre from the north.   

 
7.4.15 The location of the site creates an opportunity for a more significant architectural response, 

at 15 storeys in height onto the taller tower initially, this height was deemed excessive and as 
a whole would result in an intensity of development which would compromise the 
quality which is achievable on the site.  A reduction in the height and massing of the western 
book end from 15 storeys to 13 storeys has reduced the impact of this development on the 
surroundings and on the podium space.  The eastern book end drops to 9 storeys at its 
southern end, reducing the impact of development on the space and allowing more sunlight 
penetration in the early morning. 

 

Page 74



- 21 - 

7.4.16 The scheme has considered the legacy of the architectural approach to buildings within the 
town centre and has applied these findings to the proposed development. The proposed 
plans and Design and Access Statement illustrate how a different treatment to the elevations 
of the various elements of the scheme can help break down the bulk and massing of the 
proposals, including the framing and banding of elevations with brick and the use of 
balconies on particular certain elevations to provide interest.   

 
7.4.17 The building would largely be completed in a lighter red brick, with accent darker red and 

grey brickwork within the set back separations between the fenestration and different floors. 
The use of darker grey coloured fenestration also has a positive almost industrial look to it, 
appearing more contemporary also, with the use of lighter coloured metal balconies on 
various elevations to provide some private external amenity space. The roofs of the 9 storey 
elements are presented as roof gardens, which in addition to the first floor podium, provides 
a good level of external communal amenity space, accessible only by the residents of the 
building.  

 
7.4.18 The Podium space provides a south facing area for residents to dwell and, through the 

provision of a small play area, a space for on-site play opportunities within the 
development.  The space is a generous width (39 metres).  The landscape treatment 
provides a range of spaces for residents to enjoy including transitional spaces between the 
apartments surrounding it and the main space.  Access to the podium is via a grand flight of 
steps which links the podium to the public realm to the north and is gated.   

 
7.4.19 The articulation of the building is a key feature of its good design and the northern elevation 

is considered to create an important vista along this stretch of Fairlands Way, providing a 
clear entrance in to the town centre where higher density living is appropriate. The design of 
the building is complimented by the addition of balconies on several elevations, as well as 
Brise Soleil sun screens adding variety and interest to the architectural composition of the 
development. The design has undergone negotiation and the changes made are considered 
to result in a high quality development on this underused urban site.  

 
7.4.20 Furthermore, the proposed development seeks to enhance the existing pedestrian 

environment to the north of the site, by facilitating the existing underpass as pedestrian use 
and by creating a more pleasant thoroughfare. The ground floor level of the site is at a lower 
level than the highway. The proposed design would incorporate landscaping beds to include 
green walls in front of the highway retaining wall, along with trees, shrubs and biodiverse 
features such as bee and insect homes. Street furniture, areas of seating and street art 
would all enhance the character and appearance of the area.  

 
7.4.21 The design of the ground floor frontage of the building has evolved to add positively to this 

new pedestrian environment being created at street level. The use of full height glazing 
across the frontage width, and wrapping around the eastern and western elevations creates 
a more ‘used’ feel to the area, being inviting rather than another blank façade to walk past. 
The hard and soft landscaping will be important in this area to ensure the correct type of 
ambiance is achieved. 

 
7.5 Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Properties 

 
7.5.1 Looking then at the impact of the proposal on the amenity of neighbouring properties, there  

are no residential properties in this area of the town centre currently, although weight must 
be given to the scheme approved at the former BHS site to the south east. Aside from this, 
there are no sensitive uses that would need to be considered as part of this proposal.   

 
7.5.2 The BHS redevelopment approved the erection of an 11 storey building with flats facing 

northwards across the service yard and Fairlands Way beyond. The proposed development 
site is located north west of the BHS site and is separated by approximately 37 metres 
distance. This is measured from the nearest southern elevation of the eastern book end 

Page 75



- 22 - 

tower which at 9 storeys steps further away to approximately 45m. This accords with the 
Council’s separation distances for properties over 3 storeys in height and it is not considered 
the development of both these sites would result in a loss of privacy or outlook for either 
development.   

 
7.6 Amenity of Future Occupiers 
 
 Internal Space Standards 
 
7.6.1 The adopted Local Plan outlines prescribed space standards for new dwellings, as set out in 

the Department for Communities and Local Government (now the Department of Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities) document 'Technical housing standards - nationally 
described space standards' 2015. For one, two and three bedroom units these are shown 
below. 

 

 
 

7.6.2 The minimum internal sizes of the proposed units have been annotated on the proposed floor 
plans. Each two bedroom unit would meet the required 70 square metres, and the one 
bedroom units being a mixture of 37/39 and 50 square metres. This is considered 
acceptable.  

 
7.6.3 Room size standards for bedrooms are also considered in the technical standards, 

determining how many persons the unit can accommodate and also in terms of acceptable 
living environments. These standards state that a double bedroom should be 11.5 square 
metres minimum with a minimum width of 2.75m and that where a second (or more) 
bedroom(s) is proposed it should have a minimum of 7.5 square metres and width of 2.15m. 
A second double should be at least 2.55m wide with the same 11.5 square metres minimum 
floor space. The bedroom sizes of the proposed units meet the minimum standards. 

  
 External Amenity Space 
 

7.6.4 The Stevenage Design Guide recommends that where possible external amenity space 
should be provided. The proposal includes a podium area at first floor level, along with 
several roof top areas and external balconies/terraces to some units. The layout as proposed 
would include two smaller roof top areas for communal use, one to the north of the western 
tower and one to the west of the eastern tower. The roof top area of the 9 storey link would 
include a biodiverse garden area. At the southern end of the eastern tower, the platform area 
would provide private terrace areas for two units.   

 

Page 76



- 23 - 

7.6.5 The Design Guide requires at least 10 square metres of external amenity space per flat unit. 
The total amenity space available for future residents has been equated as 2466 square 
metres, although this does include a provision of 576 square metres of internal amenity 
space within the communal areas which are common of BTR schemes. Therefore a total of 
1890 square metres of external amenity space is being provided. This is 350 square metres 
short of the 2240 square metres required (224 units x 10 sq. m per unit). On balance, given 
the quality of the open space being provided, and the town centre location with public 
amenity space nearby at King Georges Recreation Ground, the under provision of 350 
square metres is considered acceptable in this case.  

 
  Separation Distance, Privacy and Outlook 
 
7.6.6 The Council’s adopted Design Guide and Appendix C of the adopted Local Plan set out the 

acceptable separation distances between new residential developments, in terms of privacy 
and outlook. 

 

 
 
7.6.7 The above standards do fit more comfortably when referring to dwellinghouses but must still 

be considered when assessing flatted developments. It is noted that flat block developments 
are likely to be set in more restricted and closer range proximities than a typical 
dwellinghouse development. It would be the internal facing flats that would need to ensure 
adequate privacy and prevention of overlooking. The eastern elevation of the western block 
directing views towards the western elevation of the eastern book end has a separation 
distance of approximately 39m. This exceeds the requirement as noted above and is 
therefore acceptable.  

 
7.6.8 The relationship of those units facing southwards off the middle link block would at the 

corners be in close proximity of neighbouring units. However, at an acute right angle, the 
internal layouts have taken account of this and have good separation from habitable room 
windows, in particular those with balconies. On balance, the high density nature of this town 
centre scheme is such that the layout of the flats is not considered to propose unacceptable 
relationships between units such that the scheme would warrant a refusal.   

 
  Internal Layouts 
 

Page 77



- 24 - 

7.6.9 The scheme has evolved such that the northern elevation includes projections and set-backs 
in the façade to create double aspect units, with western and eastern elevations created on 
the northern units. Furthermore, all corner units would be dual-aspect also. There would be 
some element of units that are single aspect, although the number of northern single aspect 
units is minimal. Further alterations to reduce this number or provide more dual aspect units 
would unduly affect the overall layout of each floor. The scheme has been amended to 
include the use of Brise Soleil on the southern facing elevations to help with the thermals of 
the southern facing units. 

 
7.6.10 The number of apartments per floor accessed from a single core was raised as an issue by 

the Council’s Urban Design consultant. The London Housing Design Quality and Standards 
SPD (pre consultation draft) recommends no more than eight per floor, with exceptions 
mitigated with wide corridors (beyond 1500mm) and the introduction of natural 
ventilation/daylight (C3,From Street to Front Door, C3.1.2). The scheme has introduced 
natural daylight and opportunity for natural ventilation into the corridors. The first floor (west 
core) has 12 apartments and a communal area, although that does have stair access, and 
the second floor has 14 apartments, almost double the recommended London amount.  This 
is a practical consideration for residents waiting to access their accommodation or leave the 
building, especially for those that cannot comfortably use the stairs.  

 
7.6.11 Notwithstanding this, because of the dogleg in the floor layout and the positioning of the 

stairwell and lift, there are two corresponding corridors created off this area, each with up to 
6 or 8 flats which corresponds more with the London standard. Furthermore, the corridors, 
whilst below 1500mm in width are at least 1250mm and are noted in the Design and Access 
Statement as being decorated in light colours with natural and artificial lighting to create a 
bright ambiance. As the Council does not have a set policy on this requirement the proposals 
are considered acceptable on balance in this regard.  

 
7.6.12 The Design and Access Statement explains that a key driver of the development design was 

the provision of internal communal space for all residents. A significant part of build-to-rent 
schemes is creating a community and providing an alternative space to residents’ homes. 
This includes spaces on the ground and first floor to a total of 603 square metres. At ground 
floor there is a large communal lounge providing a co-working and socialising flexible space. 
The first floor is accessible via a feature staircase but can also be accessed via a communal 
corridor for level access needs. The first floor area is triple aspect providing views across to 
King George V Recreation Ground as well as outlook and access onto the communal podium 
garden.  

 
7.6.13 The internal communal areas are intended to provide additional flexible space for residents 

outside of their apartments. Following the pandemic it has been increasingly clear that 
flexibility to live/work relationships is required and that daily interaction with others has a big 
impact on peoples mental health, in particular for those living alone or in small numbers.   

 
  Daylight and Sunlight 

 
7.6.14 The application has been accompanied by Daylight and Sunlight Reports for both within the 

development and in respect of neighbouring properties to establish the impact of the building 
layout and siting on the level of light enjoyed by the proposed units and neighbouring 
properties. The reports have been produced by Right of Light Consulting (Chartered 
Surveyors) on behalf of the applicant.  

 
7.6.15 The reports have been carried out in accordance with the Building Research Establishment 

(BRE) guide ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: a good practice guide, 2nd 
Edition’ (2011). This BRE guide explains how particular measurements and tests can be 
carried out on window openings to ascertain whether sufficient light will enter the proposed 
units and how the development will impact on existing neighbouring windows.  

 

Page 78



- 25 - 

7.6.16 In respect of the report for within the development, officers are satisfied that the tests have 
been carried out in accordance with the BRE guide. The report concludes that the 
development design achieves a very high level of compliance with the recommendations of 
the BRE guide. A small number of rooms within the development would not meet the 
recommendations, and this is not an unusual result on a high density urban location. It is 
considered that the proposed design of the development would provide adequate levels of 
natural light. 

 
7.6.17 The report for neighbouring properties, non-domestic buildings do not form part of the BRE 

tests, not requiring daylight or sunlight from an amenity perspective. Therefore, the report 
focuses on the approved development at 7 The Forum, the former BHS site. The results 
demonstrate that the proposed development would have a low impact on the light receivable 
at this neighbouring site. Of the northerly facing windows on the approved elevations, four 
windows would result in non-compliance with the BRE recommendations, with two of these 
windows serving bedrooms which the BRE standards state as being less important in terms 
of light than for example living rooms, dining room and kitchens. On balance, the proposal is 
therefore considered acceptable in terms of daylight and sunlight impact on neighbouring 
buildings.   

 
Sport Provision 

 
7.6.18 Policy HC8 states that planning permission will be granted for residential developments 

where on-site sports provision and / or a commuted sum is provided. Given the high density 
nature of the development and its town centre location it is noted that on-site sports provision 
is difficult. The site is benefited by its proximity to the King George V Recreation Ground, 
Stevenage Hockey and Bowls Club and the Stevenage Swimming Pool and Leisure Centres. 

 
7.6.19 Additionally, the application has been assessed by Sport England and they have advised that 

the parameters of the proposal do not meet their current requirements for provision and they 
therefore have no comments to make on the application. Consequently, they have not raised 
a need for financial contributions to be made for sports provision. It is therefore considered, 
on balance, that it is acceptable in this case that sports provision either on site or through a 
commuted sum is not required.   

 
7.7  Noise 
 
7.7.1 Policies FP7 and FP8 of the Local Plan stipulate that permission for pollution sensitive uses 

will be granted where they will not be subjected to unacceptably high levels of pollution 
exposure from either existing, or proposed, pollution generating uses. Comments provided by 
our Environmental Health Officer are below:  

 
7.7.2 The northern boundary is provided by the A1155 Fairlands Way which has existing 

commercial uses on the opposite side of the road (Aldi and Pets at Home). The western 
boundary directly overlooks the Tesco petrol station. The petrol station is open 24 hours a 
day meaning noise from this location can occur at any time of day Monday to Sunday, 
including bank holidays.  

 
7.7.3 To the immediate south is the Tesco Extra Store. It is understood the store is open 24 hours 

a day with only reduced hours on a Sunday (10am – 4am). A combination of noise sources is 
expected from the Tesco store. This includes people noise, vehicles using the petrol filling 
station, a variety of plant located on the roof of the store and the delivery yard to the 
immediate south of the site.  

 
7.7.4 The eastern boundary is located adjacent the service/delivery yard area serving Tesco, 

Sports Direct, TK Maxx and several other business associated with The Forum Shopping 
Centre. Current restrictions on hours of use for deliveries are unknown.  

 

Page 79



- 26 - 

7.7.5 The limited separation distance between amenity uses at the site (communal gardens, living 
rooms and bedrooms at first floor level and above) means noise from existing commercial 
uses are likely to be present within the site. The degree of impact and presence of these 
sources including consideration of their specific characteristics is necessary in this case to 
both protect future residential users and reduce the possibility of regulatory restrictions in the 
event of any future complaints post development.  

 
7.7.6 The site is close to several existing commercial uses. Under the ‘agent of change principle’, 

the limited separation distance and specific characteristics of noise undertaken within this 
locale (e.g., manoeuvres of cars and deliveries at the filling station, roller cages unloading 
within the service yard, delivery vehicles etc.) is likely to be clearly audible at the site 
depending on the façade and elevation above ground level. There is a high likelihood of 
noise complaints that could lead to restrictions on one or more existing business uses or 
businesses. This is particularly the case where the noise from multiple deliveries could be 
considered unreasonable at the site (post development).  

 
7.7.7 The site is located around 10-15m to the south of a 4/5 lane dual carriageway (A1155). The 

proposed noise sensitive use is likely to be affected by road traffic noise. The scheme 
proposes to control external noise levels through the specification and adoption of suitable 
building envelope construction, i.e. high acoustic performance glazing configurations and 
background ventilators.  

 
7.7.8 The applicant’s noise consultant has based their response to initial objections and their 

modelling largely on the approved scheme at 7 The Forum, the former BHS site. The noise 
report and mitigation measures proposed here were deemed acceptable at the time of the 
application subject to imposition of a condition. Weight must be given to the recently 
approved BHS scheme and its noise assessment. The Council must show a level of 
consistency in assessing matters pertaining to planning, whilst ensuring that the development 
meets the necessary criteria to ensure an acceptable living environment for future occupiers. 

 
7.7.9 Notwithstanding, the Council’s noise consultant has advised that since the assessment and 

approval of the BHS scheme there have been appeal decisions and case law that criticise 
the method of assessment used in the Noise Impact Assessment submitted to support the 
application and as used for the BHS scheme. Furthermore, they support that the impacts of 
the two applications are different despite their proximity and therefore, there remains a 
requirement for a far more detailed analysis of noise impacts. This would include applying the 
guidance as intended to enable better assessment of the noise risks and mitigation needed 
to address it.  

7.7.10 It is to be recognised that this is a complex site and this leads to the need for a more 
thorough analysis being provided, not just involving noise measurement and prediction of 
overall noise but in relation to individual commercial operations and their potential constraint 
as well as low frequency noise issues that relate to commercial sources of noise.   

 
7.7.11 Given the additional requested assessment by the Council’s noise consultant, it is proposed 

that the information be provided by the applicant as soon as possible for assessment by the 
Environmental Health team and their consultants. On receipt of further comments from 
Environmental Health it is suggested that delegated powers be given to the Assistant 
Director of Planning and Regulation in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning and 
Development Committee to enable further noise mitigation measures to be agreed prior to an 
approval being issued where this is possible (as a S106 agreement will also need finalising 
and signing before the decision is issued). However, if these measures entail material 
changes to the building design and fabric the item will be deferred to the next available 
planning committee. 

 
7.8 Impact on the Highway Network and Access 
 

Page 80



- 27 - 

7.8.1 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF sets out four points by which applications should ensure 
compliance. These are –  

 a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been 
– taken up, given the type of development and its location; 

 b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; 
 c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of 

associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National Design Guide 
and the National Model Design Code; and 

 d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of 
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an 
acceptable degree. 

 
7.8.2 The NPPF follows up these points in Paragraph 111 by stating that ‘development should only 

be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.’  

 
7.8.3 Vehicle access – the proposed development would be accessed from existing junctions 

located along Fairlands Way that is designated as the classified A1155 Main Distributor 
Road subject to a speed limit restricted to 40mph. 

 
7.8.4 Proposed access arrangements – the access roads and turning areas accommodate the 

manoeuvring of large service vehicles such as waste collection vehicle in current use by 
SBC and emergency vehicles identified on Drawing SK06_A and demonstrates how fire 
appliances can attend the proposed site. The existing service road shown adjacent to the 
flats would not need to be altered to accommodate a waste collection vehicle, bin collection 
stores have been provided within 10 metres working distance, identified on Figure 3.1 in 
Appendix A of the Transport Assessment by Yes Engineering) where access to waste 
collection vehicles is possible.  

 
7.8.5 Highway safety – both of the existing accesses are designed in accordance with Design 

Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) as identified on Drawing SK05 and demonstrates 
that 2.4m x 120 metres vehicle to vehicle inter-visibility can be achieved.  

 
7.8.6 Travel Plan – there is a Draft Travel Plan submitted with the application nevertheless prior to 

occupation it is considered necessary to submit a detailed residential Travel Plan and a 
commercial Travel Plan with full details in relation to sustainable methods of travel. Both 
travel Plans shall be subject to a £6,000 monitoring fee as part of the S106 Agreement.  

 
7.8.7 Trip generation, distribution, impact – the estimated quantity of new trips is based on TRICS. 

(a system of trip generation analysis) The total new two-way trips generated by the 
residential and commercial will be circa 39 additional trips in the am peak travelling period (8-
9am) and a reduction of 21 trips in the pm peak (5-6pm). The main impact will be on the 
Fairlands Way. Any impact however, would not have a significant impact on surrounding 
junctions.  

 
7.8.8 The proposal is considered therefore not to significantly increase the traffic generation or the 

vehicle movement to the development to have a severe effect on the safety and operation of 
the adjoining highways. The local highway authority has confirmed that they raise no 
objection subject to the imposition of conditions and to the requested S106 contributions 
relating to Travel Plan monitoring.   

 
7.9 Parking 
 
7.9.1 The site is located within the Town Centre and is fully served by public transport. The nearest 

bus stop is located approximately 100m towards the north of the proposed development, with 
the newly approved bus interchange approximately 300m south west. Stevenage railway 

Page 81



- 28 - 

station is further west and approximately 500m away with direct links to London and 
Cambridge. The site is therefore considered to be in a highly sustainable location. 

 
7.9.2 The Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD was adopted in October 2020 and 

now includes for car free residential development within the designated Town Centre zone. 
Furthermore, provision is now included for a minimum 20% active fast charging Electric 
Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP) with the remaining 80% of spaces being completed with 
passive infrastructure so additional EVCP’s can be installed easily in the future.  

 
7.9.3 The proposal includes the provision of 38no. car parking spaces, 28 spaces at ground floor 

level within the building and 10 disabled spaces located in the area of the existing western 
surface level car park. The site falls within the Town Centre zone for car parking where 0-
25% provision is required. The acceptance of car free developments is more acceptable in 
the town centre given its excellent transport links and sustainable location. The provision of 
38no. car parking spaces (equivalent to 17% provision) is considered acceptable, providing 
disabled parking in accordance with the SPD. The parking is unallocated and therefore no 
visitor parking is required as part of the scheme. Located in the town centre, there are 
several public car parks in close proximity for use by visitors. As with other town centre 
location developments, a term of the S106 agreement will be the restriction of residents to be 
able to get a parking permit for nearby roads. 

 
7.9.4 The Transport Statement states that 8 of the parking spaces provided which will have active 

EVCP, with the remaining 32 spaces having passive EV charging infrastructure for future 
use. It is considered reasonable that any condition imposed to ensure the provision of EVCP 
should ensure that further details include the provision of the EVCPs for both the disabled 
and standard parking spaces.  

 
7.9.5 In respect of the commercial element of the scheme, the parking standards for non-

residential uses in town centre locations are to be assessed on a site by site basis. 
Paragraph 4.9 of the SPD sets out that a Transport Assessment should justify the level of 
parking proposed for non-residential uses having regards to – 
1.  The existing level of parking on the site; 
2. The uses proposed to be developed on the site; 
3. The status and progress of other town centre developments and their net parking 
change. 

 
7.9.6 The Transport Statement makes arguments for the provision of no parking for the 

commercial use, as users of the commercial space, be it a café, restaurant, gym, etc. will 
likely already be in the town centre and thus would be able to park elsewhere. The 
application has also been supported by the submission of a Travel Plan highlighting 
measures to promote sustainable travel.  

 
7.9.7 Looking then at the cycle parking provision, three areas of cycle parking are shown on the 

ground floor plan for both the commercial and residential elements of the proposal. The SPD 
requires 1 long term cycle parking space be provided per one bedroom unit, 2 spaces per 
two bedroom unit and 3 spaces per three bedroom unit. In addition 1 short term space 
should be provided per 40 units. Although the SPD does advise that for town centre 
developments the provision should go beyond the standards as stated above, given future 
residents will rely on sustainable transport more than non-town centre residents.   

 
7.9.8 For the commercial element of the proposal, under the new Use Class E the cycle parking 

standards for non-food retail require (from a threshold of 100 square metres) 1 long term 
space per 250 square metres for the first 1000 square metres, and then 1 space per 1000 
square metres thereafter. Short term spaces should be provided based on 1 space per 350 
square metres GFA. Furthermore for café and restaurant uses from a threshold of 100 
square metres, 1 space per 175 square metres should be provided for long term spaces and 
1 space per 100 square metres for short term cycle parking spaces. The SPD caveats that 

Page 82



- 29 - 

cycle parking provision at a specific development should be increased to allow for higher 
levels of cycling where local characteristics and employee travel plans indicate that this 
would be appropriate.  

 
7.9.9 Based on the proposed unit numbers, a total of 298 long term and 6 short term residential 

cycle parking spaces would be required. For the commercial element, the provision should 
be between 2 and 3 spaces for both long and short term provision based on a floor space of 
161 square metres. The proposed ground floor plan shows the three cycle stores located at 
the south west, north east and south east corners of the building. All three stores equates to 
a provision of 332 cycle parking spaces for long term provision. Sheffield stands are 
proposed in front of the western frontage of the building with sufficient provision for short 
term cycle parking.   

 
7.9.10 The SPD also seeks areas to be made available for the provision of spaces for non-standard 

cycles, such as recumbents, cargo bikes, three wheelers and scooters. . Further details of 
this type of provision can be sought by imposition of a condition. 

 
7.10 Drainage 
 
7.10.1 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 within the Environment Agency’s flood risk 

map. Flood Zone 1 is defined as land having a 0.1% chance of flooding from seas or rivers 
which is typically less than 1 in 1000 annual probability of flooding. Therefore, all 
developments are generally directed to Flood Zone 1. The service area to the east and south 
is identified in the Level 1 Stevenage Borough Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) as 
having a low (1%) to medium (0.1%) risk of surface water flooding. Furthermore the site is 
identified by the Environment Agency as being high risk of surface water flooding.  

 
7.10.2 A flood risk assessment has been undertaken as the use of the site is being changed to a 

vulnerable class, with living accommodation proposed. The scheme proposes several 
techniques to promote sustainable drainage on site. These include –  

 Roof areas planted as biodiverse areas, providing environmental/ecological 
enhancement and attenuation of rainwater run-off; 

 Landscape areas used as rain garden areas, to accommodate and attenuate the 
surface water run-off from the adjacent footpath areas and filter pollutants; 

 Porous surfaces have been incorporated in to the scheme proposals including 
permeable hardstand areas; 

 Attenuation of rainwater in tanks/pipes beneath the car park area and adjacent the 
underpass entrance; 

 Discharge rainwater to surface water sewer/drain as agreed by Thames Water as 
infiltration is not possible given restrictions advised by Affinity Water. 

 
7.10.3 The surface water run-off from the permeable parking area will discharge to an underlying 

stone sub-base, wrapped in an impermeable membrane, thereby preventing infiltration into 
the sub-strata, in accordance with the requirements of Affinity Water. The discharge from the 
stone sub-base, the entrance road and the building roof areas, will discharge to a below 
ground storage chamber from which the discharge will be controlled via an outfall restrictor 
chamber.  

 
7.10.4 Rain driven surface water from the covered underpass will discharge to a storm cell system 

and subsequently discharge at a controlled rate via a pumped outfall, with the pump rate 
restricted to the required discharge rate. Comments received from Affinity Water have made 
it clear that infiltration is not possible as a means of drainage in this case due to the site 
being located in close proximity of the Environment Agency groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ). 

 

Page 83



- 30 - 

7.10.5 Following re-consultation of amended plans and details, the LLFA’s response has not been 
provided in advance of this report being drafted. Therefore, at present the original objection 
of the LLFA still stands. This objection is based on – 

 Pumping of surface water not aligned with HCC Local Standards; 

 High discharge rate without robust justification for the need; 

 Lack of detailed surface water network calculations accompanied by numbered 
drainage layout drawing for audit and technical assessment.  

 
  7.10.6 Subject to the further response of the LLFA, it is proposed to give delegated authority to the 

Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation to ensure a positive outcome is reached with 
the LLFA, with the imposition of appropriate and reasonable conditions prior to the issuing of 
any formal approval and signing of the S106 Agreement.  

 
7.11 Waste 
 
7.11.1 The proposed site plan shows the provision of two refuse stores within the ground floor. The 

larger of the two is located to the south east of the building and has direct access on to the 
southern rear service yard. This has good access from Core B to the north east and 
providing lift and stairwell access to the eastern tower. The smaller ‘holding’ area for storage 
is located to the north west of the building close to Core A and the stairwell and lift access to 
the western tower. The ‘holding’ area would reduce travel distances for residents using the 
westerly entrance/exit, with the bins moved as required as part of the building management.  

 
7.11.2 The current requirements for waste and recycling per household are as follows:- 
 

 Residual Waste – 240 litres; 

 Cans and Plastics – 55 litres; 

 Paper and cardboard – 55 litres; 

 Glass – 20 litres. 
 
7.11.3 The most common size of container for large residential development is the 1100 litre trade 

bins. An amended ground floor plan has been submitted increasing the total bin store area to 
ensure the capacity meets the Council’s current standards, as above. The main waste 
storage area makes provision for 68 large bins, to provide areas for generic waste and 
recycling of glass, paper and cardboard, and tins and plastic. The holding area would contain 
8 large bins. The total provision would equate to 83,600 litres of waste storage which is 
complaint with the Council’s standards for 224 flats.  

 
7.11.4 The management of the bin stores will be an important part of the development during use. It 

is considered appropriate and reasonable to seek a General Management Plan for the 
development which includes details of how the refuse and recycle stores will be controlled in 
accordance with the frequency of the Council’s waste collection service. This is to ensure 
that the refuse facilities which are provided within the development are accessible and meet 
the Council’s refuse collection requirements.   

 
7.12 Trees, Landscaping and Biodiversity 

7.12.1 The NPPF and accompanying Planning Practice Guidance requires the Council to achieve 
measurable net gains in biodiversity at development sites and across the Borough. To 
achieve a biodiversity net gain, a development must deliver a minimum of 10% net gain post 
development, when compared with the pre-development baseline. The Council’s recently 
adopted Biodiversity SPD (2021) requires all major and minor applications other than the 
following exemptions currently suggested by the Government to demonstrate a net gain in 
biodiversity: 

i. Permitted development; 

Page 84



- 31 - 

ii. Householder development, including extensions; 
iii. Nationally significant infrastructure, which falls within scope of the Planning Act 2008; 
iv. Some brownfield sites with marginal viability and substantial constraints. It is 

expected that full details to be set out in secondary legislation, but considerations are 
likely to include where sites contain a high proportion of derelict land and buildings 
and only a small percentage of the site is undeveloped, land values are significantly 
lower than average, and the site does not contain any protected habitats; and 

v. Developments that would not result in measurable loss or degradation of habitat, for 
instance change of use of or alterations to building 

 
7.12.2 When considering the application site, the brownfield developed site would fall into category 

(iv) above and thus is not required to provide a Biodiversity report for the proposal. The 
existing site has little landscaping and the proposals included in the development, roof 
gardens, biodiverse roof, and significantly greater levels of landscaping are all welcomed and 
would result in a positive increase in biodiversity on site. The Hertfordshire and Middlesex 
Wildlife Trust have made comment on the application and have advised the inclusion of swift 
boxes, which can be secured by imposition of a condition.  

7.12.3 The landscaping details as submitted include specific areas and varying planting schedules 
in accordance with the role of the landscaped areas. These include the rain water gardens, 
roof gardens, biodiverse roof garden, podium gardens and landscaping in public areas to the 
front of the building. These details appear acceptable in principle and would include good 
pollinator plants, as well as native tree species. Details of the landscaping can be secured 
through conditions.  

 
7.12.4 Policy NH3/20 for Green Corridors designate Fairlands Way as a Structurally Important 

Route. Green corridors are protected as a means of linking and connecting to the town’s 
open spaces as well as facilitating movement by pedestrians and cyclists. The Structurally 
Important Routes are major highways within the built up area of Stevenage that include 
significant areas within and alongside the highway that provide open space, landscaping 
and/or cycleways. The policy states that planning permission will be granted where 
proposals: 

 a.  Would not have a substantive adverse effect upon a Green Corridor; 
b.  Retain and sensitively integrate any Green Corridor which must be crossed or 

incorporated into the site layout; 
c. Provide replacement planting, preferably using locally native species, where 

hedgerow removal is unavoidable; and 
d. Reasonably contribute towards the improvement of Green Corridors in the vicinity of 

the application site.  
 

7.12.5 The site currently faces onto the retaining wall off Fairlands Way highway, due to the 
changes in ground levels from the highway and the immediate ground level of the site. Due 
to the built up nature of this small stretch of frontage to the south of the westbound 
carriageway, there is little in way of landscaping or grass verges. These elements of the 
designated Structurally Important Route are on the northern side of the road and away from 
the highway junctions leading off Fairlands Way.  

 
7.12.6 The proposed landscaping would see a significant increase in the level of planting, both trees 

and shrubs along the frontage of the site facing Fairlands Way as part of its aim to make the 
pedestrian environment vastly better. Whilst much of this would not be readily visible from 
Fairlands Way because of the levels differences, the proposal would meet the criteria of point 
d. of the policy. The improvements made by the proposed development in terms of 
landscaping and contributing to the Green corridor are acceptable.  

 
7.13 Sustainability and Climate Change 
 

Page 85



- 32 - 

7.13.1 The application has been supported by a Sustainability Statement and Energy Strategy 
Report which explains the proposed measures to be employed in the development to target 
low and zero carbon development. The proposal would include the use of the following 
technologies –  

 Air to water heat pumps for residential elements to provide hot water; 

 Air to air heat pumps for non-residential elements to provide space heating and 
comfort cooling; 

 Photovoltaic panels at roof level to generate electricity for the site. 
 
7.13.2 It is estimated that the proposed heat pump and photovoltaic systems would reduce the 

annual carbon dioxide emissions of the site by 64,511kgCO2 which equates to a reduction of 
32.7% against the target emission rate (TER) of Part L of the Building Regulations 2013. The 
incorporation of the energy efficiency measures and renewable energy would equate to a 
reduction of 39.3% against the TER 2013 for the scheme. 

 
7.13.3 Furthermore, water efficiency measures have been proposed, including flow restrictors on 

taps, efficient appliances and dual-flush systems for the WC. The internal water consumption 
in the proposed dwellings would be less than 105 litres per person per day, in order to 
exceed the previous Code Level 4 requirements within the now withdrawn Code for 
Sustainable Homes scheme.  

 
7.13.4 The proposed measures to alleviate carbon production and reduce the developments impact 

on climate change are considered to be acceptable.  
 
7.14 Contaminated Land 
 
7.14.1 The whole of the site is previously developed and has been used for commercial activity 

within the building and the parking vehicles. There is therefore some potential for 
contamination from petrol and diesel, however small. Appropriate conditions can be imposed 
to ensure this occurs should contamination be found during the construction phase of the 
development with suitable remediation measures to be agreed in writing by the Council.  

 
7.14.2 The site is located near an Environment Agency defined groundwater Source Protection 

Zone (SPZ) corresponding to Affinity Water’s Pumping Station. This is for a public water 
supply, comprising a number of chalk abstraction boreholes, operated by Affinity Water Ltd. 
Due to the sites historical use and the potential for ground contamination to be present, 
Affinity Water have raised an objection. This objection can be overcome through the 
submission of additional information and they have advised on conditions to be imposed on 
any grant of approval relating to contamination and infiltration. Similar requests have been 
made on nearby town centre developments, and this is considered reasonable in this case to 
ensure the SPZ is protected.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
7.15 Other Matters 
 

Air quality and Air Pollution 

 
7.15.1 Policy FP7 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) states that all development proposals should 

minimise, and where possible, reduce air, water, light and noise pollution. Looking at air 
quality and air pollution specifically, the development is not located within or in close 
proximity to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). Therefore it was not necessary for the 
application to be supported by an air quality assessment. It is noted that there would be 
activities which will affect local air quality during demolition of the existing building and 

Page 86



- 33 - 

construction of the development. These include dust emissions and exhaust emissions from 
plant, machinery and construction traffic. 

 
7.15.2  In order to mitigate the construction phase, details of control of dust emissions shall be 

approved as part of the Construction Management Plan (CMP) to be required by condition. 
The Council’s Environmental Health Section has confirmed that the operational aspect of the 
development would not have a detrimental impact in terms of air quality.  

 
External lighting 

 
7.15.3 In terms of light pollution, Policy FP7: Pollution of the adopted Local Plan (2019) requires all 

development proposal should minimise, and where possible, reduce….light…pollution. 
Applications for development where pollution is suspected must contain sufficient information 
for the application to make a full assessment on impacts. Planning permission will be granted 
where it can be demonstrated that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on: 

 
 a. the natural environment, general amenity and the tranquillity of the wider area which 

includes light pollution; 
 b. health and safety of the public; and 
 c. The compliance with statutory environmental quality standards.  
 

7.15.4 The Design and Access Statement and Sustainability Statement do touch on lighting and 
minimising impacts on the existing environment and also on future residents, however, no 
further details or a lighting strategy have been submitted in support of the application.  

 
7.15.5 Planning Practice Guidance advises that ‘artificial lighting needs to be considered when 

development may increase levels of lighting, or would be sensitive to prevailing levels of 
artificial lighting…. However, for maximum benefit, it is important to get the right light, in the 
right place and for it to be used at the right time’. 

 
7.15.6 In respect of the proposed development it will be important to provide the right level of 

lighting for the developments users in particular within external spaces, but also within the 
underpass which will be a main connection to and from the site. The underpass needs to be 
a safe and welcoming area. This can be achieved through a good lighting strategy, but also 
through use of artwork within the space. The approval of a Lighting Strategy for the 
underpass specifically, as well as a general external lighting scheme can be secured through 
imposition of appropriately worded conditions.   

 
 Crime Prevention and Fire Safety 
 
7.15.7 The applicant has engaged in pre-application advice with the Police Crime Prevention Officer 

to meet current Secured by Design standards. These are addressed in the Design and 
Access Statement and include CCTV, lighting design for the underpass, 24 hr concierge 
provision welcomed, glass frontages welcomed, gated access to the podium, key fob access 
to each core of the building, PAS (publically accessible specification) 24 windows around 
courtyard, 2m high barrier treatment on roof terrace edges, widen entrance of underpass for 
better visual permeability. 

 
7.15.8 In line with the new Planning gateway one, the applicant/developer is required to submit a 

Fire Statement as part of the application to ensure the development has suitably considered 
fire safety, along with the local planning authority having due regard for this and to include 
the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) as a statutory consultee. HSE have been consulted 
and have confirmed receipt of the Fire Statement. At the time of drafting this report a 
response has not been received. In the possible circumstance that the HSE have not 
provided comment before the committee meeting, it is sought that delegated powers be 
given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation to not issue a decision until such a 
time that the HSE have advised the Fire Statement is satisfactory.  

Page 87



- 34 - 

 
7.16 Human Rights and Equalities 
 
7.16.1 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a violation 
of any person’s rights under the Convention. 

 
7.16.2 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully aware 

of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the decision that 
they are taking. Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential 
impact of that decision on the Council's obligations under the Public Sector Equalities Duty. 
As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of 
any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers 

 
7.16.3 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) foster good 
relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the Equality Act and 
persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality Act are: age; 
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 
7.16.4 It is not considered the proposed development would impact upon the protected 

characteristics under the Equality Act. The proposal actively provides disabled parking 
positioned in close proximity of the building, the building would have level access for wheel 
chair users as well as internal lifts, and the development would be complaint with Policy 
HO11 for accessible and adaptable housing. 

 

8.   CONCLUSIONS 

8.1 The redevelopment of the former Office Outlet store off The Forum and Fairlands Way is 
considered to be acceptable on balance. The site is sited within the Town Centre and a town 
centre Major opportunity Area for redevelopment as identified in the Local Plan. The 
provision of high density residential development is this area is therefore acceptable from a 
land use perspective. The scale and massing of the site has been amended, reducing the 
overall height from 15 storeys to 13. The development is still large in comparison to the 
existing building and current surrounding buildings, however, the town centre regeneration 
and MOA’s will change the character and dynamic of this northern end of the town centre.  

 
8.2 The level of and type of housing proposed is considered acceptable on balance, and through 

the appraisal of the Viability Assessment, affordable housing and S106 contributions are 
being provided to mitigate the impacts of the development. The design and articulation of the 
building have been negotiated through pre-application and application discussions and the 
proposals put forward are considered to be high quality and will create an important vista 
along this northern stretch of the town centre and along Fairlands Way which is a green link.  

 
8.3 The level of car and cycle parking is acceptable for this sustainable location, and the 

development proposes a good level of internal and external amenity space. The residential 
units meet the minimum living standards for space and would receive an acceptable level of 
daylight and sunlight. The landscaping will enhance the scheme and is much greater than 
that on site at present, improving biodiversity also, with bee environments and integrated 
swift boxes.  

 
8.4 The proposal is considered to accord with the Local Plan, supplementary planning 

documents, NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance such that on balance the development 
will have a positive impact on the area.  

Page 88



- 35 - 

 

9.       RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
9.1  That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the signing of a S106 Agreement in 

respect of the following –  

 Affordable Housing; 

 Primary Education; 

 NHS; 

 Travel Plan monitoring fees; 

 Hertfordshire County Council monitoring fee; 

 Stevenage Borough Council monitoring fee; 

 Review mechanism for viability; 

 Local employment and apprenticeships; 

 Residents parking permit restrictions; 

 Management Company. 

 

  With delegated powers be given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation in 

consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee to negotiate and secure the financial and 

non-financial obligations detailed above (including triggers where appropriate) as part of the 

Section 106 Agreement in order to mitigate the developments on infrastructure as well as 

secure the planning benefits which this scheme seeks to deliver. In addition, the imposition of 

suitable safeguarding conditions, with authority given to the Assistant Director of Planning and 

Regulation in consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, to amend or add to the 

suggested draft conditions set out in this report, prior to the decision notice being issues, 

where such amendments or additions would be legally sound and most effectively deliver the 

development that the Planning Committee has resolved to approve.  

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
 PH-20121-100D; PH-20121-200; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-L-2100 REV E; BL9281-PRP-

C00-00-DR-L-2101 REV E; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-L-2102 REV E; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-
DR-L-2103 REV D; BL9281-PRP-C00-00-DR-L-2104 REV D; BA9281-0001 REV B; 
BA9281-0002 REV B; BA9281-0003 REV A; BA9281-0004 REV A; BA9281-0005 REV B; 
BA9281-0010 REV B; BA9281-2100 REV C; BA9281-2101 REV B; BA9281-2012 REV B; 
BA9281-2103 REV B; BA9281-2104 REV B; BA9281-2105 REV B; BA9281-2106 REV B; 
BA9281-2107 REV B; BA9281-2108 REV B; BA9281-2109 REV B; BA9281-2110 REV B; 
BA9281-2111 REV B; BA9281-2112 REV B; BA9281-2113 REV B; BA9281-2200 REV B; 
BA9281-2201 REV B; BA9281-2202 REV B; BA9281-2203 REV B; BA9281-2204 REV B; 
BA9281-2205 REV B; BA9281-2300 REV B; BA9281-2301 REV B. 

 REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
 REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004). 

 
 3 No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a detailed Construction 

Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out 
in accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Management Plan shall include 
details of the following:  
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;  

Page 89



- 36 - 

b) Access arrangements to site; 

c) Traffic and pedestrian management requirements;  

d) Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 

loading / unloading and turning areas); 

e) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;  

f) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;  

g) Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and 

to avoid school pick up/drop off times;  

h) Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 

activities;  

i) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary 

access to the public highway; 

j) Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site, a plan should be submitted 

showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, pedestrian routes 

and remaining road width for vehicle movements;  

k) A Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) including mechanisms to deal with 

environmental impacts such as air quality and dust control measures, noise and 

vibration restriction measures, light and odour and predicted and latterly actual waste 

arisings and how this is to be managed and where it is sent to. 

l)  Dust control measures during demolition and construction from plant and machinery, 

and vehicles. 

REASON:-  In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way, in the interests of amenities of neighbouring properties, to ensure 
suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development, in order to reduce the level of 
waste generated during groundworks and construction phases of development and to 
recycle all waste materials where possible. 

 
4 No development shall take place until full details in the form of scaled plans have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority to illustrate –  
i) Change of use of the Fairlands Way underpass to pedestrian and cycleway only including 
bollard arrangements (or similar) to prevent unauthorised motorised vehicles from entering 
the footway/cycleway and any necessary TRO that may be required. 
REASON:- To ensure suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development of the site. 

 
5 No works involving excavations (e.g. piling or the implementation of a geothermal 

open/closed loop system) shall be carried out until the following has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 i) An Intrusive Ground Investigation to identify the current state of the site and appropriate 
techniques to avoid displacing any shallow contamination to a greater depth. 

 ii) A Risk Assessment  identifying both the aquifer and the abstraction point(s) as potential 
receptor(s) of contamination.  

 iii) A Method Statement detailing the depth and type of excavations (e.g. piling) to be 
undertaken including mitigation measures (e.g. appropriate piling design) to prevent and/or 
minimise any potential migration of pollutants to public water supply. Any excavations must 
be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved method statement. 

 REASON:- To avoid displacing any shallow contamination to a greater depth and to prevent 
and/or minimise any potential migration of pollutants to a public water supply abstraction. 
This can cause critical abstractions to switch off resulting in the immediate need for water to 
be sourced from another location, which incurs significant costs and risks of loss of supply 
during periods of high demand.     

 
6 No development shall take place until details of a Surface Water Drainage Scheme that does 

not include infiltration has been prepared, submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
Planning Authority. 

Page 90



- 37 - 

 REASON:- To provide confirmation that direct infiltration via soakaways will not be used due 
to potential presence of contaminated land and the risk for contaminants to remobilise 
causing groundwater pollution potentially impacting public water supply and to prevent 
flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of surface water from the site 
and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users. 

 
7  No development shall take place until a final design of the drainage scheme for the site 

based on the principles set out in Condition 6, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is occupied. The scheme shall 
include: 

 Updated surface water drainage calculation and modelling for all rainfall events up to 
and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate change event, including infiltration 
options; 

 Demonstrate that there is sufficient gradient and self-cleansing velocities along the 
connecting pipe between the outfall/flow control structure at the attenuation tank and 
the connection to Thames Water’s sewer, in accordance with the Sewers for Adoption 
guidance; 

 Updated full detailed surface water drainage plan showing the proposed discharge 
point to Thames Water sewer, the location of any proposed SuDS features, the pipe 
runs, size and node numbers; 

 Detailed engineering drawings of the proposed SuDS features including their, size, 
volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features including any connecting pipe runs, 
node numbers along with all corresponding detailed calculations/modelling: 

 In case of informal flooding within the site this should be shown on a plan including 
extent and depth; 

 Exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 100 year + 
climate change. 

REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of 
surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development 
and future users.  

 
8 Upon completion of the drainage works, a management and maintenance plan for SuDS 

features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 

 Provision of complete set of as built drawings including the final drainage layout for 
site drainage network; 

 Maintenance and operational activities for the lifetime of the development; 

 Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operation of the 
scheme throughout its lifetime. 

REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface 
water from the site. 

 
9 No development shall take place until full details of the low and zero carbon technologies to 

be employed including their siting on or within the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the measures to address adaptation to climate change as laid out in the 
Energy Statement and Sustainability Statement and the approved details, to include the 
following: 

 Air to water heat pumps: 

 Air to air heat pumps; 

 Photovoltaic solar panels; 

 Water efficiency measures; 

 Brise Soleil sun shades. 
 These measures shall then be permanently maintained in accordance with the approved 

details. 

Page 91



- 38 - 

 REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change through provision of 
energy and water efficiency measures, and to ensure these technologies have an acceptable 
appearance within the development. 

 
10 No development shall take place above slab level until a schedule and samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON:- To ensure the development has a high quality appearance. 

 
11 No site clearance or construction work relating to this permission shall be carried out on any 

Sunday, Public or Bank Holiday nor at any other time, except between the hours of 0730 and 
1800 on Mondays to Fridays and between the hours of 0800 and 1300 on Saturdays, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These times apply to work which 
is audible at the site boundary.  

 REASON:- To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 
 
12 No development shall take place above slab level until details of any external lighting 

including the intensity of illumination and predicted light contours, have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 
completed in accordance with the approved details.  

 REASON:- In order to protect the amenities and operations of neighbouring properties, to 
ensure any external lighting does not prejudice highway safety and in the interests of light 
pollution.  

 
13 No development shall take place until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Soft landscaping 
details shall include UK sourced and native species for plants and trees. The development 
shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
14 All planting, seeding and turfing comprised in the approved landscaping details as agreed 

under condition 12 of this approval shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding 
seasons following the first occupation of the development hereby permitted or, the 
completion of the approved development whichever is the sooner. 

 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
15 All hard surfacing comprised in the approved landscaping details as specified in condition 12 

of this approval shall be carried out prior to first occupation of the development hereby 
permitted or, the completion of the approved development, whichever is the sooner. 

 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
16 Any trees or plants comprised within the scheme of landscaping, which within a period of five 

years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
17 No tree shown on the approved landscaping scheme, shall be cut down, uprooted or 

destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be topped or lopped within five years of the completion 
of development without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON:- To ensure the protection of those trees which should be retained in the interests 
of visual amenity. 

 
18 No development shall take place above slab level until full details of the cycle parking racks 

and stands within the cycle parking stores as shown on Drawing number BA9281-2100 Rev 
C have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 

Page 92



- 39 - 

shall include provision for non-standard cycles such as cargo bikes, three wheelers, scooters 
and recumbents. The cycle stores shall thereafter be completed and ready for use in 
accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained for the sole use of cycle 
parking.  

 REASON:- To ensure adequate secure and covered cycle parking provision is available at 
all times to promote sustainable modes of transport. 

 
19 No development shall take place above slab level until details of the active Electric Vehicle 

Charging Points (EVCP) and their siting have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The active EVCPs shall thereafter be installed and ready for us 
prior to first occupation. 

 REASON:- To ensure adequate provision of active EVCPs within in the development and for 
all types of drivers is available at all times to promote sustainable modes of transport. 

 
20 No development shall take place above slab level until details of integrated swift boxes have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 
should ensure for at least 40 Habibat or Manthorpe type swift boxes within the brickwork of 
the building. 

 REASON:- In the interests of biodiversity and to provide a continued nesting resource for 
these declining birds.  

 
21 No development shall take place above slab level until details of gating across the stair 

access to the podium deck and safety railings around roof top terraces have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON:- To ensure an acceptable appearance and in the interests of safety for the 
residents and users of the development.  

 
22 Prior to the first occupation/use of the dwellings and development hereby permitted the 

approved refuse/recycle stores shall be constructed in accordance with the details submitted 
with this planning application and shall be permanently retained in that form. 

 REASON:-  To ensure that there is sufficient waste storage provision in accordance with the 
Council's standards is maintained for all dwellings and the development as a whole on site in 
perpetuity. 

 
23 Prior to first occupation of the development a General Management Plan shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall include, but not be 
limited to, details of –  

 i)  A Management Company for the site; 
ii) Waste storage and collection; 

 iii) Maintenance of all non-private amenity spaces including all furniture and equipment; 
 iv) Maintenance of all cycle storage areas; 
 v) Maintenance of all Electric Vehicle Charging Points; 
 vi) Maintenance of external lighting; 
 vii) Maintenance of the underpass; 
 viii) Maintenance of low/zero carbon technologies; 

ix) Concierge service; 
x) Gated access to the podium. 

 REASON:- To ensure the facilities associated with the development are kept in a good order 
and are continually available for use, unless for maintenance purposes, for the convenience 
and amenity of future residents and users of the development. 

 
24 Prior to first occupation or use of the development, details of the proposed play equipment 

and its layout within the podium deck amenity space shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Page 93



- 40 - 

 REASON:- In the interests of providing a good area of play provision for future residents of 
the development. 

 
25 Prior to first occupation or before completion of the development whichever is the sooner, the 

podium deck and roof top garden amenity spaces shall be completed and be ready for use in 
accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON:- To ensure the external amenity space for residents is made available for use in 
the interests of the health and wellbeing of the residents.  

 
26 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and 
where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of condition 26 which is subject to the approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with condition 27. 

 REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any risk to human health and to ensure 
that the development does not contribute to unacceptable concentrations of pollution posing 
a risk to public water supply from previously unidentified contamination sources at the 
development site and to prevent deterioration of groundwater and/or surface water by 
demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan have been met and 
that remediation of the site is completed. 

. 
27 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development that was not previously identified, a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historic environment must be 
prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme must 
ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 

 REASON:- To prevent harm to human health and pollution of the water environment in 
accordance with Government policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
28 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development that was not previously identified, as required under condition 25, the approved 
remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the 
commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority 
must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme 
works. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be 
produced and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON:- To prevent harm to human health and pollution of the water environment in 
accordance with Government policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
29 At least 50% of the residential units provided as part of the approved development shall 

accord with Policy HO11 accessible and adaptable housing, meeting the requirements of  
Category 2: wheelchair accessible and adaptable of Approved Document M: access to and 
use of buildings. 

 REASON:- To ensure adequate provision of facilities for wheelchair users within the 
development. 

 

Page 94



- 41 - 

30 The approved development shall provide 161 square metres of commercial floor space as 
shown on Drawing number: BA9281-2100 Rev C, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON:- In the interests of retaining a commercial use at the site, and based on the 
assessment being made with a commercial element available.  

 
31 Prior to occupation or first use of the development a Lighting and Artwork Strategy for the 

underpass shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 REASON:- To ensure adequate lighting and a safe environment within the underpass and in 
the interests of a high quality finished development.  

 
32 No plant or equipment shall be affixed to any external face of a building or added to the roof 

of the building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
REASON:- In the interests of amenity  
 

33 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no external telecommunications equipment or infrastructure shall be erected to 
any build development within the development site, other than those expressly authorised by 
this permission.  
REASON:- To retain the high quality external design promoted by this development. 
 

34 No development hereby permitted shall commence (excluding demolition and site clearance) 
until a report identifying the residential premises within the development that require 
mitigation of external noise levels and detailing the mitigation required to achieve satisfactory 
noise levels within those premises (and to their private balcony and amenity areas, where 
relevant) has first been submitted to the Local Planning Authority in writing to be agreed. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the report so agreed and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.  
REASON:- To ensure that potential adverse noise impacts to residential premises within the 
development are mitigated and to ensure a high standard of amenity for future occupiers. 
 

35 Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the individual and 
cumulative rating level of noise emitted from plant and/or fixed machinery at the development 
hereby approved shall be no greater than the existing background noise levels. The noise 
levels shall be determined at the façade of the nearest residential property. The 
measurements and assessments shall be made in accordance with British Standards 4142’ 
Method for rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and industrial areas. Before any 
plant is used, measurements of the noise from the plant must be taken and a report / impact 
assessment demonstrating that the plant (as installed) meets the design requirements, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON:- To ensure that the development achieves a high standard of amenity for future 
occupiers of this development and the neighbouring buildings.  

 
36 Prior to the commencement of any superstructure works, a ventilation and summer cooling 

scheme for the proposed dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall enable appropriate noise levels to be achieved whilst 
ventilation is provided at the minimum whole building rate as described in The Building 
Regulations Approved document F. The scheme shall also ensure that the thermal comfort 
criteria defined in the Chartered Institute of Building Engineers (CIBSE) Environmental Guide 
(2015) is achieved. The residential use of the relevant properties shall not commence until 
the approved ventilation scheme has been installed in full accordance with the approved 
scheme. 

 REASON:- To protect the amenity of future residents of the development.  
 

 

Page 95



- 42 - 

The Council has acted Pro-Actively for the following reason:-  
 

Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 
through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during the 
determination process which lead to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore 
acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

 
 

INFORMATIVE  
 
 1 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 2020.  
  
 This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the CIL 

Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even if you are 
granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement under 
Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that 
CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will mean you risk 
losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be imposed. NB, please note 
that a Commencement Notice is not required for residential extensions if relief has been 
granted.  

  
 Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on the 

Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council's CIL Team 
at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 

 
 2 Building Regulations 
 

To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us 
on 01438 879990. 

 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal at 
https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made online or by phoning the 
above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building 
Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 

 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire Building Control 
Ltd, 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings and fee 
building work may commence.  You will be advised in their acknowledgement letter of the 
work stages we need to inspect but in most instances these are usually: 

 
         Excavation for foundations 
         Damp proof course 
         Concrete oversite 
         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
         Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
        Completion 

Page 96



- 43 - 

 
Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to ensure a 
same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 

 
 3 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
  

Parking and Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that all areas for parking, storage, 
and delivery of materials associated with the construction of this development should be 
provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must 
not interfere with the public highway.  If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought 
from the Highway Authority before construction works commence.  Further information is 
available via the website: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-
development-management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
 4 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
  

Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 
1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) 
the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence.  Further information is available via the website:  

 http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
 5 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
  

Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 
1980 to deposit compost, dung or other material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made 
up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of any highway user. 
Section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at 
the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all 
times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development and 
use thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other 
debris on the highway. Further information is available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
6 Police Crime Prevention Design Advice 
 

The proposed development should achieve Secured By Design (SBD) accreditation in order 
for it to comply with current Building Regulations. The Police Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor by telephone on 01707 355227 or email mark.montgomery@herts.pnn.police.uk 

 
7 Environmental Health (Pest Control) 
 

Construction sites may cause the disturbance of rats and other vermin. Developers have a 
duty to manage the treatment of rats, vermin and pests on the site. Where suitable controls 
are not in place Prevention of Damage by Pest Act 1949 and nuisance and public health 
legislation will be used.  

 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 

relating to this item. 
 

2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 
adopted October 2020 and Stevenage Design Guide adopted October 2009. 

Page 97

mailto:mark.montgomery@herts.pnn.police.uk


- 44 - 

 
3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted 2019. 

 
4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018. 

 
5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred 

to in this report. 
 

6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 
and associated Planning Policy Guidance. 
 

7. Community Infrastructure Levy 2010 (as amended).  
 

Page 98



DC36 

PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date:    

IMPORTANT  INFORMATION - DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Author – Technical Support 01438 242838 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

The Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation has issued decisions in respect of the 
following applications in accordance with his delegated authority:- 
 
 
 
1.  Application No : 20/00550/COND 

 
 Date Received : 30.09.20 

 
 Location : 145 Scarborough Avenue Stevenage Herts SG1 2HQ 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 4 (Bin Stores), 5 (Landscaping), 9 (Site 

Waste Management), 11 (Noise), 17 (Construction Management 
Plan) and 18 (Electric Vehicle Charging Points) attached to 
planning permission reference 19/00136/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 02.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The Condition(s)/Obligation(s) cannot be discharged but 
are deemed Acceptable 
 
Please note that the condition(s) cannot be discharged given 
that a breach of planning control has occurred in this instance.  
However, the Local Planning Authority would not seek any 
enforcement action against the breach at this time.  
Notwithstanding this, the Local Planning Authority still reserves 
the right to undertake enforcement action if a further breach of 
the condition(s) occurs at a later date. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5



DC36 

 
 
 
2.  Application No : 21/00740/COND 

 
 Date Received : 01.07.21 

 
 Location : Michael Faraday House Six Hills Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 8 (surface water drainage scheme) 

attached to planning permission number 20/00403/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 10.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
3.  Application No : 21/00996/AD 

 
 Date Received : 08.09.21 

 
 Location : Roundabout At Junction Of Lytton Way And Trinity Road And 

Roundabout At Junction Of Fairlands Way And Grace Way 
Stevenage Herts  
 

 Proposal : Erection of 2no. non-illuminated sponsorship signs on Lytton 
Way/Trinity Road roundabout and 3no. non-illuminated 
sponsorship signs on Fairlands Way/Grace Way roundabout. 
 

 Date of Decision : 16.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
 
4.  Application No : 21/01117/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 14.10.21 

 
 Location : 52 Stanmore Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3QF 

 
 Proposal : Part single storey part two storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 18.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



DC36 

 
 
 
5.  Application No : 21/01147/FP 

 
 Date Received : 18.10.21 

 
 Location : 4 Park Place Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from existing shop (Class E a)  to hot food 

takeaway (Sui Generis) 
 

 Date of Decision : 18.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
6.  Application No : 21/01146/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 22.10.21 

 
 Location : 126 Broad Oak Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8RB 

 
 Proposal : Part single-storey, part two-storey rear extension and insertion 

of side facing windows 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
7.  Application No : 21/01148/COND 

 
 Date Received : 22.10.21 

 
 Location : Marshgate Car Park St. Georges Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 15 (Drainage Works) attached to 

planning permission application number 21/00627/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 10.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
8.  Application No : 21/01187/FP 

 
 Date Received : 03.11.21 

 
 Location : Meggitt Horizon Technology Park Six Hills Way Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Erection of 2x flues to exterior of building 

 
 Date of Decision : 07.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 101



DC36 

 
9.  Application No : 21/01189/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.21 

 
 Location : 2 Southwold Close Stevenage Herts SG1 2XL 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of existing conservatory to facilitate the erection of a 

single storey rear extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 11.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
 
The proposed extension, by reason of its depth and positioning 
at the side boundary would result in the loss of a significant level 
of natural light to the amenity space of the neighbouring 
property at no. 3 Southwold Close, and also have an adverse 
impact upon the outlook from the property. It is considered that 
this would have an adverse impact upon the residential amenity 
of the occupants of the neighbouring residents and the 
enjoyment of their property, contrary to policies SP8 and GD1 of 
the Stevenage Borough Local Plan (2021-2031) and paragraphs 
130 and 134 of the NPPF. 
 
The proposed extension, by reason of its depth and positioning 
at the side boundary in conjunction with the presence of no. 5 
Dunwich Farm and its presence immediately adjacent to the 
boundary would have an enclosing impact upon the amenity 
space of no. 3 Southwold Close, to the detriment of the 
enjoyment of this property. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
policies SP8 and GD1 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 
(2021-2031) and paragraphs 130 and 134 of the NPPF. 
 
has been refused for this proposal for the clear reasons set out 
in this decision notice. The Council acted pro-actively through 
positive engagement with the applicant in an attempt to narrow 
down the reasons for refusal but fundamental objections could 
not be overcome. The Council has therefore acted pro-actively 
in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town 
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015. 
 

 
 
10.  Application No : 21/01192/COND 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.21 

 
 Location : Land Bordered By Ashdown Road, Malvern Close And Hertford 

Road Stevenage SG2 8BG  
 

 Proposal : Discharge of condition 7 (External Lighting) attached to planning 
permission number 18/00401/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 

Page 102



DC36 

 
 
 
11.  Application No : 21/01200/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 05.11.21 

 
 Location : 5 St. Andrews Drive Stevenage Herts SG1 4UY 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 07.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
12.  Application No : 21/01208/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 06.11.21 

 
 Location : 86 Chepstow Close Stevenage Herts SG1 5TT 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 03.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
13.  Application No : 21/01212/COND 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.21 

 
 Location : Matalan Unit B-C Danestrete Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Part discharge of conditions 8 (Bird and Bat Boxes) and 24 

(Surface Water Drainage) attached to planning permission 
20/00643/RMM to allow commencement of Phase 1 of 
construction 
 

 Date of Decision : 15.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
14.  Application No : 21/01228/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 12.11.21 

 
 Location : 105 Walkern Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3RB 

 
 Proposal : Two storey rear extension and front porch 

 
 Date of Decision : 18.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 103



DC36 

 
15.  Application No : 21/01230/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 13.11.21 

 
 Location : 12 Milestone Close Stevenage Herts SG2 9RR 

 
 Proposal : Retrospective planning permission for the retention of a single 

storey rear extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
16.  Application No : 21/01237/FP 

 
 Date Received : 16.11.21 

 
 Location : Unit 14 Gunnels Wood Park Gunnels Wood Road Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Installation of 16no external air conditioning units 

 
 Date of Decision : 01.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
17.  Application No : 21/01295/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 07.12.21 

 
 Location : 186 Bedwell Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 1NE 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension, part single-storey, part two-storey 

side and rear extensions. 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
18.  Application No : 21/01314/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 12.12.21 

 
 Location : 4 Dryden Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 0JB 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 02.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 104



DC36 

 
 
19.  Application No : 21/01315/FP 

 
 Date Received : 13.12.21 

 
 Location : 300 - 308 Grace Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5AN 

 
 Proposal : Removal of existing cladding to parts of first floor external walls 

and replacement with new fire rated fibre cement 
weatherboarding 
 
Removal of existing uPVC communal entrance doors and 
windows and replacement with new aluminium entrance doors 
and curtain walling system.  
 
Removal of existing roof tiles and replacement with new flat 
concrete tiles to match existing colour. 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
20.  Application No : 21/01318/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 14.12.21 

 
 Location : 34 Blenheim Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8TE 

 
 Proposal : Single Storey Rear and Side Extensions 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
21.  Application No : 21/01321/FP 

 
 Date Received : 14.12.21 

 
 Location : 452-460 Grace Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5AT 

 
 Proposal : Removal of cladding to parts of first floor external walls, 

replacing doors and windows, installing a curtain walling system 
and replacement of roof tiles 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



DC36 

 
 
22.  Application No : 21/01322/FP 

 
 Date Received : 14.12.21 

 
 Location : 510 - 520 Grace Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5AX 

 
 Proposal : Removal of existing vertical timber cladding and concrete hung 

tile cladding to parts of first floor external walls and replacement 
with new fire rated fibre cement weatherboarding. 
 
Removal of existing uPVC communal entrance doors and 
windows and replacement with new aluminium entrance doors 
and curtain walling system.  
 
Removal of existing roof tiles and replacement with new flat 
concrete tiles to match existing colour. 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
23.  Application No : 21/01323/FP 

 
 Date Received : 14.12.21 

 
 Location : 564-574 Grace Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5AY 

 
 Proposal : Removal of cladding to parts of first floor external walls, 

replacing doors and windows, installing a curtain walling system 
and replacement of roof tiles 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
24.  Application No : 21/01325/AD 

 
 Date Received : 14.12.21 

 
 Location : MBDA UK Six Hills Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Replacement internally illuminated totem signage and brickwork 

plinth 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



DC36 

 
 
25.  Application No : 21/01328/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 15.12.21 

 
 Location : 98 Minehead Way Stevenage Herts SG1 2JH 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front and rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 04.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
26.  Application No : 21/01333/FP 

 
 Date Received : 15.12.21 

 
 Location : Brickdale House Swingate Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Retention of refuse store on SE corner of building 

 
 Date of Decision : 07.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
27.  Application No : 21/01334/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 15.12.21 

 
 Location : 58 Sheepcroft Hill Stevenage Herts SG2 9PS 

 
 Proposal : Part single storey, part two storey side and rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 21.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
28.  Application No : 21/01338/AD 

 
 Date Received : 17.12.21 

 
 Location : Unit 5 Roaring Meg Retail Park London Road Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Erection of 7no. externally illuminated fascia signs, 1 no. 

internally illuminated fascia sign, 2no. internally illuminated box 
signs, 1no. internally illuminated totem sign, 1no. media screen 
and 24no. trolley bay graphics. 
 

 Date of Decision : 14.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
Page 107



DC36 

 
29.  Application No : 21/01339/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.12.21 

 
 Location : Unit 5 Roaring Meg Retail Park London Road Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Alterations to the south car park, landscaping works and 

external works to building facade including external lighting 
scheme and associated works 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
30.  Application No : 21/01340/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.12.21 

 
 Location : McDonalds Monkswood Retail Park Elder Way Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Installation of a new shop front and access door, single-storey 

side extension and associated works 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
31.  Application No : 21/01341/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.12.21 

 
 Location : 107-119 Bedwell Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 1NA 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing steel balustrades to external communal 

stairs, intermediate landing and access deck with box-section 
balustrades with perforated infill panels. Replacement fencing 
and concrete stairs to be upgraded 
 
 

 Date of Decision : 09.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
32.  Application No : 21/01342/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.12.21 

 
 Location : 36 Dovedale Stevenage Herts SG2 9EP 

 
 Proposal : Change of use of land from public amenity to residential 

 
 Date of Decision : 10.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 

Page 108



DC36 

 
 
 
33.  Application No : 21/01343/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.12.21 

 
 Location : Junction With Lytton Way And Bridge Road Stevenage Herts  

 
 Proposal : Replacement of  1no. 15m monopole with 1no. 20m monopole 

supporting 6no. antennas and associated ancillary works 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
34.  Application No : 21/01344/FP 

 
 Date Received : 18.12.21 

 
 Location : Stevenage Excellence Centre Norton Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from Use Class B2 (Industrial) to create a non 

residential training facility (Class F1) to include installation of a 
new fire exit door, screened external plant and internal 
alterations. 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
35.  Application No : 21/01346/FP 

 
 Date Received : 20.12.21 

 
 Location : 356 Archer Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5QH 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from public amenity land to private residential 

garden use 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
36.  Application No : 21/01355/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 22.12.21 

 
 Location : 10 Pound Avenue Stevenage Herts SG1 3JA 

 
 Proposal : Part single-storey, part two-storey side and rear extensions 

 
 Date of Decision : 03.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 

Page 109



DC36 

 
 
 
37.  Application No : 21/01358/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 23.12.21 

 
 Location : 31 Woodland Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8BU 

 
 Proposal : Two storey rear extension, part two storey, part single storey 

side extension and single storey front extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 03.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
38.  Application No : 21/01359/FP 

 
 Date Received : 23.12.21 

 
 Location : 201 Chertsey Rise Stevenage Herts SG2 9JF 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front and rear extensions to facilitate a change of 

use from a single family dwelling (Use Class C3) to a four 
bedroom House of Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) 
 

 Date of Decision : 02.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
39.  Application No : 21/01360/FP 

 
 Date Received : 23.12.21 

 
 Location : Glaxo SmithKline Research And  Development Ltd Gunnels 

Wood Road Stevenage Herts 
 

 Proposal : Various hard landscape enhancements to include areas of new 
hard surfacing treatment, the provision of street furniture, the 
creation of water features, reprofiling of existing landscaped 
area to include seating areas, the creation of boardwalk with 
platforms and associated works 
 

 Date of Decision : 17.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



DC36 

 
 
40.  Application No : 21/01363/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 23.12.21 

 
 Location : 204 Valley Way Stevenage Herts SG2 9BU 

 
 Proposal : Retention of outbuilding  

 
 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
41.  Application No : 21/01364/FP 

 
 Date Received : 24.12.21 

 
 Location : Shell Filling Station Lonsdale Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Installation of 5 EV bays and associated infrastructure 

 
 Date of Decision : 23.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
42.  Application No : 21/01369/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 30.12.21 

 
 Location : 5 Nursery Cottage Symonds Green Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension following removal of existing 

conservatory 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.01.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
43.  Application No : 21/01370/COND 

 
 Date Received : 31.12.21 

 
 Location : Chells Way Service Station Chells Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 5 (contamination) attached to planning 

permission reference number 21/00704/RM 
 

 Date of Decision : 03.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 

Page 111



DC36 

 
 
 
44.  Application No : 22/00010/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 08.01.22 

 
 Location : 34 Salisbury Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4PE 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for Proposed single storey rear infill 

extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 03.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s);  
The proposed single storey rear extension would extend beyond 
a wall forming a side elevation of the original dwellinghouse and 
would have a width greater than half the width of the original 
dwellinghouse. Therefore, the proposed development would fail 
to accord with Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A (j) (iii) of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 and therefore, requires planning 
permission. 
 

 
 
45.  Application No : 22/00011/FP 

 
 Date Received : 10.01.22 

 
 Location : 63 Plash Drive Stevenage Herts SG1 1LL 

 
 Proposal : Change of use of public amenity land, to private residential land, 

clear existing shrubbery to extend existing hardstanding for the 
purpose of additional vehicle parking. 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
46.  Application No : 22/00014/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 10.01.22 

 
 Location : 10 Lancaster Close Stevenage Herts SG1 4RX 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness Proposed Rear Extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 07.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



DC36 

 
 
 
47.  Application No : 22/00015/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 10.01.22 

 
 Location : 7 Broadwater Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 8EQ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 18.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
48.  Application No : 22/00018/CLEU 

 
 Date Received : 12.01.22 

 
 Location : 60 Austen Paths Stevenage Herts SG2 0NR 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for existing use of 6 bedroom HMO 

 
 Date of Decision : 21.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
49.  Application No : 22/00024/AD 

 
 Date Received : 13.01.22 

 
 Location : Land To Rear Of 8 Stirling Close Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Erection of non-illuminated 1 no. single stack advertisement 

sign 
 

 Date of Decision : 23.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
50.  Application No : 22/00025/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 13.01.22 

 
 Location : 31 Leaves Spring Stevenage Herts SG2 9AT 

 
 Proposal : Single storey extension which will extend beyond the rear wall 

of the original house by 5.30m, for which the maximum height 
will be 3.00m and the height of the eaves will be.3.00m 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
Page 113



DC36 

 
 
51.  Application No : 22/00034/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 17.01.22 

 
 Location : 181 Torquay Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 2RN 

 
 Proposal : Single storey extension which will extend beyond the rear wall 

of the original house by 3.90m, for which the maximum height 
will be 3.27m and the height of the eaves will be 2.15m 
 

 Date of Decision : 10.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
 
52.  Application No : 22/00040/FP 

 
 Date Received : 18.01.22 

 
 Location : 84 High Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3DW 

 
 Proposal : Installation of air conditioning units within the ground floor 

premises, to include an outdoor unit within the external side 
access archway/carriageway 
 

 Date of Decision : 24.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
53.  Application No : 22/00041/LB 

 
 Date Received : 18.01.22 

 
 Location : 84 High Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3DW 

 
 Proposal : Installation of air conditioning units within the ground floor 

premises, to include an outdoor unit within the external side 
access archway/carriageway 
 

 Date of Decision : 24.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Listed Building Consent is GRANTED 
 

 
54.  Application No : 22/00043/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 18.01.22 

 
 Location : 10 Glenwood Close Stevenage Herts SG2 9QT 

 
 Proposal : Single storey side extension and front canopy 

 
 Date of Decision : 01.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

Page 114



DC36 

 
 
55.  Application No : 22/00049/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 19.01.22 

 
 Location : 12 Wellington Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HR 

 
 Proposal : Conversion of garage to habitable accommodation and erection 

of pitched roof over garage 
 

 Date of Decision : 21.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
56.  Application No : 22/00056/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 20.01.22 

 
 Location : 40 Sefton Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5RJ 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to approved planning permission 

reference 21/00947/FPH to change double glazed front doors to 
traditional front door and window. 
 

 Date of Decision : 10.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
57.  Application No : 22/00071/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 27.01.22 

 
 Location : 543 Ripon Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4NS 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 01.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
58.  Application No : 22/00072/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 27.01.22 

 
 Location : 63 Whitney Drive Stevenage Herts SG1 4BH 

 
 Proposal : Proposed first floor side extension. 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 

Page 115



DC36 

 
 
 
59.  Application No : 22/00079/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 01.02.22 

 
 Location : 13 Cromwell Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HT 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for proposed garage conversion and 

single storey rear extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
60.  Application No : 22/00100/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 07.02.22 

 
 Location : 35 Franklins Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3BN 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for proposed outbuilding in rear 

garden. 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
61.  Application No : 22/00105/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 08.02.22 

 
 Location : 264 Chertsey Rise Stevenage Herts SG2 9JF 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for a single storey rear extension and 

removal of chimney 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.02.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



DC36 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 
number relating to this item. 

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted January 2020. 
 

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019. 
 

4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018.  
 

5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 
referred to in this report. 

 
6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

February 2019 and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 

 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118



PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: Tuesday 15 March 2022   

INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS / CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

Author – Linda Sparrow 01438 242837 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

1. APPEALS RECEIVED 

 
1.1 19/000474/FPM, Land West of Lytton Way.  Appeal against refusal of planning 

permission for the demolition of existing office building (Use Class B1) and structures, 
and the construction of seven apartment buildings comprising 576 dwellings (Use 
Class C3) together with internal roads, parking, public open space, landscaping, 
drainage and associated infrastructure works. 

 
1.2 21/00681/AD, McDonalds, Monkswood Retail Park, Elder Way.  Appeal against refusal 

of advertisement consent for 1no. internally illuminated totem sign. 
 
1.3 21/01135/FPH, 20 Trent Close.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for a 

first floor side extension. 
 
1.4 21/01154/FPH, 40 Knights Templars Green.  Appeal against refusal of planning 

permission for the construction of a rear dormer window and raising the ridge height. 
 

2. DECISIONS AWAITED 

2.1 21/00308/FPH, 21 Augustus Gate.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for a 
part two storey, part single storey side and single storey front extensions. 
 

2.2 21/00638/PATELE, Junction of Corton Close and Fishers Green Road.  Appeal against 
refusal of prior approval for 1no. 18 metre Phase 8 Monopole with a wraparound 
cabinet and associated ancillary works 

 
 
3. DECISIONS RECEIVED 
 
3.1 20/00198/FPH, 55A Whitney Drive.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for 

a single storey front garage. 
 
3.1.1 The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted.  The appeal decision is 

attached.  

Page 119

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 120



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 25 November 2021 

by Robert Fallon  B.Sc. (Hons) PGDipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 25 January 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/K1935/D/20/3265621 

55A Whitney Drive, Stevenage, SG1 4BH 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Matthew Squires against the decision of Stevenage Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref 20/00198/FPH dated 11 April 2020, was refused by notice dated 5 

October 2020. 

• The development proposed is described on the application form as “single storey front 

garage”. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for a single storey 

front garage at 55A Whitney Drive, Stevenage, SG1 4BH in accordance with the 
terms of the application, Ref 20/00198/FPH dated 11 April 2020, subject to the 
conditions set out in the attached schedule. 

Procedural matters 

2. Since the appeal was submitted, a revised version of the Framework1 has been 

published. Both main parties have been given the opportunity to comment on 
this, but no responses were received. 

3. The Council has confirmed that its decision was based on amended plans, 

which show a reduction in size of the proposed garage. For the avoidance of 
doubt and in view of the fact that there does not appear to be any dispute 

between the Council and appellant on this matter, I have proceeded to assess 
the scheme on the basis that the plan under consideration is Drawing No 
DP1051/01 (Rev F) dated 02/2020.  

Main issues 

4. The main issues are the effect of the development on: 

• the character and appearance of the area; 
 

• living conditions, with specific regard to whether the garage would result in 

an adverse loss of outlook from the neighbouring property at No 53A 
Whitney Drive.  

 

 
1 National Planning Policy Framework, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, July 2021.  

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/D/20/3265621 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Appeal site context 

5. The appeal site consists of a bungalow on a small plot that fronts onto Whitney 

Drive. It forms part of a low density post-WWII (circa 1960s/1970s) 
development containing detached houses and bungalows with tapered and 
curved building lines, mature trees and well-planted open plan front gardens.  

6. A further defining characteristic of housing on the road is the strong sense of 
architectural cohesion generated by the consistent use of wide-fronted 

dwellings, asymmetrical front elevations with differing forms of single storey, 
2-storey and first-floor front projections, low-pitch gable roofs, large window 
openings and tile hanging & timber cladding at first floor level. Overall, I found 

Whitney Drive to be an attractive and well-designed post-war estate with a 
distinct sense of spaciousness set around mature front gardens and trees. 

Character and appearance 

7. The proposed scheme would be similar in form to the existing front projection 
at the neighbouring property to the east (No 53A) and also partly replicate the 

garage projection to the side elevation of the neighbouring property to the west 
(No 57). As a consequence, the proposed front garage projection would 

reinforce the building line rhythm of this part of the street and not look out of 
place. Furthermore, the scheme would provide a new focal point-front entrance 
and additional visual articulation to the host property’s nondescript front 

elevation, in a way that complements the design of other properties on the 
road which also have front projections and main entrance doors facing the 

road.  

8. In view of the above, I conclude that the proposal would accord with Policy 
GD1 of the Local Plan2 which seeks, amongst other things, to ensure that new 

development makes a positive contribution to its location and surrounds.  

9. I also find that the scheme accords with Section 6.2 of the Council’s Design 

Guide3 and Paragraph 130 Framework, which collectively seek, amongst other 
things: (a) that the shape and projection of a front extension should not be 
over-dominant in views along the street or destroy the harmony or balance 

between existing houses; (b) development that is visually attractive and 
sympathetic to local character; and (c) schemes that maintain a strong sense 

of place. 

Living conditions 

10. In view of the single storey height of the extension, its modest depth and it 

being stepped inside the property boundary, I am satisfied that it would not 
have any harmful impact on the outlook from the front elevation kitchen and 

dining room windows at No 53A. I am also satisfied that there is sufficient 
intervening distance between the development and the existing front projection 

at No 53A to avoid the creation of a ‘tunnel effect’.  

11. In view of the above, I conclude that the proposal would accord with Policy 
GD1 of the Local Plan which seeks, amongst other things, to ensure that new 

 
2 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031, Adopted 22 May 2019, Stevenage Borough Council. 
3 Stevenage Design Guide, Supplementary Planning Document, Adopted 21st October 2009, Stevenage Borough 

Council. 

Page 122

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/D/20/3265621 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

development does not lead to an adverse impact on the amenity of 

neighbouring uses or the surrounding area. 

12. I also find that the development accords with Paragraph 130 of the Framework, 

which states that planning decisions should create places with a high standard 
of amenity for existing users. 

Other matters 

13. The occupier of No 53A has raised concerns that the proposal would result in a 
loss of light to their kitchen and dining room. However, in view of this 

dwelling’s location to the west of the extension and the daily path of the sun4, I 
am satisfied that the development would not result in any significant loss of 
direct sunlight or overshadowing. I do however recognise that there would be a 

loss of diffuse daylight to the front elevation windows of No 53A, but given the 
single storey height of the extension and it being stepped away from the 

dividing boundary line, am of the view that this would be limited and not 
sufficiently harmful to warrant dismissal of the appeal.  

14. The occupier of No 53A has also raised concerns that the extension would block 

their view to the east and make them feel less secure. However, whilst this 
view may be valued by the occupier, I do not consider it in the public interest 

to protect the private views of individual properties. I am also satisfied that this 
property will remain sufficiently visible from the public realm to maintain an 
adequate degree of security.  

15. The issue of impact on property value has also been raised by the occupier of 
No 53A. However, it is a well-founded principle that the planning system does 

not exist to protect private interests such as value of land or property. 

Conditions 

16. A condition has been imposed to ensure the scheme is carried out in 

accordance with the amended plan. I have also attached a condition regarding 
the materials to be used to ensure that the appearance of the development is 

satisfactory. 

Conclusion  

17. In view of the above, having had regard to all other matters raised, I conclude 

that the appeal should be allowed.  

Robert Fallon 

INSPECTOR 

 

Schedule of conditions 

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the 

date of this decision. 

 
4 In the northern hemisphere the sun rises in the east and then takes an arc across the southern sky 
before setting in the west. 

Page 123

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/D/20/3265621 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and details:- Drawing no. DP1051/01 (Rev F). 
 

3) No development shall commence until details / samples of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension hereby 
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details / samples. 

 

End of Schedule 

Page 124

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	2 MINUTES - 16 DECEMBER 2021 (CONCLUDED ON 21 DECEMBER 2021) AND 10 FEBRUARY 2022
	Minutes , 10/02/2022 Planning and Development Committee

	3 20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP - 107A-109A High Street, Stevenage
	20/00790/FP & 20/00791/FP - February

	4 21/01002/FPM - Unit 11 The Forum Centre
	5 INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS
	6 INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS
	Appeal Decision for Whitney Drive


